DOCUMENT RESUME

ED 347 740 EC 301 356

TITLE Oversight Hearing on the Equal Employment Opportunity

Commission's Implementation of the Americans with Disabilities Act (Title I on Employment and Title V Covering Miscellaneous Provisions). Hearing before the Subcommittee on Employment Opportunities of the

Committee on Education and Tabor, House of

Representatives, One Hundr . Second Congress, First

Session (October 30, 1991).

INSTITUTION Congress of the U.S., Washington, D.C. House

Committee on Education and Labor.

REPORT NO ISBN-0-16-037112-0

PUB DATE 91

NOTE 164p.; Serial No. 102-66. Print is small in parts.

AVAILABLE FROM U.S. Government Printing Office, Superintendent of

Documents, Congressional Sales Office, Washington, DC

20402.

PUB TYPE Legal/Legislative/Regulatory Materials (090)

EDRS PRICE MF01/PC07 Plus Postage.

DESCRIPTORS *Civil Rights Legislation; *Disabilities; *Employment

Opportunities; *Equal Opportunities (Jobs); Equal Protection; Federal Legislation; Federal Regulation; *Government Role; Handicap Discrimination; Program

Implementation

IDENTIFIERS *Americans with Disabilities Act 1990

ABSTRACT

This hearing transcript presents testimony, a prepared statement, and supplemental materials provided by Evan J. Kemp, Jr., Chairman of the Equal Employment Opportunities Commission (EEOC), specifically related to implementation of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA). The hearing deals with EEOC enforcement strategies for implementing Title I of the ADA, including the development of clear and concise regulations, policies, and procedures. The hearing specifically addresses: (1) plans for meeting the growing demands by the public and by business entities for information and guidance; (2) plans to handle the potential flood of cases; (3) the concept of reasonable accommodation; (4) training of EEOC employees in disability law; (5) technical assistance to employers and individuals with disabilities; (6) implementation of the Charge Data System and the ADA Tracking System; (7) budget and staffing; and (8) state and local fair employment practices agencies. Supplemental materials include copies of several EEOC publications: "The Americans with Disabilities Act: Questions and Answers," "The Americans with Disabilities Act: Your Employment Rights as an Individual with a Disability," "The Americans with Disabilities Act: Your Responsibilities as an Employer," and regulations published in the Federal Register on equal employment opportunities for individuals with disabilities. (JDD)

Reproductions supplied by EDRS are the best that can be made

* from the original document.

OVERSIGHT HEARING ON THE EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY COMMISSION'S IMPLEMENTATION OF THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT (TITLE I ON EMPLOYMENT AND TITLE V COVERING MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS)

HEARING

BEFORE THE

SUBCOMMITTEE ON EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES

COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION AND LABOR HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

ONE HUNDRED SECOND CONGRESS

FIRST SESSION

HEARING HELD IN WASHINGTON, DC, OCTOBER 30, 1991

Serial No. 102-66

Printed for the use of the Committee on Education and Labor



U. B. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION
Office of Educational Research and Improvement
EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION
CENTER (ERIC)

This document has been reproduced as received from the person or organization originating if

Minor changes have been made to improve reproduction quality

 Figures of view or opinions stated in this document do not necessarily represent official OERI position or policy

U.S. GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE

50-276 : WASHINGTON : 1991

For sale by the U.S. Government Printing Office Superintendent of Documents, Congressional Sales Office, Washington, DC 20402 ISBN 0-16-037112-0

BEST COPY AVAILABLE

758198 JORG

COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION AND LABOR

WILLIAM D. FORD, Michigan, Chairman

JOSEPH M. GAYDOS, Pennsylvania WILLIAM (BILL) CLAY, Missouri GEORGE MILLER, California AUSTIN J. MURPHY, Pennsylvania DALE E. KILDEE, Michigan PAT WILLIAMS, Montana MATTHEW G. MARTINEZ, California MAJOR R. OWENS, New York CHARLES A. HAYES, Illinois CARL C. PERKINS, Kentucky THOMAS C. SAWYER, Ohio DONALD M. PAYNE, New Jersey NITA M. LOWEY, New York JOLENE UNSOELD, Washington CRAIG A. WASHINGTON, Texas JOSÉ E. SERRANO, New York PATSY T. MINK, Hawaii ROBERT E. ANDREWS, New Jersey WILLIAM J. JEFFERSON, Louisiana JOHN F. REED, Rhode Island TIM ROEMER, Indiana JOHN W. OLVER, Massachusetta ED PASTOR, Arizona RON DE LUGO, Virgin Islands JAIME B. FUSTER, Puerto Rico

WILLIAM F. GCODLING, Pennsylvania
E. THOMAS COLEMAN, Missouri
THOMAS E. PETRI, Wisconsin
MARGE ROUKEMA, New Jersey
STEVE GUNDERSON, Wisconsin
RICHARD K. ARMEY, Texas
HARRIS W. FAWELL, Illinois
PAUL B. HENRY, Michigan
CASS BALLENGER, North Carolina
SUSAN MOLINARI, New York
BILL BARRETT, Nebraska
JOHN A. BOEHNER, Ohio
SCOTT L. KLUG, Wisconsin
MICKEY EDWARDS, Oklahoma
RANDY "DUKE" CUNNINGHAM, California

PATRICIA F. RISSLER, Staff Director JAY EAGEN, Minority Staff Director

SUBCOMMITTEE ON EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES

CARL C. PERKINS, Kentucky. Chairman

ROBERT E. ANDREWS, New Jersey JOHN W. OLVER, Massachusetts WILLIAM D. FORD, Michigan (Ex Officio) STEVE GUNDERSON, Wisconsin SUSAN MOLINARI, New York PAUL B. HENRY, Michigan

(11)



CONTENTS

	Page
Hearing held in Washington, DC, October 30, 1991	1
Statement of: Kemp, Hon. Evan J., Jr., Chairman, U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, accompanied by Elizabeth Thornton, Deputy Legal Counsel, and Kassie Billingsley, Director, Financial and Resource Manage-	3
ment Services, EEOC. Prepared statements, letters, supplemental materials, et cetera: Kemp, Hon. Evan J., Jr., Chairman, U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, prepared statement of	12

(111)



OVERSIGHT HEARING ON THE EQUAL EMPLOY-MENT OPPORTUNITY COMMISSION'S IMPLE-MENTATION OF THE AMERICANS WITH DIS-(TITLE I ON EMPLOYMENT ABILITIES ACT **MISCELLANEOUS** COVERING AND TITLE V PROVISIONS)

WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 30, 1991

House of Representatives. SUBCOMMITTEE ON EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES, COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION AND LABOR, Washington, DC.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to call, at 10:05 a.m., Room 2261, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Carl C. Perkins [Chairman presiding.

Members present: Representatives Perkins, Andrews, Olver, and

Gunderson.

Staff present: Omer Waddles, counsel/staff director; Geri Grigsby, legislative analyst; Deborah Katz, office manager; and Randel Johnson, minority labor counsel.

Chairman Perkins. I'd like to call this meeting of the subcom-

mittee to order, please.

At this juncture, we would like to welcome Chairman Kemp of the EEOC. It's a privilege to have you with us today, sir, and we're very honored to have you here and present your testimony and give us the opportunity to ask some questions concerning some things and matters that we would like to get a little information

I'd, first of all, just like to read a statement that kind of sets the

tone, we hope, for the hearing today.

On July 26, 1990, the Americans with Disabilities Act became

the law of the land.

Hailed as a major victory of Americans with disabilities, and for our Nation as a whole, the ADA found overwhelming bipartisan support from both the House and Senate, and from the President.

In the act, the government clearly stated that our goals regarding individuals with disabilities are "to assure equality of opportunity, full participation, independent living, and economic self-sufficiency for such individuals.

Let me stress from the onset that we are not—not—here today to reexamine the nature or the merits of the act itself, nor are we

here to amend or lessen the protections of this legislation.



(1)

The ADA is the law, we are behind it 100 percent, and we intend for it to work.

Since this subcommittee's primary objective regarding the ADA is its proper enforcement, we have as our only witness today Hon. Evan J. Kemp, Jr., Chairman of the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission.

Chairman Kemp, first of all, it is always good to have you with us and we're going to be asking you some further questions as we go along.

But the employment provisions of the act, comprising

Title I, will become effective July 26, 1992, less than 9 months away, and the EEOC, which has been given the job of enforcing these provisions, is confronted with a great challenge that the Con-

gress and the President demand be fulfilled.

Specifically, the ADA directs the EEOC to issue regulations to carry out Title I, develop and implement a technical assistance plan, provide such technical assistance to all entities covered under the act, develop and provide manuals, and to investigate charges of discrimination and take necessary actions to ensure full remedies for violations of the law.

As members of this subcommittee, with oversight duties regarding your Commission, we are here to listen and to help you meet

this challenge.

It is our responsibility to ensure the adequacy of your actions, and in doing so, we want to know in detail what measures your agency has taken to comply with the mandates of the ADA. In particular, we want to know your plan to meet the growing demands for information and guidance by the public and business entities as more become aware of the law, as well as your plan to handle the potential flood of cases once the law takes effect.

As an authorizing committee, it's imperative that you provide to us a clear, accurate picture of your budget needs in this area. Other issues relating to your Commission to be addressed by Congress, such as sexual harassment in the workplace, and possible reform in the complaint process for Federal employees, should be

kept in mind as we discuss EEOC's overall needs.

I understand you have a proposal for a revolving trust fund to provide technical assistance to the business and government com-

munities and to charge recipients for these services.

The subcommittee looks forward to your elaborating on this proposal, particularly in terms of how this could help in the distribution of information to these entities, as well as the impact in setting up such an institute will have on the EEOC's overall efficiency.

Let me make clear that this subcommittee is watching your actions and requests with great interest. There are many potential problem areas but it is felt that it can all be dealt with if adequate information and guidance are provided to the community. This effort will take additional staff and funding for communications.

Because of the President's support for this law, we in the Congress expect to see it manifested in serious and adequate budget requests that intend a successful implementation and oversight of regulations and standards. Anything less is simply not acceptable.



Our business and manufacturing community deserves more help in preparing for this law, and we expect to see the President's commitment to the ADA come shining through in the budget proposals from the EEOC.

Mr. Gunderson, do you have any opening statements?

Mr. Gunderson. Mr. Chairman, thank you. Rather than an opening statement, let me just make opening comments, because I do not have a prepared statement, but I want to join you in welcoming Chairman Kemp here to the Employment Opportunities Subcommittee.

This is your home. It's our home, as we try to deal with the whole issue of equal opportunities in the employment sector for all Americans—that's what ADA was about. The mission now is to review the proposed regulations and to deal with the number of concerns. You are probably more aware of those concerns than any of us because of your in-depth interaction on this particular issue.

But we really want to indicate to you that as we go through your statement and as we get into questions and answers, I do hope that you will deal in particular with the issues of reasonable accommodation, and with the direct threat to a couple of the issues that have been raised by the community. As we deal with the whole issue of employment opportunities, I hope we also deal with the issues of training of employees to give them full opportunity. And in that area in particular there are some additional issues that we want to talk about.

As I look at you, I notice not only your tie—that I assume was picked out from my district—but your Gallaudet pin, which, of course, gets to a particular area that I would like to focus on in the questioning and that is the area of these regulations as they affect the hearing impaired.

With that, Mr. Chairman, I look forward to Chairman Kemp's

statement.

Chairman Perkins. Thank you, Mr. Gunderson.

We're looking forward to hearing from you, Mr. Chairman, so without delay I'll let you proceed and give us your pearls of wisdom.

STATEMENT OF HON. EVAN J. KEMP, JR., CHAIRMAN, U.S. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY COMMISSION, ACCOMPANIED BY ELIZABETH THORNTON, DEPUTY LEGAL COUNSEL, AND KASSIE BILLINGSLEY, DIRECTOR, FINANCIAL AND RESOURCE MANAGEMENT SERVICES, EEOC

Mr. KEMP. Good morning, Chairman Perkins and Mr. Gunderson.

Thank you for inviting me here today to discuss EEOC's implementation of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.

As the Nation's leading civil rights law enforcement agency, EEOC enforces laws prohibiting employment discrimination based on race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age, and disability for Federal employees or applicants under Section 501 of the Rehabilitation Act.

Beginning on July 26, 1992, the EEOC will enforce Title I of the ADA. Title I of the ADA prohibits private employers, State and



local governments, employment agencies and labor unions from discriminating against qualified individuals with disabilities in job application procedures, hiring, firing, advancement, compensation, job training, and other terms, conditions and privileges of employment.

A qualified employee or applicant with a disability is an individual who, with or without reasonable accommodation, can perform

the essential functions of the job in question.

An employer is required to make an accommodation to the known disability of a qualified applicant or employee if it would not impose an undue hardship on the operation of the employer's business.

I have explained in greater detail in my written testimony many of the ADA's definitions.

Today I will concentrate on the Commission's enforcement strategy for implementing the ADA's Title I provisions. A major element of our strategy calls for the development of clear and concise

regulations, policies and procedures.

Beginning with the issuance of an Advance Notice of Proposed Rulemaking in the Federal Register, the Commission sought the input of all groups affected by the Title I provisions. The Commission received 138 comments from various disability rights organizations, employer groups and individuals in response to the ANPRM.

Comments were also solicited at 62 ADA input meetings conducted by Commission field offices throughout the country. More than 2,400 representatives from disability rights organizations and em-

ployer groups participated in these meetings.

Proposed regulations and an interpretive appendix were published in February 1991, and final regulations were issued by July

26, 1991, as mandated by Congress.

The Commission received 697 timely comments from interested groups and individuals in response to the Notice of Proposed Rulemaking. As a result of these comments, we revised the final regulations to clarify and modify several definitions, as well as the interpretive guidance in the Appendix.

Since publication, the Commission has distributed over 15,000 copies of the final regulations which are available also in braille

and large print, on audio tape and computer disk.

EEOC also changed its existing regulations for recordkeeping and reporting to reflect employers' ADA recordkeeping responsibilities.

By January 26, 1992, the Commission will publish in the Federal Register coordination regulations between the EEOC and the Department of Labor to set forth procedures governing the processing of complaints that fall within the overlapping jurisdiction of Title I of the ADA and Section 503 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973.

The regulation has been signed by me and the Secretary of Labor and was published this past Monday, October 28, in the Federal

Register for a 30-day public comment period.

Similar coordination regulations between the Commission and the Department of Justice will address potential enforcement conflicts between the ADA and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act. We expect to publish a proposed regulation in advance of the statutory deadline.



I would like to tell you what the EEOC has been doing to pre-

pare its employees for ADA enforcement.

Since 1979, EEOC has had overall responsibility for the Federal sector equal opportunity complaint processing system. However, only EEOC administrative judges—who hold hearings on Federal complaints of discrimination—and the staff of our Office of Federal Operations—who decide Federal complaints at the appellate level—have had experience in resolving complaints filed on the basis of physical, emotional or mental disability.

Because EEOC's experience and expertise on disabilities is limited to a portion of our total work force, effective training of our em-

ployees is essential.

The ADA is a complex statute which will require a different approach to investigations than that used under the other laws EEOC enforces.

EEOC's available funds for training in recent years have been minimal. For instance, EEOC had only \$16.82 per employee to spend on training in fiscal year 1990. In fact, EEOC has not been able to have a comprehensive training program since 1987.

In fiscal year 1991, we were able to spend \$1.2 million to provide some initial training to EEOC's staff. We still have a great need for

more training.

To prepare our investigative and litigation units for the anticipated 20 percent increase in charges when the ADA becomes effective, the Commission has embarked upon an ambitious program of staff training.

EEOC plans intensive training in ADA investigations for field enforcement and litigation staff. We are currently developing a

training curriculum.

Early in 1990, EEOC began collecting disability training and technical assistance materials from Federal, State and private sources. We developed a computerized information library of these resources.

In addition, the EEOC solicited the help of State agencies to learn what their experience has been in enforcing State employ-

ment discrimination statutes similar to the ADA.

We also established points of contact in our district offices for the purpose of having employees in each office with expertise in ADA.

We also established an ADA Service Unit within the Office of Legal Counsel with a Policy Division and a Technical Assistance Division. The Unit provides policy guidance and technical assistance advice to EEOC employees and to the public.

Congress mandated that the ADA enforcement agencies provide technical assistance to employers and individuals with disabilities so that all concerned may learn of their rights and responsibilities

under the new law.

The Commission expects that its technical assistance efforts will result in greater compliance with the ADA's employment requirements with a corresponding reduction in the need to resort to enforcement activity.

In December 1990, the Commission's draft Technical Assistance Plan was published in the Federal Register. An interagency ADA



Technical Assistance Coordinating Group was established and

chaired by EEOC.

Through its fiscal year 1991 budget and a supplemental appropriation, EEOC has received \$4.6 million in appropriations for technical assistance activities. The funds will be used in a variety of technical assistance activities with emphasis on training for employers and for individuals with disabilities.

The Commission also will utilize a wide range of media and video formats to provide employers with training and information on

their responsibilities.

The EEOC held informal consultations with national organizations representing employers and people with disabilities to get suggestions for a technical assistance program and a Technical Assistance Manual. We conducted these to learn what employers wanted to know about the ADA and in what format they wanted to receive the information.

The Commission's technical assistance program includes the development of information materials and training for employers, in-

dividuals with disabilities and the public.

The program is designed to provide information for compliance with the law to all those covered by Title I legal requirements. However, in allocating limited resources, priority will be given to providing technical assistance to target our audiences. For example, smaller employers generally have not had previous experience in meeting the non-discrimination requirements of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973.

Activities to inform people with disabilities about their ADA rights and how to exercise them will also receive priority. Because it will be difficult to reach millions of persons with different disabilities, the Commission intends to utilize networks of organizations such as Independent Living Centers, State Vocational Rehabilitation agencies, and many other public and private agencies that work with, or are run by people with disabilities, to provide information and assistance on the law.

In addition to its own technical assistance activities, EEOC will continue to encourage and assist technical assistance efforts conducted by other Federal agencies and by organizations representing employers and individuals with disabilities. In fact, I will be attending tonight a meeting of grantees, selected by the National Institute on Disability and Rehabilitation Research, the Department of Justice, and the Rehabilitation Services Administration, to provide training and technical assistance nationwide to employers, individuals with disabilities, and rehabilitation professionals on the ADA

EEOC staff will participate in this two-day coordinating effort.

EEOC will reach virtually all employers covered by ADA through a joint mailing effort with the Internal Revenue Service. In February 1992, a notice will be inserted in the IRS quarterly mailing to employers, giving the effective dates of the ADA and advising them of where they can get further information.

The Commission will announce soon a joint Department of Justice/EEOC nationwide training program to provide extensive training to individuals with disabilities in the requirements of Titles I,



II and III, and techniques in providing technical assistance and al-

ternative dispute resolution.

In addition, the Commission plans to let a contract to train employers on the obligations under the ADA. We are currently preparing a Request for Proposals and anticipate beginning training

in February of 1992.

The ADA mandates that a technical assistance manual be published by January 26, 1992, 6 months prior to the effective date of Title I. The EEOC Technical Assistance Manual will be completed by that date. The manual will be a major resource for employers and persons with disabilities. It will explain the legal requirements of the statute and its rules and regulations, and will include guidance on reasonable accommodation.

The manual also will include a directory of technical assistance resources for reasonable accommodation, accessibility, and other

aspects of compliance.

Consistent with our mandate to provide technical assistance to employers and individuals, we are proposing to establish a Technical Assistance Revolving Fund. This fund is a reflection of our pursuit to establish creative and deficit-neutral means whereby EEOC can provide maximum technical assistance.

Similar to other governmental revolving funds, the Technical Assistance Revolving Fund will be supported primarily from collections and payments received from recipients of technical assistance

training.

Initial start-up funding will be provided by a one-time transfer of up to \$1 million from EEOC's Salaries and Expense Account and

the ADA Technical Assistance Account.

Historically, and currently, EEOC has faced years of constrained funding and changing priorities. These forces have curtailed the development of solid technical assistance and training programs. We are truly excited about the potential establishment of the Revolving Fund.

Given the demand for technical assistance already evident, we

believe the fund will become solvent within 2 years.

We have received considerable support for the establishment of this fund from both the House and the Senate. In fact, our appropriations Conference Report language reiterates support for this fund.

We greatly appreciate your assistance in amending the appropri-

ate authorizing vehicle for this fund.

Another component of the Commission's technical assistance program is its outreach efforts. EEOC sees public outreach and public awareness as crucial to the successful implementation of the ADA. In addition to responding to requests for more than 15,000 copies of the final rule since last July, EEOC has written booklets for individuals with disabilities and employers. 5,000 copies of each were distributed in just 1 month. These booklets are available in Spanish and the alternate formats of braille, large print, audio tape, and computer disk.

EFOC has also, in conjunction with the Department of Justice, published "Questions and Answers on the ADA," which focuses on

Titles I and III.



Mr. Chairman, with the subcommittee's permission, I ask that these publications be made part of today's hearing record.

[The publications are included at the end of the hearing.]

Mr. Kemp. EEOC maintains a speakers bureau which provides trained speakers to explain the ADA. EEOC currently has 33 speakers available. The bureau has scheduled more than 400 presentations from July of 1990 to October 1991 to a wide variety of organizations.

We have prepared an ADA Handbook, which includes annotated versions of the regulations and interpretive language for the employment and public accommodation titles of the ADA. An advance copy has been made available to each member of the subcommittee

this morning.

[The material is maintained in subcommittee files.]

Beginning November 8, the Commission will establish an ADA Helpline as part of our *oll-free 800 information service. It will expand our public information and technical assistance activities.

EEOC will continue to provide technical assistance after ADA becomes effective. The Commission will work closely with disability groups, employer organizations, and other Federal agencies, utilizing their resources and information networks to supplement its own technical assistance activities.

Later this fall, a technical assistance program will be established and managed in each of the Commission's 23 district offices. The staff in these positions will provide technical assistance, internal

and external training, and general outreach activities.

In addition, a request for proposal will be issued shortly to conduct a pilot program on Alternative Dispute Resolution in five of EEOC's district offices. This effort is an attempt to further voluntary compliance and to reduce the impact of inadequate enforcement resources.

The charge data system allows each office to enter the history of every charge filed with the EEOC. The information contained in each office's system is transmitted to headquarters to the agency's

National Data Base.

This system allows management to monitor the Nationwide processing of all charges and to provide instructions to better administer the agency's workload. The system has proved to be an effective management tool and will play an integral part in monitoring ADA charges.

The improvements in our computer systems have also provided EEOC with the tools to develop a comprehensive case management system. A series of programs have been developed allowing every supervisor and field director to monitor the movement of charges

by units and offices.

Another technological initiative taken by the Commission was to automate our ADA implementation efforts. Prior to the signing of ADA, EEOC developed an ADA Tracking System to follow the progress and completion of ADA work plan activities and projects.

EEOC currently receives about 60,000 charges a year under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Equal Pay Act, and the Age Discrimination in Employment Act. State and local agencies receive about another 55,000 charges under similar statutes. EEOC's



current average processing time is about 250 days, down from 295

days just 2 years ago.

In fiscal year 1991, EEOC's investigators completed an average of 88.5 cases per investigator. Despite this high case completion rate, EEOC's investigators already had an average of 59 cases each to investigate when EEOC opened its doors on the first day of fiscal year 1992 on October 1.

Once the ADA takes effect, we expect that there will be a 20 percent increase in our workload or about 12,000 additional charges a year. To avoid the serious backlog problems which EEOC experienced in the late 1970s, it is essential that the Commission receive

adequate funding for ADA enforcement.

Our field offices investigate and resolve about 62,000 charges of discrimination annually. When, through these investigations, we determine that discrimination has occurred, we attempt to obtain appropriate remedial relief through informal discussion called conciliation. If conciliation efforts fail, the Commission, at headquarters, will consider litigation against the employer.

However, when the employer is a State or local governmental entity, the Commission will recommend that the Justice Depart-

ment consider litigation.

Most long-term litigation will be conducted by field office legal division staff. In addition, they will be required to provide day-today guidance. During the short-term, the Commission will need to identify experts for use in future, complex litigation of cases brought under the ADA.

Experience gained in litigating the Age Discrimination in Employment Act-BFOQ cases in the mid-1980s will be invaluable to the Commission in conducting ADA litigation. These cases also involved complex, technical issues and required reliance on expert

witnesses.

Many of these suits were resolved only after a full trial on the merits or after extensive discovery and deposition testimony. As

such, they were expensive and difficult to litigate.

Specific review of the \$2.8 million fiscal year 1990 litigation support budget indicated that the Office of General Counsel had \$1,400 to support each routine case, because 40 major cases required an average of \$43,500 each. The differences among cases is even more apparent in the fact that five large cases required an average of \$132,500. That's quite a high figure.

To fully understand EEOC's enforcement efforts, it is necessary to understand the effect that budget cuts have had over the past 6

In fiscal year 1985, the EEOC was able to spend \$3.2 million, or \$7,800 per case filed in court. Despite the soaring cost of litigation, by 1990, we could only spend \$2.8 million, or a mere \$4,375 per case.

Assuming we file the same number of cases as fiscal year 1990, we estimate that we would have approximately \$5,000 per case in

fiscal year 1993. This is clearly the barest minimum.

Similarly, our travel budget for investigating complaints has been decimated in the last 6 years. In fiscal year 1985, EEOC allocated \$2.9 million, or \$40 per charge, to travel for investigations.



By fiscal year 1990, the amount had shrunk to \$1.8 million, or \$30 per case.

In the vital area of staff training, the EEOC has had similar reductions. In fiscal year 1985, we allocated \$353,000, or \$114 per staff, to training. In fiscal year 1990, that amount had totalled only \$48,000, or \$17 per person.

As I noted earlier, to catch up for years of virtually no staff training, the fiscal year 1991 enacted budget provided us with \$1.2

million, but even this amount allows only \$421 per person.

The EEOC's ability to resolve charges has been hampered by staffing decreases in recent years. The agency's 1988 full time equivalent (FTE) staff level of 3,168 dropped to 2,796 FTE by fiscal year 1991. Thus, EEOC has had more than a 10 percent decline in staff resources in 4 years, despite the fact that our workload has remained relatively constant.

The agency's field investigative staff dropped sharply from 949 in fiscal year 1988 to 779 in fiscal year 1991. For 5 of the last 7 years, the agency's budget has been cut below the President's funding re-

quest for the Commission.

For fiscal year 1992, EEOC received \$210 million and an authorized staff level of 2,885. For ADA implementation, however, only \$4 million, and 32 additional staff are included in the fiscal year 1992 budget. These 32 additional employees will be field investigators at the GS-7, 9 and 11 level.

In addition to the new positions made available through our fiscal year 1992 appropriations, I have committed the agency to the transfer of positions from the agency's Headquarters to our 50 field offices throughout the Nation. These additional staff in the field will help offset the increase in charges we will receive under the new act next year.

EEOC will also create technical assistance positions in each of the 23 district offices. The technical assistance program will enhance EEOC's service to the public with regard to not just the ADA but also provide technical assistance for all the statutes that EEOC enforces.

EEOC's successes in reducing its inventory have been achieved through an increase in the agency's overall efficiency and productivity.

EEOC's outstanding level of productivity, however, is not sufficient to continue this trend. Staffing resources must remain at a certain level.

With the anticipated 20 percent increase in EEOC's fiscal year 1993 workload as a result of the ADA, any further reduction in our funding would have a chilling effect on our enforcement activities.

As the subcommittee is aware, agencies are instructed to prepare their fiscal year 1993 budget request at the fiscal year 1992 funding level, with a 5 percent cut to that level. The impact of such a funding level would be devastating. For example, at this funding level, our pending charge inventory would dramatically escalate from a fiscal year 1991 level of 45,000 to a level of over 67,000 in fiscal year 1993. Our average charge processing time would dramatically increase from 266 days, or 8 months, in fiscal year 1991, to approximately 600 days, or 20 months in fiscal year 1993.



Historically, civil rights legislation has received reasonable funding. For example, in fiscal year 1989, funding for the Office of Civil Rights, Department of Housing and Urban Development was increased 28 percent. And OCR HUD received an additional 130 staff to implement the Fair Housing Assistance program.

Similarly, after 04 regulations of the Rehabilitation Act were implemented, the Office of Civil Rights, Department of Health, Education, and Welfare received a fiscal year 1978 supplemental of

\$6.4 million and over 70 additional staff.

In fact, during the first several years of implementation, OCR-HEW received over \$31 million for its technical assistance contracted activities alone.

Without an appropriate number of investigators, EEOC cannot sustain our current control of inventory and our practice of resolv-

ing all charging party allegations in a timely manner.

A discussion of EEOC's ADA enforcement is not complete without addressing EEOC's relationship with the State and local fair employment practice agencies. Currently, under Title VII, and the ADEA, State and local agencies have an active role to play in processing discrimination charges.

This application of the concept of federalism permits State and local governments to continue their efforts to eradicate discrimina-

tion in the workplace.

Work-sharing agreements with FEPAs, however, are considered essential to handle the enormous volume of charges within the limited budgetary resources of the EEOC.

EEOC enters into annual work-sharing agreements and contracts to maximize the efficiency of the State and Federal efforts and to

avoid wasteful delay and duplication of efforts.

Congress carmarked \$25 million in fiscal year 1991 and fiscal

year 1992 specifically for this effort.

Currently, EEOC pays a FEPA \$450 for each contract charge completed. EEOC contracts for only a portion of FEPA's total workload based on a formula to evenly distribute the funds among the States.

When a charge is received first by a FEPA with which EEOC has a work-sharing agreement, the FEPA files and processes the charge

under its anti-discrimination law.

Within this legal framework, the EEOC's ability to control the processing of charges by FEPAs is limited. Created by and answerable only to State or local governments, the FEPAs are independent of the EEOC's direct supervision over their budgeting or staff-

I have established a State and local division in the proposed Charge Resolution and Review Program that will allow more centralized EEOC influence over the FEPA operation and allow addi-

tional review of the quality of FEPA's charge resolutions.

Speaking generally, FEPAs have had experience enforcing laws prohibiting discrimination on the basis of disability. Forty-six States and the District of Columbia have laws similar to the ADA. Many of the States have been enforcing these laws for 10 to 15 years. Because most States currently have disability laws, the impact of the ADA on FEPA workloads should be minimal when



compared to the dramatic increase EEOC anticipates in its work-load

We are currently in the process of determining the methods and means through which the deferral relationship will be developed. The financial and personnel resource implications of such an undertaking need to be examined.

In fiscal year 1992, we will conduct an in-depth study of State laws addressing disability discrimination and FEPA practices in re-

solving charges under these State laws.

The FEPAs will also assist in conducting six seminars for employers on current employment discrimination topics under a contract with the International Association of Official Human Rights Agencies.

Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommittee, I hope my discussion of the EEOC's strategy for implementing the ADA has been helpful to you in understanding the important challenges that we

face at the Commission.

EEOC is proud of its efforts toward being fully prepared to vigorously enforce this law when it takes effect next July 26 and to ensuring that individuals with disabilities and employers are aware of their new rights and responsibilities.

I'll be happy to answer any questions you might have.
[The prepared statement of Hon. Evan J. Kemp, Jr. follows:]

STATEMENT OF EVAN J. KEMP, JR., CHAIRMAN, U.S. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY COMMISSION

Good morning, Chairman Perkins and members of the subcommittee. Thank you for inviting me here today to discuss EEOC's implementation of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA).

As the Nation's lead civil rights law enforcement agency, EEOC enforces laws prohibiting employment discrimination based on race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age, and disability for Federal employees or applicants under Section 501 of

the Rehabilitation Act of 1973.

Beginning July 26, 1992, the EEOC will enforce Title I of the ADA. Title I of the ADA prohibits private employers, State and local governments, employment agencies and labor unions from discriminating against qualified individuals with disabilities in job application procedures, hiring, firing, advancement, compensation, job training, and other terms, conditions and privileges of employment.

The ADA defines an individual with a disability as a person who: Has a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more major life activities; has a record of such an impairment; or is regarded as having such an impairment.

A qualified employee or applicant with a disability is an individual who, with or without reasonable accommodation, can perform the essential functions of the job in question. Reasonable accommodation may include, but is not limited to: Making existing facilities used by employees readily accessible to and usable by persons with disabilities; job restructuring, modifying work schedules and/or reassignment to a vacant position; or acquiring or modifying equipment or devices, adjusting or modifying examinations, training materials, or policies, and providing qualified readers or interpreters.

An employer is required to make an accommodation to the known disability of an otherwise qualified applicant or employee if it would not impose an "undue hardship" on the operation of the employer's business. Undue hardship is defined as an action requiring significant difficulty or expense when considered in light of factors such as an employer's size, financial resources and the nature and structure of its operation.

Today, I will concentrate on the Commission's enforcement strategy for implementing the ADA's Title I provisions. A major element of our strategy calls for the

development of clear and concise regulations, policies and procedures.



Regulations

Beginning with the ssuance of an Advance Notice of Proposed Rulemaking (ANPRM) in the Federal Register on August 1, 1990 (6 days after President Bush signed the ADA), the Commission sought the input of all groups affected by the Title I provisions. The commission received 138 comments from various disability rights organizations, employer groups and individuals in response to the ANPRM. Comments were also solicited at 62 ADA input meetings conducted by Commission field offices throughout the country. More than 2,400 representatives from disability rights organizations and employer groups participated in these meetings

Proposed regulations and an interpretive appendix were published in February 1991, and final regulations were issued on July 26, 1991, as mandated by Congress. Public comment on the proposed regulations was extensive. The Commission received 697 timely comments from interested groups and individuals in response to the Notice of Proposed Rulemaking (NPRM). As a result of these comments, we revised the final regulations to clarify and modify several definitions, as well as the

interpretive guidance in the Appendix.

Prior to both the NPRM and issuance of the final regulations, EEOC held briefings for Congressional staff, representatives of disability rights and employer organizations and the media. Since publication, the commission has distributed over 15,000 copies of the final regulations which are available also in braille and large print, and on audio tape and computer diskette.

In addition, EEOC's existing regulations for record keeping and reporting under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 were modified and amended to reflect em-

ployers' record keeping responsibilities under the ADA.

To remedy the fact that no accurate or precise data exist on the employment status of Americans with disabilities, the commission is developing a data collection process on a pilot survey basis. The questionnaire will be a "scannable" self-identification form. The findings of this pilot survey will serve as the basis for future policy evaluations and assessment decisions about data collection under the ADA and will be used to design a complete census of EEO-1 employers, i.e., employers with 100 or more employees, if that is deemed necessary.

By January 26, 1992, the Commission will publish in the Federal Register final

coordination regulations between EEOC and the Department of Labor to set forth procedures governing the processing of complaints that fall within the overlapping jurisdiction of Title I of the ADA and Section 503 of the Rehabilitation Act. The Notice of Proposed Rulemaking was published in the Federal Register this past

Monday, October 28 for a 30-day public comment period.

Similar coordination regulations between the Commission and the Department of Justice will address potential enforcement conflicts between the ADA and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act. EEOC has engaged in intensive negotiations with the Department of Justice and is working out the details of a coordination regulation. We fully expect to publish a proposed regulation sufficiently in advance of the statutory deadline.

The purpose of the coordination regulations is to ensure that overlapping complaints are dealt with in a manner that avoids duplication of effort and prevents the

imposition of inconsistent or conflicting standards.
We also established an ADA Services unit within the Office of Legal Counsel. with a Policy Division and a Technical Assistance Division. The unit provides policy

guidance and technical assistance to EEOC's employees and to the public

Consistent with this mission, the commission is developing several new sections of its compliance manual that will focus on key issues under the ADA such as, the definition of a "disability," the definition of a "qualified individual with a disability," reasonable accommodation and undue hardship, and theories of discrimination. The Commission is also developing a policy guidance on preemployment inquiries. These compliance manual sections, while aimed at instructing our investigators and lawyers in our field offices, will also be available to the public. The manual also guides our offices regarding charge processing procedures and is being modified to include the ADA. Compliance manuals are available in our field offices, Headquarters library and through commercial publishers.

Training

The Commission was actively involved during Congressional consideration of the Americans with Disabilities Act in providing technical assistance to both the White House and committees of the House and Senate based on our experience with Section 501 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. However, on a Commission-wide level, the experience of our total work force with disability law is somewhat limited.



Since 1979, EEOC has had overall responsibility for the Federal sector equal employment opportunity complaint processing system. However, only EEOC administrative judges (who hold hearings on Federal complaints of discrimination) and staff in our Office of Federal Operations (OFO) (who decide Federal complaints at the appellate level) have had any experience in resolving complaints filed on the basis of physical or mental disability. These complaints are filed under the Rehabilitation Act and Federal regulations under that act.

In our role as an administrative appellate body, the commission reviews appeal: in Federal sector EEO cases from Final Agency Decisions. In the past 11 years, the Commission has accordingly reviewed and decided thousands of cases in which discrimination on the basis of disability has been alleged. In fiscal year 1990 alone, appeals filed under the Rehabilitation Act constituted approximately 15 percent of

OFO's intake.

EEOC also has responsibility for implementing Section 501 provisions that require Federal agencies to take affirmative action in the employment and advancement of individuals with disabilities and that prohibit discrimination on the basis of disability. Pursuant to Section 501, the commission reviews the affirmative action employ-

ment plans of Federal agencies

Finally, under Executive Order 12067, the Commission also is responsible for ensuring consistency of legal standards and avoiding duplication of efforts in the enforcement of all Federal equal employment opportunity laws. Under its Executive Order responsibilities, the Commission has reviewed the employment nondiscrimination provisions of proposed and final regulations to implement section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act in federally assisted and conducted programs.

Because EEOC's experience and expertise in disability discrimination law is limited to a small portion of our total work force, effective training of our employees is essential to the enforcement of the new law. The ADA is a complex statute which will require a different approach to investigations than under the other laws EEOC enforces and will require intensive training of investigators before charges begin to

enter the administrative process in July 1992.

EEOC's available funds for training in recent years have been minimal. For instance, FEOC had only \$16.82 per employee to spend on training in fiscal year 1990. In fact, EEOC has not been able to have a comprehensive training program since 1987. However, in fiscal year 1991, we were able to spend \$1.2 million to provide some initial training to EEOC staff. As part of this effort, Headquarters management staff also developed training videos to provide ongoing on-the-job training to

Early in 1990 EEOC began collecting disability training and technical assistance materials from Federal, State and private sources, and we developed a computerized information library of these resources. In addition, EEOC surveyed Fair Employment Practices Agencies (FEPAs) to learn what their experiences have been in enforcing State employment discrimination statutes similar to the ADA and, through their experience, to develop estimates for the impact on EEOC enforcement. EEOC then distributed policy guidance to EEOC field offices, summaries of other State and Federal laws prohibiting disability-based discrimination, and contacts for making referrals to appropriate age::cies. EEOC also designated a contact person in each of our district offices to coordinate all ADA-related internal training and outreach.

To prepare our investigative and litigation units for the anticipated 20 percent increase in charges when the ADA becomes effective for employers with 25 or more employees next July, the Commission has embarked upon a comprehensive program of staff training. This training represents the largest single training effort ever un-dertaken by the Commission as the result of the passage of new legislation.

EEOC conducted introductory ADA training for field and headquarters managers and supervisors. In addition, a training workgroup was established to plan and implement an ADA training program for EEOC investigators and legal staff.

Training on ADA regulations for all staff will begin in mid November. EEOC plans intensive training in ADA investigations for field enforcement and litigation staff. We are currently developing a training curriculum. Presentation materials will be finalized in January and February; the presenters will be trained in March; and the 1-week training sessions will begin in April of 1992. Upon implementation of the ADA, all staff will have completed training.

Technical Assistance

Congress mandated that the ADA enforcement agencies provide technical assistance to employers and individuals with disabilities so that all concerned may learn of their rights and responsibilities under the new law. The Commission expects that its technical assistance efforts will result in greater compliance with the ADA's em-



ployment requirements, with a corresponding reduction in the need to resort to en-

forcement activity.

In December 1990, the Commission's draft Technical Assistance plan was published in the Federal Register. An interagency ADA technical assistance coordinating group was established, chaired by EEOC. other member agencies include: the Department of Justice; the President's Committee on Employment of People with Disabilities; and the National Institute on Disability and Rehabilitation Research and the Rehabilitation services Administration in the Department of Education.

Through its fiscal year 1991 budget and a supplemental appropriation, EEOC has

received \$4.6 million in appropriations for technical assistance activities. The funds will be used on a variety of technical assistance activities with emphasis on training for employers and for individuals with disabilities. The Commission also will utilize a wide range of media and video formats to provide employers with training and information on their responsibilities, and to encourage voluntary compliance with the law

EEOC also held informal consultations with national organizations representing employers and people with disabilities to elicit suggestions for technical assistance programs and a technical assistance manual. We also conducted focus groups to learn what employers wanted to know about the ADA and in what format they

wanted to receive the information.

Employers and other covered entities are actively encouraged to seek information and assistance to maximize voluntary compliance. The Commission's technical assistance program will be separate and distinct from its enforcement responsibilities. Accordingly, employers and others who request information or assistance regarding a particular aspect of compliance, or who participate in training conducted by the Commission, will not be subject to investigation or other enforcement action on the

basis of such inquiries or participation.

The Commission's technical assistance program includes the development of informational materials and training for employers, individuals with disabilities and the public, and assistance in response to individual requests. The program is designed to provide information needed for compliance with the law to all those covered by Title I legal requirements. However, in allocating limited resources, priority will be given to providing technical assistance to targeted audiences. For example, smaller employers generally have not had previous experience in meeting the nondiscrimina-tion requirements of the Rehabilitation Act, which applies to larger employers who are Federal contractors or grantees. In addition, smaller employers have little access to information and assistance provided by commercial consulting services.

Activities to inform people with disabilities about their ADA rights and how to exercise them also will receive priority. Because it will be difficult to reach millions of persons with differing disabilities, the Commission intends to utilize the networks of organizations such as independent living centers, state vocational rehabilitation agencies and many other public and private agencies that work with people with

disabilities to provide information and assistance on the law

In addition to its own technical assistance activities, EEOC will continue to encourage and assist technical assistance conducted by other Federal agencies and by organizations representing employers and individuals with disabilities. In fact, tonight I will be attending a meeting of grantees selected by the National Institute on Disability and Rehabilitation Research, the Department of Justice, and the Rehabilitation Services Administration to provide training and technical assistance nationwide to employers, individuals with disabilities, and rehabilitation professionals on the ADA FEOC and still positionals in this ten day reputation. the ADA. EFOC staff will participate in this two-day coordinating effort.

EEOC also will reach virtually all employers covered by the ADA through a joint mailing effort with the Internal Revenue Service. In February 1992, a notice will be inserted in the IRS' quarterly mailing to employers stating the effective dates for the ADA and advising them of where more information is available on their respon-

sibilities under the ADA.

The Commission will announce soon a joint Department of Justice/EEOC nationwide training program to provide extensive training of individuals with disabilities in the requirements of Titles I, II and III of the act and techniques in providing

technical assistance and alternative dispute resolution.

The contractor will provide intensive 1-week training workshops to 400 persons with disabilities on their rights under Titles I, II, and III of the ADA. After completing their training, each of the 400 trainees will be required to provide ADA training and technical assistance to at least 50 other persons with disabilities and 30 employers and other covered entities. A select group of 100 of the 400 trainees will receive further, advanced training in Title I only. In addition to the ADA instruction, these individuals will receive training in alternative dispute resolution and will be avail-



STORE ALEMANDE

able to assist EEOC offices and employers in resolving ADA disputes. The contract is expected to be awarded shortly, and training should begin in January 1992.

The commission also plans to let a contract to train employers on their obligations under the ADA. The contractor will develop and provide six to ten regional, one-day seminars to train 6,000 to 10,000 employers on their obligations under Title I of the ADA using EFOC-approved training materials and videos. We are currently preparing a Request for Proposals and anticipate beginning training in February 1992.

The ADA mandates that a technical assistance manual be published by January 26, 1992, 6 months prior to the effective date of Title I. The EEOC Technical Assistance Manual will be completed by that date. The manual will be a major "how to" resource for employers and persons with disabilities. It will explain the legal requirements of the statute and regulations as they apply to specific employment practices, and will include guidance on reasonable accommodation, as well as detailed guidance and examples of other important aspects of compliance. The manual also will include a directory of technical assistance resources for reasonable accommodation, accessibility, and other aspects of compliance to assist employers and persons with disabilities in locating private and public entities skilled in disability employment issues. EEOC intends to publish the manual in a form that can be updated with supplements as the Commission issues further guidance on specific issues, and as additional technical assistance references and resources become available. The manual will be made available to the public at minimal cost and reference copies will be available at EEOC's headquarters, the Commission's 50 field offices, in public libraries and in Federal depository libraries. In addition, the manual will be available in accessible formats for persons with visual or manual disabilities.

Consistent with our mandate to provide technical assistance to the universe of more than 666,000 employers and some portion of the estimated 43 million individuals with disabilities who need and request technical assistance, we are proposing to establish a Technical Assistance Revolving Fund. This fund is a reflection of our earnest pursuit to establish creative and deficit-neutral means whereby EEOC can provide maximum technical assistance to meet the demands of a diverse and grow-

ing population.

Similar to other governmental revolving funds, the Technical Assistance Revolving Fund will be supported primarily from collections and payments received from recipients of technical assistance training and materials. Initial start-up funding will be provided by a one-time transfer of up to \$1 million from EEOC's Salaries and Expenses Account to the ADA Technical Assistance Account. Of that amount? approximately \$525,000 will be used for one-time capital investments (i.e., facility space rental, equipment and related expenses). Approximately \$475,000 will be used for Fund start-up costs.

Historically, and currently, EEOC has faced years of curtailed funding and changing priorities. These forces have circumvented the development and institutionalization of a solid technical assistance and training program within the commission. We are truly excited about the potential establishment of the Revolving Fund. Such a fund will ensure an ongoing institutionalization of a direly needed technical assist-

ance program.

EFOC will channel a small number of existing employees to serve in various capacities such as: course designers and developers, trainers, career development specialists, and functional area specialists and support staff. The Fund staff will develop and provide a variety of services and products including: training, seminars, speakers, workshops, conferences, audio and video tapes, manuals, digests, and other printed materials.

Given the active and current demands for technical assistance already evident to

EEOC, we believe that the Fund will become solvent within 2 years.

To date, we have received considerable support for the establishment of this Fund from both the House and the Senate. In fact, our fiscal year 1992 Appropriations Conference Report language reiterates support for this Fund. We greatly appreciate your assistance in amending the appropriate legislative vehicle to establish the Fund.

Another component of the Commission's technical assistance program is its outreach efforts. EEOC sees public outreach and public awareness as crucial to the successful implementation of ADA. In addition to responding to requests for more than 15,000 copies of the final rules since last July, EEOC has written two booklets titled ADA: Your Employment Rights as an Individual with a Disability, and ADA: Your Responsibilities as an Employer. EEOC has distributed 5,000 copies of each booklet in just 1 month. These booklets are available in Spanish and alternate formats of braille, large print, audio tape, and computer disk. EEOC has also, in conjunction



لها ئ

with DOJ, published Questions and Answers on the ADA, which focuses on Titles I and III. This publication is available in both Spanish and English and answers common questions regarding the employment and public accommodations provisions of the act. Copies of these publications were recently mailed to each Member of Congress to assist them with their constituent services.

The Library maintains a collection of ADA materials and has published a guide; Library Resources on the Employment of Individuals with Disabilities, which includes books, periodicals and videotapes. EEOC has also produced an open-captioned video titled, Expanding Equal Opportunities: Implementing the Americans with Disabilities Act. The video is available for purchase from the National Audiovisual

Center. EEOC maintains a speakers bureau which provides, upon request, trained speakers from headquarters and the field offices to explain the ADA. EEOC has 33 speak-

ers available to provide presentations to various groups. From July 1990 to October 1991, EEOC headquarters and field staff provided more than 400 presentations to organizations such as employer groups, disability groups, Federal agencies, hospi-

tals, bar associations, universities and human resource organizations.

An ADA Handbook, which includes annotated versions of the regulations and interpretive language for the employment and public accommodations regulations of the act and a resource list, will be available for public distribution early next month. The Handbook will serve as a basic resource document. The Commission estimates that approximately 20 000 timates that approximately 20,000 copies of the Handbook will be disseminated. An advance copy has been made available to each member of the subcommittee this morning.

Beginning November 8, the Commission will establish an ADA Helpline as a part of its toll-free 800 service. The Helpline will enable individuals to order EEOC publications and information, as well as talk to agency staff about ADA issues. The new toll-free number will be 800-669-EEOC. The TDD number will be 800-800-3302.

The Commission will expand public information and technical assistance activities as the effective date of Title I approaches. Public service announcements will be aired on radio and television, additional information will be provided to a broad range of general and specialized media, and Commission speakers will participate in radio, television, organizational and other forums throughout the country to clarify

EEOC will continue to provide technical assistance after the ADA becomes effective, through additional informational materials, training activities and responses to requests for information and assistance. The Commission will continue to work closely with disability groups, employer organizations, and other Federal agencies. utilizing their resources and information networks to supplement its own technical assistance activities and to provide specialized assistance that will aid compliance with the employment requirements of the ADA.

Later this fall, a technical assistance program will be established in each of the Commission's 23 district offices. The staff in these positions will provide technical assistance to employers and individuals with disabilities regarding rights and responsibilities under the ADA, coordinate internal and external training and facili-

tate general outreach activities in their communities

In addition, a request for proposal will be issued shortly to conduct a pilot program on Alternative Dispute Resolution in five of EEOC's district offices. This effort is an attempt to further voluntary compliance and to reduce the impact of inadequate enforcement resources.

Charge Data System/ADATS

Improvements to EEOC's computerized tracking systems began in 1986 and, since then, have been developed and improved. These systems have allowed the agency to

establish tracking programs for past and current records.

The staff now has access to modern data processing equipment. Although additional funds have not been appropriated for this purpose, EEOC has been purchasing a number of computers for our field offices annually. The Charge Data System (CDS) allows each office to enter the history of every charge filed with EEOC. The information contained in each office's CDS system is transmitted to headquarters to the agency's National Data Base (NDB). This system allows management to monitor the Nationwide processing of all charges and to provide instructions, where necessary, to better administer the agency's workload. While there are some further refinements to make to the NDB, the system has proved to be an effective management tool and will play an integral part in monitoring ADA charges.

The improvements in our computer systems have also provided EEOC with the tools to develop a comprehensive case management system. A series of programs



were developed allowing every supervisor and Field Director to monitor the movement of charges by unit and office. There are specific programs by which managers can request lists of charges by date of alleged violation or by expiration date of the

filing suit rights.

Another technological initiative taken by the Commission was to automate our ADA implementation efforts. Prior to the signing of the ADA, EEOC developed the ADA Tracking System (ADATS) to follow the progress and completion of ADA workplan activities and projects. Through this system, we can easily monitor our progress in implementing the ADA and ensure that all actions are taken in a timely manner.

Enforcement

EEOC currently receives about 60,000 charges of discrimination each year under Title VII, the Equal Pay Act and the Age Discrimination in Employment Act. State and local agencies receive about another 55,000 charges under similar statutes. EEOC's pending inventory of charges (the number of charges it currently has to process) is about 45,000 charges and FEPAs have about 70,000 charges in their inventories. EEOC's current average processing time is about 250 days, down from an average processing time of 295 days just 2 years ago. In fiscal year 1991, EEOC's investigators resolved an average of 88 charges. Despite this high resolution rate, each of EEOC's investigators still had an average 59 cases pending investigation when EEOC opened its doors on the first day of fiscal year 1992. Once the ADA takes effect, we expect that there will be a 20 percent increase in our workload or about 12,000 additional charges a year. To avoid the serious backlog problems that EEOC experienced in the late 1970s, it is essential that the Commission receive adequate funding for ADA enforcement.

Our field offices investigate and resolve about 62,000 charges of discrimination annually. When, through these investigations, we determine that discrimination has occurred, we attempt to obtain appropriate remedial relief through informal discussion called conciliation. If conciliation fails, the Commission, at headquarters, will consider litigation against the employer. However, when the employer is a State or local governmental entity, the Commission will recommend that the Justice Depart-

ment consider litigation.

We anticipate that there will be approximately a 20 percent increase in the number of suits filed by EEOC as a result of the full implementation of the ADA. However, this projection does not fully reflect the actual increase in attorney workload. A major portion of each attorney's time will be directed toward learning the statute, training investigators, identifying new expert witnesses and developing new litigation strategies.

Past EEOC experience has demonstrated that the assumption of new statutory authority results in litigation over definitions which must be resolved in the courts of appeals. Thus, workload in the Office of General Counsel, Appellate Services, is expected to increase. Until these definitions and other issues are resolved, a signifi-

cant portion of the litigation will be conducted at the appellate level.

Most long-term litigation will be conducted by field office legal division staff. In addition to their litigation responsibilities, staff in these offices will be required to provide day-today guidance to enforcement staff. During the short-term, the Commission will need to identify experts for use in future, complex litigation of cases brought under the ADA. We estimate that ADA litigation may require at least three specialists in the Office of General Counsel to identify these future procurement needs and specific academic and medical disciplines which will be used in long-term litigation.

EEOC's Office of General Counsel anticipates that a significant portion of the ADA cases will require the use of medical, architectural, ergonomics or vocational specialists. These experts will be called on to provide advice and guidance on general and specific ADA issues and to provide specific advice and testimony in certain

cases.

Experience gained in litigating the Age Discrimination in Employment Act-Bona Fide Occupational Qualification cases in the mid-1980s will be invaluable to the commission in conducting ADA litigation. These cases also involved complex, technical issues and required reliance on a number of expert witnesses. Many of the ADEA-BFOQ suits were resolved only after full trial on the merits or after extensive discovery and deposition testimony. As such, they were expensive and difficult to litigate. In many instances, they required a team of lawyers from the legal division and, if warranted by the circumstances of the case, from headquarters or other district office legal divisions.



Some of the most successful prosecutions of these cases used trial teams comprised of senior attorneys from two or three field offices—each with expertise in ex-

amination of one medical or expert specialty—and from headquarters

The current average amount available per case to litigate is \$5,000. However, this average under-represents certain critical needs and vastly over-represents other requirements. A substantial portion of the litigation support budget is used to support major class action cases. For example, in fiscal year 1990, 40 cases or just 5 percent of the 875 cases in litigation required 60 percent of the total litigation support budget. Over 22 percent of the total budget was used to support just five cases.

EEOC obligated \$2.8 million for litigation support in fiscal year 1990. The Office of General Counsel had only \$1,400 to support each "routine case," since 40 major cases required an average of \$43,500 each. The differences among cases is even more apparent in the fact that five large cases required an average of \$132,500 each.

The litigation support requirement for litigation of ADA cases may be as high as the country of the continuous of the continuous and the case of the continuous cases.

\$96,000 per case. This estimate is based on experience with ADEA suits involving law enforcement officials where the defendant argued that the age distribution at issue was justified as a bona fide occupational qualification because of medical or psychological reasons. The reliance on the use of expert witnesses in such cases requires contracts ranging from \$16,000 to \$32,000. Assuming four experts per case, the cost could reach an average of \$96,000 for a major case.

Budget/Staffing

EEOC's ability to resolve charges has been hampered by staffing decreases in recent years. The agency's 1988 full time equivalent (FTE) staff level of 3,168 dropped to 2,796 FTE by fiscal year 1991. Thus, EEOC has had more than a 10 percent decline in staff resources in 4 years. The agency's field investigative staff to-taled 949 in fiscal year 1988. In fiscal year 1991, EEOC had 779 investigative staff. For 5 of the last 7 years, the agency's budget has been cut below the President's funding request for the commission.

EEOC's successes in reducing its inventory have been achieved through increasing the agency's overall efficiency and productivity. EEOC's outstanding level of productivity, however, is not sufficient to continue this trend; staffing resources must remain at a certain level. Without an appropriate number of investigators, EEOC cannot sustain our current control of inventory and our practice of resolving all

charging parties' allegations in a timely manner.

EEOC requested \$210 million for its fiscal year 1992 budget. As part of our fiscal year 1992 budget request, EEOC asked for 32 additional FTE. These 32 additional employees will be investigators at a GS-7, 9 or 11 level in the field.

In addition to the new positions made available through our fiscal year 1992 appropriations, I have committed the agency to the transfer of positions from the agency's Headquarters to our 50 field offices throughout the Nation. These additional staff in the field will help offset the increase in charges we will receive under the new act next year. EEOC will also create technical assistance positions in each of its 23 district offices. The technical assistance program will enhance EEOC's service to the public under all statutes EEOC enforces.

State and Local Fair Employment Practices Agencies (FEPAs)

A discussion of EEOC's ADA enforcement strategy is not complete without addressing EEOC's relationship with the State and local agencies. Currently, under Title VII and the ADEA, State and local agencies have an active role to play in processing discrimination charges. This application of the concept of federalism permits State and local governments to continue their efforts to eradicate discrimina-

tion under their statutes which preserve Federal rights in the work place.

Worksharing agreements with FEPAs, however, are considered essential to handle the enormous volume of charges within the limited budgetary resources of the EEOC. In worksharing agreements and contracts with the EEOC. State and

local agencies resolve charges for EEOC under State and local statutes.

EEOC enters into annual worksharing agreements and contracts to maximize the efficiency of both State and Federal efforts and to avoid wasteful delay and duplication of efforts. Congress earmarked \$25 million in fiscal year 1991 and fiscal year 1992 specifically for this effort. Currently, EEOC pays a FEPA \$450 for each contract charge completed. EEOC contracts for only a portion of a FEPA's total workload based on a formula to evenly distribute the funds among the States. These agreements often provide that each agency will be an agent of the other for the purpose of receiving charges. When a charge is received first by a FEPA with which EEOC has a worksharing agreement, the FEPA files and processes the charge under EEOC has a worksharing agreement, the FEPA files and processes the charge under its anti-discrimination law. Under the worksharing agreement, the State filing also



constitutes a technical filing of a Federal discrimination charge under the statutes that EEOC enforces. The latter charge is not filed for the purpose of initiating a separate Federal investigation but rather to preserve the charging party's right to file a private lawsuit in Federal district court, and to preserve the charging party's option to have EEOC investigate the charge. This is known as dual filing.

Within this legal framework, the EEOC's ability to control the processing of charges by FEPAs is limited. Created by and answerable only to State or local governments, the FEPAs are independent of the EEOC's direct supervision over their

budgeting or staffing.

EEOC is working to implement a uniform case management system in the FEPAs to assist in investigating, tracking and monitoring of charges. In fiscal year 1992, the Commission will provide the same case management training given to EEOC su-

pervisors for FEPA enforcement managers.

I have established a State and Local Division in the proposed Charge Resolution and Review Program that will allow more centralized EEOC influence over the FEPA operation and allow additional review of the quality of FEPAs' charge resolutions. With the addition of more personnel, the strengthened State and Local Division will be better informed of the needs of the FEPAs so that the partnership between the EEOC and the FEPAs will be more productive than in the past. In order to assist in their day-today work with the FEPAs, the EEOC plans to add staff to the State and local coordination units in the district offices.

Generally speaking, FEPAs have had experience enforcing laws prohibiting discrimination on the basis of disability. Forty-six States and the District of Columbia have laws similar to the ADA. Many of the States have been enforcing these laws for 10 to 15 years. Because most States currently have disability laws, the impact of the ADA on FEPA workloads should be minimal when compared to the dramatic increase EEOC anticipates in its workload.

We are currently in the process of determining the methods and means through which the deferral relationship will be developed. The law permits written agreements with State and local authorities to establish effective and integrated resolution procedures and to pay for services to assist the Commission in carrying out this title. The financial and personnel resource implications of such an undertaking need to be examined.

During this fiscal year, we will conduct an in-depth study of State laws addressing disability discrimination and FEPA practices in resolving charges under these State laws. We expect to provide guidance to FEPA directors on ADA practices and procedures during an upcoming FEPA Directors Conference and in our quarterly memoranda that highlight EEOC/FEPA relationship issues. The FEPAs will also assist in conducting six seminars for employers on current employment disc, imination topics under a contract with the International Association of Official Human Rights Agen-

Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommittee, I hope my discussion of EEOC's strategy for implementing the ADA has been helpful to you in understanding the important challenges that face the Commission. EEOC is proud of its efforts toward being fully prepared to vigorously enforce this law when it takes effect next July and to ensuring that individuals with disabilities and employers are aware of their new rights and responsibilities.

I will be happy to answer any questions you may have.

Chairman Perkins. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I greatly appreciate your statement today. I was struck as I was listening to you over and over again by the problems that seem to be related directly to the amount of money available to the EEOC.

You talked about from 1985 through 1990, the strangulation of the budget that was available for EEOC. And you talked about the chilling effect that would occur with further budget cuts.

I'm interested, with the ADA coming on line, in the new amounts of training that you mentioned in your statement that are going to be necessary with the addition of a large number of new

What resources, monetarily, financially, does the EEOC need to

fully implement the ADA?

Mr. KEMP. Historically, EEOC has had budget problems. In fact, I can imagine when the 1964 Civil Rights Act was being debated,



northern congressmen maybe went to southern congressmen and asked for their vote, and said, if you vote for this Civil Rights Act, I promise that I won't vote for funding for the agency that is going to be set up to enforce it.

Nine years out of 10, our budget was cut by Congress during the 1980s. This had a ratcheting effect. OMB's budget that was sent over was cut. So when it was cut, OMB, the next year, would cut it

back further.

If we just had the more than \$50 million that the President asked for in the 1980s, we'd be in a whole lot better shape.

We're closing roughly 88.4 cases per investigator. Chairman Perkins. You indicated that you had another 50 cases per investigator.

Mr. KEMP. When we opened on October 1.

Chairman Perkins. Right. Not counting the new cases that are coming in. What are the rate of the new cases that are coming in presently?

Mr. Kemp. We expect about a 20 percent increase on July 26.

That will be about 12,000 cases.

The way we've arrived at that is-

Chairman Perkins. Twelve thousand new cases?

Mr. Kemp. New cases.

Chairman Perkins. In addition to what is already coming?

Mr. KEMP. Yes—under the ADA.

Basically, the way we arrived at that figure is that we studied what the State agencies had-it was roughly 9 percent of their budget-and we made an equation and applied that to arrive at what we would get. We usually do get between 5 and 10 percent more at our agencies and State agencies, and that comes out to about 12,000.

Chairman Perkins. I understand.

What I'm really trying to do, and I'm trying really hard not to be in any fashion partisan.

Mr. Gunderson. I appreciate that.

Chairman Perkins. I thought you might. I really am. What can I say—bipartisan.

What I'm trying to arrive at is the real number, the financial figure, that you think, based upon all the new situations that are going to be confronting this piece of legislation and operation of your agency, what financial figure is going to be necessary to implement this law and these regulations so that they're going to work as smoothly, so that they're going to work in a fashion that we in Congress, and I think the President, intended, when this act was promulgated?

Mr. KEMP. I can't comment on our 1993 budget request because

that's before OMB.

I do think that we need to double the number of investigators that we have out in the field.

Chairman Perkins. You think you're going to need to double the number of investigators in the field?

Mr. KEMP. What?

Chairman Perkins. Double the number of present number of investigators in the field?



Mr. Kemp. Yes. But we've got to get down to each investigator completing 40 cases a year. I think that's the upper level to do an adequate job.

Chairman Perkins. So you think any more than 40, they can't

really do an adequate job?

Mr. KEMP. Yes.

Chairman Perkins. Yes, I think you're right.

Go ahead.

Mr. KEMP. This is an effect on Title VII, Equal Pay Act, and ADEA—it cuts across the board.

We've got to allocate the money fairly. We can't favor one group

over another.

Chairman Perkins. So in terms of your 1992 budget that you

submitted to OMB, that's not in front of it now?

Mr. Kemp. No. We asked for \$24 million more for ADA. We asked for 246 investigators, basically for ADA. We got \$4 million and we got 32 added employees.

Chairman Perkins. So you asked for \$24 million and you got \$4

million, and you asked for—what was the other figure?

Mr. Kemp. Two hundred forty-six. Chairman Perkins. And you got?

Mr. KEMP. Thirty-two.

Chairman Perkins. That seems to me given the current situation you've described to me, you seem to believe we're going to have some fairly serious problems of implementation with the program as we're presently proceeding?

Mr. KEMP. I think we'd have very serious problems at EEOC even if we didn't have ADA and the 20 percent increase in work-

load.

Chairman Perkins. And the 20 percent is just that much more? Mr. Kemp. Yes. That might be the straw that breaks the camel's back.

Chairman Perkins. That's very distressing to hear, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate your honesty and your candor with me, and I think that's very much appreciated again on my part.

We will probably come back to this a little bit later.

Just quickly, I appreciate very much the Handbook. Now the manual that's mandated, I think in your testimony, as I recall, you said that it was going to be available 6 months prior to the implementation of the act.

When that manual is available, how is an individual or a busi-

ness entity going to acquire it?

Mr. KEMP. I should ask some of my staff.

Chairman Perkins. Feel free to.

Mr. KEMP. Liz, do you want to come up?

Chairman Perkins. Could you identify yourself, please?

Ms. Thornton, I'm Elizabeth Thornton, Deputy Legal Counsel.

The manual will be available on January 26—this coming January. It will be available to the public—it will be in alternative formats if people need them. People probably will request it and then we will make it available by mailing it out.

Chairman Perkins. Are you going to charge for that or is this

going to be free?



Ms. Thornton. We're discussing that at the moment. Clearly, initially, there will be copies that will be made available for free. After that, it may be necessary for the agency to charge. However, the first copies for everyone will be available-

Chairman Perkins. When you get a copy of the manual's table of

contents, could you submit that to our subcommittee for review?

Ms. Thornton. Certainly.

Chairman Perkins. I would really appreciate that.

I have a lot of other questions but I'd like to come back a little bit later, and turn to Mr. Gunderson to see what questions that he would like to ask.

Mr. Gunderson. Thank you very touch, Mr. Chairman.

I want to follow up on the interest in the Technical Assistance Manual. For better or for worse, that was my idea in ADA. I think it's going to be for the better.

Is that going to be bigger than the Handbock?

Mr. KEMP. I don't know.

Ms. Thornton. I'm sorry, I didn't hear you.

Mr. Gunderson. Is the Technical Assistance Manual going to be

bigger than the Handbook?

Ms. THORNTON. Yes, eventually. It's going to have a number of sections. It's going to have a "How to" section in the first part and then the second half will be a resource guide, which will tell people where they can go-the different organizations they can go to to get help.

Mr. Gunderson. I think the paper industry owes me commission. I had no idea. This is very helpful and, frankly, very impressive.

I have to tell you both and to all your staff that's here as well,

Mr. Chairman.

What a pleasure it is to see this kind of intense commitment and enthusiasm to trying to make this happen. Normally, these hearings, as you know, are, by their nature, adversarial. And this doesn't mean we agree on every specific regulation and issue.

But you need to be commended, and be commended publicly, for what you have done here, and I just want to start off in that

Mr. KEMP. I think our employees have to be commended. They are terribly impressive. I did work for the Federal Government for 16 years with the Internal Revenue Service and the Securities and Exchange Commission, and I do think our employees are much better. And the IRS and SEC are supposedly the two of the best agencies in the Federal Government.

I'm not knocking the IRS or SEC. Mr. Gunderson. You can knock the IRS, it's okay.

[Laughter.]

Mr. Andrews. Not the SEC.

Mr. Gunderson. The reality is, I would guess every one of us here has been recognized at some point in time as Legislator of the Year by some disability group. I would hope every one of those disability groups, especially those in the audience, would go back to their members and their organizations and consider this year making the Legislator of the Year the people who are pursuing in the trenches the implementation of this. I mean that very sincerely, to each and every one of you.



Let's talk about this Revolving Fund. I know you're going to get a million dollars for startup.

Mr. KEMP. A million dollars from our-

Mr. GUNDERSON. A transfer—for a million dollars to start up.

Then where does the money come from?

Mr. KEMP. I'd like to have Kassie Billingsley answer.

Mr. Gunderson. You'd like to know that, too?

Mr. KEMP. It's very technical.

Mr. Gunderson. Can we ask you as well, for the record, to iden-

tify yourself just so we know who you are.

Ms. BILLINGSLEY. My name is Kassie Billingsley, and I'm the Director of Financial and Resource Management Services at the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission.

The nature of a Revolving Fund is like a business account. Based upon collections coming into the Fund, it becomes solvent over time, hopefully if you have a product and services that there's a

demand for.

In the government there are dozens and dozens of Revolving Funds in some of the prior agencies I've been with—the State Department, United States Coast Guard—we've had Revolving Funds. So with this particular Fund, after the \$1 million initial startup cost, we're hoping that based on the training, the workshops, the conferences, that we're able to supply based on the demand of the public, that we would generate enough monies to keep the account going.

Mr. Gunderson. You don't have a fee schedule established at

this point, however?

Ms. BILLINGSLEY. We definitely have some standard rate fee formulas. We do not have the precise fee schedules yet determined, but that's something that my staff is actually working on right now with the Department of Treasury and with the Office of Manage-

ment and Budget.

Mr. Gunderson. I think it would be helpful if, at your earliest convenience, you could share that with the subcommittee—and I'm trying to be helpful in getting you the resources you need; but at the same time, I think we want to know before July 26, what are going to be the financial implications for the small business that is going to seek your assistance; what is it going to cost them to get the kind of assistance they need to comply. That may or may not be something that we have to look at, and we won't know that until you give us some overview of what that fee schedule is.

Ms. BILLINGSLEY. We'd be very happy to supply—what we do have right now are some reimbursable agreements that we have with other Federal agencies that have requested training of our agency. And I might say that we have not been able to come close

to meeting the demand of brethren Federal agencies.

But essentially, those standard rates will be the same type of rates that we would be applying to business or private organizations. We containly can provide that appreditionally to you six

tions. We certainly can provide that expeditiously to you, sir.

Mr. Gunderson. One of the keys in the regulations is the whole area of training. And one of the concerns that the hearing impaired have is whether or not in this area you will include as training materials, films and, whether or not films will be captioned so



that training will be available both to the hearing impaired employee and employer.

Can you clarify this? There's some perception that this is not

going to occur in your regulations?

Can you tell me that's not the case and that it will?

Mr. KEMP. They are captioned.

Mr. Gunderson. All your training films will be captioned?

Mr. KEMP. Yes.

Ms. BILLINGSLEY. They are now.

Mr. GUNDERSON. They are now? Okay, that's very helpful.

A similar issue, there seems to be a dispute in your proposed regulations versus those of the Department of Justice on the definition of "qualified interpreter."

What are the chances we can get you to accept the Department

of Justice's definition of "qualified interpreter?"

Mr. KEMP. We didn't define it. Did they define it in this reg? I

don't even know about this controversy.

Mr. Gunderson. Let me ask you: is this something that, because the rulemaking process is in order, you can't comment on—not trying to infringe on the rulemaking process?

Mr. KEMP. No, no, I just——

Mr. Gunderson. The availability of "interpreter" under the regulations is not sufficient because you have to define "qualified interpreter." Let me, in just a second here, I can pull up—if I may, Mr. Chairman, just read from the Department of Justice's proposed regulations.

Chairman Perkins. Sure.

Mr. Gunderson. "In order to clarify what is meant by 'qualified interpreter,' the Department has added a definition to the terms to the final rule. A 'qualified interpreter' means an interpreter who is able to interpret effectively, accurately, and impartially, both receptively and expressively, using any necessary specialized vocabulary."

So we're not only dealing with the issue of availability of interpreters, but we're dealing with the issue of qualified interpreters—

availability of qualified interpreters.

Would there be any problem reconciling the original EEOC regulations with the Department of Justice regs on this, that you know of?

Ms. Thornton. We didn't define "qualified interpreter" in our regulation. I think our intent was not to require, for very small businesses, that all interpreters be certified if in fact the ability to sign or to accommodate the individual was able to be done.

So that I don't think there is necessarily a conflict. Our purpose is that if the accommodation works for the particular individual with a disability and it doesn't cause an undue hardship on the em-

ployer, then it obviously is good.

Mr. Gunderson. But can't you not, in the regulations, define "qualified interpreter" without requiring certification in the regu-

lations?

Ms. Thornton. I don't think at this point we would want to go back and amend the regulation, but we certainly can do something sub-regulatory. We're doing an extensive Compliance Manual section. And those kind of issues will be dealt with in that document.



Mr. Gunderson. So you believe we can solve the "qualified interpreter" issue in the Compliance Manual?

Ms. Thornton. Yes, definitely.

Mr. Kemp. Let me just enter into this.

I am not aware of this controversy. But it does seem somewhat of a controversy concerning attendants for people with mobility impairments, that all sorts of proposals that they be trained in this and that and the other thing. And they never consider the needs of the person that needs the attending care, which doesn't mean that they have to be certified this, that or the other thing. The key thing is that they're dependable.

I don't know if we're not getting into an argument between groups in the deaf community, and maybe we should try to avoid

that. I'd like your advice on it.

Mr. Gunderson. I don't want the Federal Government to get into the business of certifying interpreters.

Mr. KEMP. I don't either.

Mr. Gunderson. I agree with you on that.

At the same time, I think we have to suggest that we have more than just the availability of an interpreter. I will tell you that I have taken sign language 101, and I have had, frankly, the exhilarating privilege of interpreting both for flight attendants on airplanes and for some constituents who happened to have been hearing impaired.

I am not a qualified interpreter, and I wouldn't want anyone to call me an interpreter or to consider that my attendance at any

event met the need of having an interpreter available.

That's the only concern I have, is that we deal with this issue of some level of competence without dealing with the issue of certification. I don't have any dispute with dealing with this in the Compliance Manual, just so that we make it clear that there has to be some basic level.

And, frankly, I'm not asking you to get into the debate over whether you use ASL or not, but that may be a suggestion rather than a mandate, that a certain level of competency in ASL is the way to achieve it. That's just for your consideration.

I think that is probably enough questions from me at this time,

Mr. Chairman. I yield back.

Thank you.

Chairman Perkins. Thank you, Mr. Gunderson.

Mr. Andrews?

Mr. Andrews. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Chairman, nice to see you here this morning and the others. Thank you for a very comprehensive statement and an update. I've had a lot of inquiries from people in my district who have been following this act, and I know they will take your testimony today

as good news, as I do, and I appreciate it. Mr. Kemp. Thank you.

Mr. Andrews. You can help me a bit, being new to this and being a lay person at this, if you could answer a lay person's type of question.

After these regulations go into effect, describe for me what would happen for a disabled person who feels that he or she has been denied a promotion by a private employer. Let's assume that I am



a disabled person and I work at a bank and I believe that I've been denied a promotion because of my disability. Where do I go? Who

helps me, and what happens?

Mr. KEMP. You come to EEOC and file a charge and say that you were denied a promotion because of your disability. EEOC then investigates the charge. We either find cause or don't find cause. If we find cause, we try to conciliate. If we fail in conciliation, the legal unit in the District Office will send a presentation memo to our Office of General Counsel. The Commission decides whether to sue on the person's behalf.

Mr. Andrews. It really goes back to Chairman Perkins' questions earlier, and the concern that I have is whether or not you're being empowered with the tools that you need to do that on a satisfactory

How long do you think a person would have to wait, given the present staffing and resource levels at the Commission for that process that you just described to begin?

Mr. KEMP. There are a couple of things. We are underfunded right now. We're closing 88.4 cases per investigator. We're not

going to give priority to any statute. I don't think that's fair.

It's like inflation. Richard Nixon put price controls on in 1971 when inflation was really quite low. At EEOC, the situation just keeps getting worse and worse and worse, and we're handling more cases with fewer employees.

At one point the whole thing will just unravel. It's like inflation—it creeps up, 1 percent, 2 percent, then it's 10 percent; then the next time it's 20 percent, 40 percent, 120 percent. The same

thing is happening at EEOC.

Mr. Andrews. I think you make a good point, that beyond the quantitative impact of that, there's a qualitative and emotional impact—people give up and they get discouraged when they turn in a bona fide complaint and nothing happens, or it takes a long

time for something to happen.

I have, and with the Chairman's consent, I'd like to have entered into the record, a letter from the Director of the Office for Disabled Citizens in Gloucester, New Jersey, one of the counties in my district. Her name is Jacquelyn Love. I asked Ms. Love to call around, sort of take a survey in advance of today's hearing and ask what people thought among advocates in the disabled community.

[The letter of Jacquelyn Love, with attached survey, is included

at the end of the hearing.]

The general perception was that there was some pessimism as to whether there was going to be adequate enforcement resourcesand that is in no way directed at your efforts. As a matter of fact, as I said earlier, I think the community will take your testimony

today as very good news.

With that in mind-you and I have talked before about legislation that I intend to introduce, and I'd like you to comment on it today in this context, that would change the law so that in all of EEOC's activities it would be legally mandated to receive counsel fees and cost of enforcement from the losing or settling party; that we would have a change in the statute where if you brought an enforcement action against someone and either acquired a judgment or a settlement, the statute would require that you collect not only



the damages for the individual plaintiffs or the class, but that you also be awarded the agency's cost of enforcement.

Could you comment on that and whether you think that would

help the situation we talked about this morning?

Mr. Kemp. I think anything would help. The best experience that I had before the job as Chairman of EEOC was working for Ralph Nader. As everybody knows, he runs a very tight operation. And that gave me an understanding of running a tight operation.

I think that your proposal would help. At one point I was thinking maybe we should charge for incoming calls where we give as-

sistance, even if it's a nominal charge—have it a 900 number.

Mr. Andrews. I don't know that I would support that. My idea really is that if someone has practiced discrimination—if they've broken the law—it strikes me as very fair and efficient and sensible that they should not only pay the cost of the damages for breaking the law but they should pay the public's cost of enforcement to remedy or correct that violation of the law.

it not only creates a source of funding for the EEOC to do more for people who have been victimized by discrimination, it also provides a greater disincentive for people to discriminate, and it provides a stronger and more stern penalty should they violate the

law.

Mr. Kemp. I think it would be an excellent idea. I thought you introduced the bill.

Mr. Andrews. We are preparing one.

Mr. Kemp. I see, okay.

Mr. Andrews. We're preparing one and we wanted to check the scope and, of course, we have to ask the person who runs the administration, Mr. Darman, whether he would support it as well.

I thank you very much for your testimony this morning.

Chairman Perkins. Thank you, Mr. Andrews.

Mr. Olver, do you have any questions at this time?

Mr. Olver. I'm not going to presume to suggest that I'm prepared to ask questions here, Mr. Chairman, having just come in about 3 minutes ago. I will read the testimony and communicate with the chairman.

Chairman Perkins. Thank you, Mr. Olver.

Mr. Chairman, let me just ask some more questions in terms of

some of the activities of the ADA.

Currently, how many EEOC staff are involved in ADA-related activities such as promulgating regulations, coordinating efforts of the other agencies, and technical assistance? And what impact is this having on the EEOC's overall responsibilities?

Mr. Kemp. Liz would probably be able to respond.

Ms. Thornton. We currently, as the Chairman indicated, have an Americans with Disabilities Act Service.

Chairman Perkins. I'm sorry?

Ms. Thornton. We have an Americans with Disabilities Act Service.

Chairman Perkins. Yes.

Ms. Thornton. That service has a director. It will have two supervisors. There are two divisions—a Policy Division and a Technical Assistance Division. There will be four TA persons in the TA



Division-Technical Assistance Division-and three attorneys at-

tached to the Policy Division.

In addition to that, there are people throughout the field offices who are responding to questions, who are answering questions,

making speeches, and so on.

We have people in our Headquarters Office of Programs Operations (OPO) who are working on training as well as people in the Office of Legal Counsel working on training. There are a variety of different people throughout the agency who are performing a varie-

ty of functions.

Mr. Kemp. We have a Speakers Bureau, as I mentioned in my testimony, of 33. They have given 400 speeches around the country. Liz receives about 30 calls a day on ADA—a lot of them are just requesting that we send out the final rules and regulations. OCLA receives about 100 calls a day, asking for rules and regulations or asking very technical questions about workmens' compensation, medical insurance, and other things like that.

We don't really neatly put people in jobs in this area, and we've tried not to under other statutes. So it's hard to give you exactly

how many employees we have working on ADA.

Chairman Perkins. Okay, in terms of a rough estimate, could you maybe give us a shot at that?

Mr. KEMP. Liz?

Ms. Thornton. It's kind of hard, as the Chairman said.

Chairman Perkins. I won't hold you to it.

Ms. Thornton. In our Office of Legal Counsel maybe there are 10 or 12 people. But then you've got to factor in all these other people throughout the agency who are working, so it's difficult to answer.

Chairman Perkins. Let's discuss a little bit about the trust fund

if it's set up.

What types of services are exactly going to be offered? Are you talking about seminars, are you talking about conferences? What type of services are going to be offered if this trust fund is in fact

put in place?

Mr. KEMP. I think that one of the shocking things about the ADA is as soon as it was passed and signed into law, law firms started holding these seminars. Even on the literature that was sent to me to advertise the seminars there were mistakes. They did an awful lot of this before our rules and regulations came out. They terrified employers and they charged an arm and a leg.

I don't see why we couldn't have gotten involved in that training. I think we would have done a much better job for employers and

charged about a third as much as the law firms charged.

Chairman Perkins. Under this type of situation, would technical assistance be given on all laws enforced by the EEOC or is it just the ADA? Which one of these two is that under the trust fund?

Ms. Billingsley. It's all statutes. Mr. KEMP. It would be all statutes. Chairman Perkins. All statutes?

Mr. Kemp. Yes.

Ms. BILLINGSLEY. That's right.

Chairman Perkins. All right, so it's not just the ADA, then. Mr. KEMP. And some are more complicated than others, too.



Chairman Perkins, I understand.

Exactly how many EEOC employees will be used for developing

this institute?

Ms. Billingsley. We are envisioning about 10 employees as initial startup. Some of those employees will be dedicated full time, that is, particularly providing the training curriculum, developing it. Some of the employees, again, a small cadre of 10 people, because we can't afford to devote more staff resources, will be doing collateral functions that they're currently performing plus additional Revolving Fund activities.

Chairman Perkins. Just in terms—so we can walk through an example—could you give us an example of how the EEOC will respond to allegations of Americans with Disabilities Act discrimina-

tion by employers?

Mr. KEMP. Similar to Congressman Andrews' hypothetical?

Chairman Perkins. Yes.

Mr. Kemp. A person will come to one of our 50 offices around the country and file a charge with us that employers have discriminated in such and such a way.

I think one of the first things that we will probably have to determine is whether we have jurisdiction under the act, and that's making a determination whether the person is handicapped or not.

Under Title VII it's a fairly easy determination. Under the Reha-

bilitation Act of 1973, it was much more complicated.

Then we'll determine whether there's cause or not. If we do find cause, we'll try to conciliate with the employer. And if we don't,

then we'll decide whether to sue.

The ADA will be more complicated to enforce, and let me explain. It's very similar to bona fide occupational qualifications that have caused us an awful lot of trouble under Title VII. We really don't have any problems until we have made that exception. We look at whether a person is covered by Title VII, and see if we should have an exception.

Remember, Title VII says that certain characteristics are irrele-

vant, like sex, color, age-not age-but religion, el cetera.

Under a bona fide occupational qualification, we're saying that they are relevant. Under ADA, the characteristic that brings you into coverage under ADA is a critical factor.

So I think that this is going to be a much more complicated act

to investigate.

We've estimated that our investigators will be able to handle roughly about 10 percent less—have 10 percent less closures when they get a mix of Americans with Disabilities Act cases.

Chairman Perkins. Ten percent less?

Mr. KEMP. Yes, we'll be able to—so we'll knock it down from about 88 to about 80.

Chairman Perkins. Assuming the fund, whatever.

Mr. KEMP. Yes.

Chairman Perkins. One of the things I'm interested in and concerned about is a Harris Poll that said only 18 percent of the American public that was even aware there was such a thing as this act.

And particularly in going to areas—urban areas, high poverty areas, very rural areas—I know you've mentioned some of the sem-



inars that you're going to have around the country. But particularly in areas that—and segments of our population that perhaps would not be impacted so much by those types of approaches—do you have any additional way of trying to go into those areas and letting people know that this act actually exists and what their rights are, and what the remedies are?

Mr. Kemp. Yes, I was surprised it was as high as 18 percent, and

I thought that was a very good indication.

I'd be curious to know about how many people—older people

over 40-know that there's an Age Act in existence.

I think it's a very difficult problem to get the word out to employers. The work force and employers have radically changed in 25 years. There was a study done in 1987 that said the Fortune 500 companies would have 10 percent less employees in 1997 than they had in 1987; and if anything, they're going to have even less than that. Something between 80 and 90 percent of new jobs are going to be created by employers with less than 50 employees.

These are very small operations and they don't have the money to go to big three-day conferences—they don't have the money or the time. They're out making a product. These people will be creating the jobs and I don't know if we're getting the word to them.

Chairman Perkins. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Let me ask you just a little bit. I certainly would encourage you to look at some additional areas in terms of ways to try to impact these groups because I don't think that what we're talking about is probably sufficient at this stage to make any kind of impact upon some of these areas that I think are really going to be vitally important.

If you could maybe look at some of the alternatives that are available to you and maybe submit them to us a little bit later,

we'd certainly appreciate it.

Mr. Kemp. We have really been giving this a lot of consideration. We really haven't come up with some way to reach those small employers that are covered by ADA that really don't have the money to go to these big training sessions. And I think even more important is the time to go.

One idea is to have cassettes that employers could listen to on

the way to and from work.

Chairman Perkins. It relates back to the same thing we're talking about, the Manual, in terms of trying to get the Manual out to a lot of these individuals and these employers that are out there so they have something they can base some sort of decisions on.

Mr. Kemp. I don't know if this Manual, which will be bigger than the manual that you have up there—what about a small employer who's hiring 30 people, covered by ADA? He's making a complex product. He's under a whole lot of other Federal regulations—is he going to really have time?

Chairman Perkins. Are you going to provide some sort of condensed manual or book that could go out to a lot of these employ-

ers that perhaps they would utilize?

Mr. Kemp. Yes, we've tried that. We have a little booklet for employers and for disabled people. IRS is sending out a notice that will tell when the ADA becomes effective; and it has telephone numbers for people to call.



The work force is changing, and I think that we've got to figure out some way. We haven't thought of any way to reach those people.

Chairman Perkins. Again, I would encourage you to keep look-

ing at this.

Mr. KEMP. We're trying our best.

Chairman Perkins. I know it's a difficult thing but we certainly want to see the population served.

Let me ask you a question about the maritime industry that I've

been asked by several people.

Mr. KEMP. The maritime industry?

Chairman Perkins. Yes.

In terms of its responsibility under Maritime Admiralty law to provide a seaworthy vessel and personnel, are you doing anything with the U.S. Coast Guard to provide guidance to the industry and how to comply with Coast Guard regulations and the ADA?

Mr. KEMP. I never knew there was a problem.

consirman Perkins. Well, maybe I'll submit some questions to you later in writing, so that you'd give a little guidance.

I have been questioned to get some information on this and I

would certainly appreciate that.

Mr. Kemp. I do think that cruise ships and other boats like that should be accessible to disabled people, and I think they're becoming accessible.

Chairman Perkins. Do you plan to use any testers in ADA enforcement, that is, people who go out and work under cover, so to speak, so they can apply for jobs, who tests to see whether the employers discriminate?

Mr. KEMP. Let me go into this in detail because I think there's a

lot of misunderstanding on the testers policy.

When I became Chairman about 18 months ago, I instructed General Counsel and Legal Counsel to look into whether it was legal to use testers under Title VII. I couldn't see why it could be used in housing and not under employment.

They came out in November of 1990 and said that there was no legal reason why we couldn't accept charges from testers. I never felt that EEOC's personnel shouldn't be involved in testing. Three

reasons for that:

Number one, we are overloaded anyway. We're closing 88 cases per investigator. I think I'd be derelict to encourage more people to file.

Number two, in considering the nature of the 1964 Civil Rights Act, which has a conciliation aspect to it, I thought that would send a bad signal to employers—that we would be coming as testers 1 minute and then after we found a charge, we would try to come in and conciliate the charges with them.

The third reason is that I'm very sensitive personally on the

whole concept of entrapment and think it's not a good policy.

Chairman Perkins. Thank you very much.

Mr. OLVER. Mr. Chairman?

Chairman Perkins. Mr. Olver?

Mr. OLVER. Might I claim back some of my time now that I've listened to a bit of this?

Chairman Perkins. Please do.



Mr. Olver. Thank you. I apologize if what I will ask will seem to cover or, indeed, closely cover what someone else may have covered already.

I would like to just explore for a minute your field of employers that you're working with you identify as the 666,000, I guess, from

the testimony of employers?

Does that include all employers or is there a size? What's the

size criterion?

Mr. Kemp. In 1992, on July 26, it will cover employers with 25 or more employees. And 2 years later, on July 26, 1994, it will cover employers with 15 or more employees; which is what Title VII now covers.

Mr. Olver. So on July 1, 1994, it will cover everyone with 15 employees or more. Is that what the 666,000 represents in the 1994

window?

Mr. KEMP. Yes.

Mr. OLVER. How many employers are there with 25 or more, what would be your estimate on that?

Mr. Kemp. We cover only 15 percent of the employers in the

country.

Mr. OLVER. That many of the total number of employers are much smaller?

Mr. KEMP. Yes.

By covering 15 percent of the employers, we do cover employers that have about 85 percent of the employees in the country. So

we've got a lot of small employers.

Mr. Olver. Now when you speak of, in the same sentence that I finally picked up the number of employers that are covered, the 43 million individuals with disabilities; is that individuals with disabilities of all ages or just in the employment years?

Mr. KEMP. All ages.

Mr. Olver. Of all ages.

What would be the number in the employment years, what I might define as 18, or we might say 22, to 62 or 65, or something like that, or 70? Can you give me a sense of what that—

Mr. Kemp. No, because there can't be a cap. Employers can't require somebody to retire at a certain age. We did have definite fig-

ures when it was 18 to 62 or 65.

Mr. Olver. However, there is a fairly high degree of retirement by some—there has to be an age where the employment percentage drops off, certainly, as one gets to higher ages, and there must be——

Well, there must be some way of defining what the number of

employees- employables are in the marketplace.

Mr. Kemp. Yes, but because they retire at a certain age doesn't mean that they leave the workplace. Toffler and Nesbitt said that people would have three or four very different careers during their lifetime.

Disability is a very difficult term to define.

Mr. OLVER. That was the next question I was going to ask. I mean, 43 million out of the whole population, I guess I would like to know what—I'm looking for background, I'm new at this. And I would like to know what the field of 43 million really looks like, what those disabilities are in broad form, certainly. But at the



same time that I'm asking the question of how many of those are in the employable ages. Because clearly we know that we could define as those up to age 12 probably are not part of an employablield and then there is an ever-greater employment capability, or need, between there and the time that one gets, say, through college. Then you've got college years to a point where people really feel that it's time to slack off somewhat.

What I'm trying to do is to get a handle on the field of employable people with disabilities and what the kinds of disabilities are

that we're dealing with.

Mr. Kemp. Basically let me explain how we reached that figure of 43 million. I used to teach a course on disabled people and the law at Catholic Law School, and I spent about 6 hours trying to define "disability" with my class. If I were teaching a course in women and the law, I would spend about 30 seconds; Hispanics and

the law maybe a minute and a half.

Disability is really made up of three components when you're defining it—it's loss of function. The other thing that it's made up of is education—how much education you have. If you are missing an arm and have a third grade education, you're probably really quite disabled. And if you're missing an arm and are a Harvard Law School graduate, number one in your class, it wouldn't really affect you probably at all and you might not even consider yourself disabled.

Mr. Olver. Are you suggesting that your 43 million, then, includes those who are economically disadvantaged or educationally disadvantaged and just didn't have the floor opportunities of an education system?

Mr. KEMP. With a functional limitation. As a matter of fact, the

hypothetical that I gave you is a friend of mine.

Mr. OLVER. With a functional limitation. With a physical or

mental disability that goes with the educational disability?

Mr. Kemp. Yes, if a person has a mental or emotional disability, he's covered.

Mr. OLVER. Is the Americans with Disabilities Act—I'm sorry not really knowing what's in this act, if you will forgive me.

Does the Americans with Disabilities Act carry as a primary population those with educational disability or only if there's a physi-

cal or mental disability?

Mr. Kemp. Education does play into it. That's why I was trying to explain why it's difficult to define this term. It's made up of functional loss—education. If you lost your arm tomorrow—hypothetically—you could still serve in Congress, you could still be a lawyer. But if you had a third grade education and you lost your arm, you'd have difficulty getting a job because you'd have to be shoveling coal or something like that.

Do you see the problem?

Mr. Olver. I fully expected that there was a problem—the number was so large that it has to carry a great number of cross-overs.

Mr. Kemp. No, no. I think that basically about 15 to 16 percent of a population is disabled. Just take the total population of this country and multiply by 15 to 16 percent, and you get a rough figure.



Also, if you take the population of China, take 15 or 16 percent, it's

roughly the disabled population there.

One of the things that's interesting about individuals with disabilities is that we are a special interest group that wants to lose our status as a special interest group. There are people I know today who are epileptics who don't feel that they are disabled people today because they have not been discriminated against. Twenty-five years ago, epileptics were one of the most discriminated groups in our society.

I think that a former colleague of yours, Tony Coehlo, should be

given a lot of credit.

It's a very slippery term. This was 6 hours that I was discussing this with law school graduates trying to find a definition and

couldn't do it.

But one of the things is that it's a hidden population. One of the things that I found very pleasing in the last couple of years is that I see a lot of people on the streets in wheelchairs, who are blind or

deaf, and I don't know those people.

I've been in this movement for about 25 years, and up until about 2 years ago, if I were in an airport in Denver, Albuquerque, or Seattle, and I saw a blind person or a deaf person or a person in a wheelchair, I knew that person; now I don't know them. There are 43 million.

Mr. OLVER. I'm not doubting the number. I would like to have some sense of what the magnitude or degree, or combinations of complex disabilities that go on, and what-I mean, some of the 43 million probably have either a small degree of disability and some probably have a rather severe and complicated degree of disability.

Mr. KEMP. You have a third aspect of it that even complicates it further, and that is a person's image of himself or herself. If he has a very high self-image, he might be severely disabled in everybody else's eyes but function very well in our society. Other people with a very poor self-image who have a seemingly slight disability are in reality much more disabled.

Mr. Olver. Maybe you can educate me in a different format than what we're doing here. And let me go on because I don't want to

take up a lot of time on that point right now.

To go back to the employers, you have 666,000. I notice that you've got a plan. Has money been appropriated for the plan to reach out to six to 10,000 employers in a seminar program on the obligations of employers under the ADA?

Mr. KEMP. We're going to train about 400 people and have each

one of those people-

Mr. OLVER. Let's talk about the employers first. The 400 people are individuals who are disabled people?

Mr. KEMP. Yes, but they're going to be obligated to train employ-

ers in their obligations under the law.

Mr. OLVER. Oh, your intent is to do the individuals before you do the employers?

Mr. Kemp. No, this is just another way of reaching the employ-

Mr. OLVER. Let's talk about the employers. The plan in your testimony is to do six to 10,000 employers in a series of seminars which look as if they are intended to have about 1,000 people per



seminar on what the obligations under the ADA would be for those employers.

Is the money appropriated already for that program?

Mr. KEMP. We have a budget of \$210 million and we've scraped money together to implement that program.

Mr. OLVER. I see, so that the money is there to implement that program?

Mr. Kemp. Yes.

Mr. OLVER. Is then the Handbook that is described—which I take it is meant to—because that's only reaching 1 percent of those employers who are part of the field—is the Handbook then intended to be drafted as a result of the workshop experience with employers about—

Mr. Kemp. No, we're in the process of doing the Technical Assistance Manual right now. It has to be published by January 26, 1992.

Mr. Olver. The Handbook?

Mr. KEMP. Yes.

Mr. OLVER. And that will be prior then to having the workshops. So the preparation of the Handbook, is that being done with core groups or focus groups on how to get this information across to employers?

Mr. KEMP. We've met with employers, we've met with disability groups, and we've met with others, devising the best possible way

to get this information across.

Mr. OLVER. Is there an intent to use, then, some of the six to 10,000 employers in the way that I think I detect you're intending to use the individuals who are trained in the complementary individual training program, to use those employers to get information to larger groups of employers since, again, employers are 20 percent?

Mr. Kemp. We would like to use them, but they're basically running their businesses and not educating their competitors about

how to comply with the ADA.

I do think that most of the things that we have devised for reaching employers are reaching the big employers—the ones that have legal counsel and that have special personnel offices that handle these things.

We really haven't come up with a way to reach the small em-

ployers.

Mr. Olver. I certainly wish you well on reaching 1,000 people in a workshop at one time. The workshop seminars for 1,000 people

are, I think, an ambitious undertaking, at the very least.

But on the individual, let me go over to the individual program for a moment. You have a plan to reach, I think it was 400 individuals. These individuals are individuals with handicaps who are covered under the ADA Act; is that correct?

Mr. Kemp. Yes.

Mr. OLVER. And they are not intended ultimately to be employees of the Commission; is that correct?

Mr. Kemp. They won't be employees of the Commission.

Mr. Olver. They won't be.

So you're training them as advocates, in essence, who supposedly will become well informed of——



Mr. Kemp. There are roughly 5,000 disability groups around the country. These are people that are probably working for these various groups that will come and learn about Title I of the ADA and then have an obligation to train a certain number of other people and train a certain number of employers.

Mr. OLVER. And that, again, comes out of the budget that you already have, so that's all allocated and ready to go. That's also

going to go forward in 1992?

Mr. Kemp. Yes.

Mr. OLVER. Will the individuals that get trained, the 400, you then have indicated you then want to reach each one, hopefully, an average of 50 other people; are they going to get assistance in that kind of training, this sort of second training, down the line to the next 50?

Mr. Kemp. I really don't know. I think we are going to take of the 400—we're going to take 100 of the best and have them train a

certain number of employers.

Mr. OLVER. I see.

Just lastly, are there large sections exempted from the ADA? Is government, either State, municipal government, or the Federal Government, in any way exempted from the provisions of the ADA?

Mr. KEMP. No. Congress is covered, too.

Mr. OLVER. Pardon?

Mr. KEMP. Congress is covered.

Mr. OLVER. Congress is even covered; isn't that wonderful?

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, I'm done.

Chairman Perkins. Thank you, Mr. Olver.

With unanimous consent, the subcommittee will be submitting some additional questions for the Chairman. I think Mr. Gunderson may have, and we will probably have some as well, under written form, and we'd appreciate your trying to respond to them when you can.

[Questions and answers are included at the end of the hearing

record

Chairman Perkins. I would like to take this opportunity to again thank Chairman Kemp for his indulgence in coming down to see us today. We all want to work together to see that ADA is implemented in the best possible fashion that we possibly can.

With that, I would like to say, we might just as well adjourn this

one today, and thank you all for coming.

Mr. KEMP. Thank you very much.

Mr. Andrews. Thank you.

Mr. Kemp. Thank you, Mr. Andrews.

[Whereupon, at 11:45 a.m., the subcommittee was adjourned.]

[Additional material submitted for the record follows.]



18 29 91 13188

g 1 689 384 020°

BLOUC CIV ETR

P. 02



COUNTY OF GLOUCESTER STATE OF NEW JERSEY OFFICE FOR THE DISABLED

BUDD HOLKEYARD COMPLES (C. RI 46 & HUDD BOUSFYARD)
FO BOX 337
WOODH URY NEW JERSEY 08086
#000384-8889
FAX (679) 384-4207

JACQUELTRI ME LOVE DESCRIDANT PERSONAL ATTENDANT SE RECES PROLIBANT ADMINISTRATION SE FAILE OF CONTROLLING FOR BUTCHINGS TRAPAIRED

October 29, 1991

MANDAREY M SOLTN
FREEDLIS R
ITS THE POLY LEST THE COUNTY
OF HE PILK STEEL HER TO DIS
CHAINALE STEEL HER TO DIS
CHAINALE ALAMASE LAWLETING
HER DICKETT, DIMITIVALALE IN
THE LAWLE CHAIN, O'P PROVIDEDLY
MET THE CHAIN OF THE PILK
THE LAWLE CHAIN OF THE PILK
THE CHAIN OF THE PILK
THE CHAIN OF THE PILK

Congressman Robert Andrews 16 Somerdale Square Somerdale, NJ 08083

RB: Americans with Disabilities Act 1990

Dear Congressman Andrews:

As a result of your call to our Office, we began a survey to enable us to give you the latest and accurate information. The genoral perspective reflects ADA has done a lot towards raising the consciousness to issues surrounding persons with disabilities but several state it is too vague and lacks enforcement features. With the Lou Harris Poll stating 66% of the disabled are unemployed and 67% of this number want to be gainfully employed, the ability to implement ADA will be molded by court actions.

In New Jersey, advocates like our local advisory commission, are needed to play a vital role in helping employers and the general public at large to understand what teal assistance really entails. Ask the person with a disability how to address their needs. This makes much more sense than starting costly building plans without their input.

Many are taking a wail and see approach, while many more are taking action by reaching out to amployers and businesses offering assistance today. The latter approach is by far the best. Don't be afraid to come Logether, the time is now.

Eresus organic le sou de la sou de la sou de Aux de sout Paupe

TTY TTD TELECOMMUNICATION FOR THE DEAL AND HEARING PAPAGRED (RIVE) 848-8916



18 29 91 11189 **S** 1 689 184 828" GLOUL 115 E18 F.83

ADA Congressman Andrews page 2

Please read on for other advocates who were so kind to give us their viewpoints.

Sincerely.

Jackie

Jacquelyn M. Love Director

JNL/kd CC: Margaret M. Smith, Freeholder Attachments

Paxed and Mailed



SURVEY ON ADA

A Comment from a New Jersey Transit Advocate:

Implementation was a good thing. N.J. Transit, however, had started to do many of the items in the ADA before it became law. The selection of key rail stations was dispersed evenly between all stations by the AJA. This part of the plan is almost complete. Public hearings will be held in the springtime.

Paratransit - Presently N.J. Transit is developing an ADA Paratransit plan that must be submitted by January 26, 1992. Preceding this submission Public Hearings will be held. During the development of both plans N.J. Transit is actively seeking input from individuals with disabilities across the State.

It has been the policy of N.J. Transit to purchase accessible buses before ADA.

Lacking - Paratransit eligibility criteria is too vague. The intent of the ADA was to make the eligibility criteria narrow, however they left too many questions unanswered. Nothing is concrete on how "disabled one must be".

A County Advisory Commission Advocate:

ADA has no guidelines, therefore, it is only good while there is attention paid to it. It lacks teeth.

Until the law is totally in effect, all regulations and guidelines will have a gradual impact on Section 504.





Survey/cont.

Southern N.J. Tri-County Advocate:

It is good that the ADA is here and available.

PATCO is doing a very good job adhering to regulations.

Lacking in enforcement procedures. Regulations are too loose.

It needs a format to bring disabled people together to start a grassroots watchdog group.

A Northern N.J. County Advocate:

Their area is working with her through the Community College on workshops on the ADA.

This Advocate is also working on individual assessments for municipalities on the ADA.

Their opinion on the ADA is that its real position is going to be taken up in the courts. The good of ADA-bottom line is consciousness raising at bost, but its actual implementation may be difficult.

Evaluation tools for compliance are lacking. Checklists for all aspects of ADA are needed.

A Central N.J. County Advocate:

The passage of the ADA will bring attention to the needs of the disabled.

Another Office For the Disabled is already working with outside businesses on accessibility standards. They are already working with trying to have the business community accept employment of the Handicapped without discrimination.

The results of the implementation of the ADA are questionable. Court cases could become prevelent.



Survey/cont.

A N.J. Agency Head:

It was good to implement the ADA. It brought attention to the disabled community. There is a lot of potential for good to come out of this.

Lacking - Enforcement through funding seems to lacking.

The Agency Head feels that members of Congress (House and Senate) should be under the same rules and laws as everyone clse. He states that Congress is exempt not only from the ADA, but the Section 504 rulings.

A N.J. Department Advocate:

This Advocate felt that the ADA gives everyone the same opportunity. Accessibility and/or accommodation should be for everyone.

He also felt that cost will be the big factor. The costs of retrofitting with no provisions for either tax credits or other incentives for the business and governmental community could be a big stumbling block.

A. Southern N.J. County Advocate:

Was good to implement ALM. Brought attention to persons with disabilities.

Will implement laws to accomposate the disabled which will bring the disabled into the work force which would have heretofore been unavailable to them.

law seems to be overwhelming. Difficult to implement without specific guidelines.

- 3 -

: jmb





U.S. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20507

November 21, 1991

The Honorable Carl C. Perkins
Chairman
Subcommittee on Employment Opportunities
Committee on Education and Labor
U.S. House of Representatives
Washington, D.C. 20515

Dear Chairman Perkins:

Pursuant to your Novmber 4, 1991 request, I am submitting the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission's responses to the Subcommittee's questions in follow-up to the October 30, 1991 hearing on EEOC's implementation of the Americans with Disabilities Act.

Please let me know if you need any additional information.

Sincerely,

RomeBlumethal

Ronnie Blumenthal Acting Director of Communications and Legislative Affairs L

Enclosure



OVERSIGHT HEARING ON EEOC'S IMPLEMENTATION OF THE ADA ADDITIONAL QUESTIONS TO EEOC

1. Regulation Addressing "Direct Threat"

The ADA permits the employer to establish a qualification standard that will exclude individuals who pose a "direct threat" to the health or safety of other individuals in the workplace. MEGC, in the Title I regulations, goes beyond the statutory language by adding the "irlividual" within the definition. What is MEGC's rationale for including this provision and what will the Commission do to prevent employers from improperly using the standard? Please provide an example where this standard might apply and an example where it would not apply.

The EEOC believes that the direct threat to self standard set forth in its final regulations is necessary to ensure that employers do not exclude individuals with disabilities from employment opportunities because of myths and fears about safety. The ADA does not itself exclude the employer defense of direct threat to self. Nor does it preclude either the Commission or the courts from establishing such a defense. To the contrary, the report of the House Committee on Education and Labor states that an employer would not be required to hire an individual where the entrance examination revealed a medical condition sufficient to demonstrate a "high probability of substantial harm if the candidate performed the particular functions of the job in question." (H.R. Rep. No. 485, 101st Cong., 2d Sess., pt. 2, at 73 (1990)).

Moreover, the courts interpreting section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act have read into it the concept of direct threat to self. In doing so, however, the courts have utilized various standards, many of which have permitted the consideration of generalizations about the effect or progress of a disability or about the anticipated future ability of the individual to perform the job -- criteria that cannot be considered under the stringent direct threat to self provision in the Commission's regulations.

The Commission could have chosen to remain silent about direct threat to self, but we decided instead to set forth a direct threat to self standard as stringent as the direct threat to others standard in the statute, and thereby foreclose the possibility of the future development of varying direct threat to self standards. Under the Commission's direct threat standard, the employer must show that the individual poses a significant risk of substantial harm. The determination that an individual poses a direct threat to self can only be based on the individualized assessment of objective, factual, medical, and other evidence relevant to the functions of the job. The opinion of the employer and/or speculation about the individual's future ability to perform the job are irrelevant.



The following examples show situations where the direct threat to self standard would -- and would not -- apply to exclude individuals with disabilities:

- (1) The standard would exclude from a job as a roofer (working on the tops of houses installing, repairing, or replacing roofs) a person who has a seizure disorder, where his periodic seizures cause him to lose consciousness and are not controlled by medication.
- (2) The direct threat standard would not exclude such a person from the roofer job if his seizures were controlled by medicine, or if he had been seizure -free for several years.

2. Interpretive Guidelines

The Interpretive Guidelines, which are an Appendix to the final EROC regulations to Title I of the ADA, have been described as being as important to employers and disability advocates as the rule itself. Now is EROC planning to assure that the guidelines are included wherever the regulations are found, for example, in the Code of Federal Regulations, the BEOC ADA Manual or other REOC ADA materials?

The Interpretive Guidance is an Appendix to the Commission's final regulations and will be included wherever the final regulations appear. Thus, for example, the Guidance, which already appears with the regulations in the Americans with Disabilities Act Handbook, will also be included in the Technical Assistance Manual to be issued by the EEOC in January 1992, and in the Code of Federal Regulations.



3. RECC Employees with Disabilities

What percentage of the investigative staff at the district level have disabilities? What percentage are minorities?

EEO Statistics of EEOC's Total Investigative Staff as of September 30, 1991

- William

	Musber	Percentage
Total	1177	100.0
Individuals w/ Disabilities	160	13.6
White	402	34.2
Black	582	49.4
Hispanio	156	13.3
Asian Am/Pac Isl	17	1.4
Am Indian/Alsk Nat	7	0.4
Temale	644	54.7

. Missing 13 (1.14) Pending Identification

EFO Statistics of EFOC's Headquarters Investigative Staff - as of September 30, 1991

	Number	Percentage
Total	27	100.0
Individuals w/ Disabilities	6	22.2
White	13	48.1
Black	12	44.4
Eispanic	<u> </u>	3.7
Asian Am/Pac Isl	11	3.7
Am Indian/Alsk Nat	0	0.0
Yenale .	15	55.5

3



EFO Statistics of EFOC's Field Investigative Staff - as of September 10, 1991

	Munber	Percentage
Total	1150	100.0
Individuals w/ Disabilities	154	13.4
White	389	33.8
Black	570	49.6
Rispanio	155	13.8
Asian Am/Pac Isl	16	1.4
Am Indian/Alsk Nat	7	0.6
Tenale	629	54.7

* Missing 13 (1.1%) Pending Identification

4. "Testers"

Does the EEOC plan to use testers in ADA enforcement?

The EEOC is in the process of devising guidance procedures for organizations that wish to send testers into the work place to test for employment discrimination. These guidelines will encompass ADA issues.

5. ADA TAX Credit

What are the plans to educate employers about the availability of the ADA tax credit enacted by the Congress last year? It is our understanding that section 190, (a deduction for removing physical barriers) has existed since 1982 but it has not been utilised. Given this history, how do you plan to educate employers and others about this deduction and the new tax credit?

The Commission has developed a Fact Sheet antitled "Disability-Related Tax Provisions Applicable to Businesses." (Attached) The Fact Sheet summarizes the three disability-related provisions of the Internal Revenue Code applicable to businesses:

1) Targeted Jobs Tax Credit (Title 26, Internal Revenue Code, action 51); 2) Tax Deduction to Remove Architectural and Transportation Barriers to People with Disabilities and Elderly Individua's (Title 26, Internal Revenue Code, section 190); and 3)

PEST COPY AVAILABLE



Disabled Access Tax Credit (Title 26, Internal Revenue Code, section 44). The Fact Sheet is included with all telephone and correspondence requests to the Commission for information regarding the ADA.

The jointly-developed EEOC and Department of Justice ADA Handbook contains the same summary of the three disability-related provisions described in the Fact Sheet. The ADA Technical Assistance Manual will include this same material, as well as the actual filing forms required by the Internal Revenue Service.

The EEOC booklet <u>The Americans with Disabilities Act: Your Responsibilities as an Employer</u> and the joint EEOC and Department of Justice booklet <u>The Americans with Disabilities Act: Ouestions and Answers</u> include information on the availability of the section 190 tax deduction and section 44 tax credit provisions.

As indicated in Chairman Kemp's October 30 testimony before the Subcommittee, EEOC will insert in the IRS quarterly mailing to approximately 5.9 million businesses a notice stating the general provisions and effective dates for the ADA. It is anticipated that the availability of the tax provisions will be included in the insert.

Finally, the availability of the disability-related tax deductions and tax credit is contained in the model script used by EEOC staff participating in the Commission's ADA Speakers' Bureau. Since its inception in July 1990, the Speakers Bureau has provided more than 400 presentations to organizations such as employer groups, disability groups, Federal agencies, hospitals, bar associations, universities and human resource organizations.

6. Coordination

How does RECC intend to work with disability related Federal agencies such as the Rehabilitation Services Administration, the Administration on Developmental Disabilities, the Department of Justice and the Department of Labor?

Beginning in January 1991, the Commission initiated weekly coordination meetings of Federal agencies with enforcement responsibilities under Titles I and III of the ADA or with experience with advocacy for or the provision of services to individuals with disabilities. In addition to the Commission, participants in these meetings represented the Rehabilitation Services Administration and the National Institute on Disability and Rehabilitation Research of the U.S. Department of Education, the Civil Rights Division of the U.S. Department of Justice, and the President's Committee on Employment of People with Disabilities. The Administration on Developmental Disabilities joined the meetings beginning in June 1991. When the group meets





again on November 21, participants will include the U.S. Department of Transportation, the Federal Communications Commission, the National Council on Disability, the Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs of the U.S. Department of Labor, and the Architectural and Transportation Barriers Compliance Board. While the EEOC will continue as the host agency, the Department of Justice, in its role as coordinator for Federal technical assistance efforts, will chair the mentings.

Significant cooperative efforts have been conducted as a result of this series of meetings to date. The Department of Justice and EEOC, supplemented by funding from the National Institute on Disability and Rehabilitation Research, jointly developed the booklet The Americans with Disabilities Actionated on and Answers and the ADA Handbook. The Department of Justice and EECC have collaborated on a distribution strategy for the ADA Handbook to assure its availability to public and specialty libraries, legal and advocacy organizations, disability rights organizations, and groups representing business and industry.

On October 30 and 31, a meeting was held in the Washington, D.C. area for all grantees, contractors and subcontractors funded by Federal agencies for the purpose of providing technical assistance on the ADA. Included in the meeting were representatives of: 1) Regional Disability and Business Accommodation Centers, Materials Development Projects, and National Training Projects funded by the National Institute on Disability and Rehabilitation Research; 2) The Institute on Disability and Rehabilitation and Independent Living Personnel funded by the Department of Justice; Administration; and 4) the National Training Program for Individuals with Disabilities funded by the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission. In total, 31 faderally-funded ADA technical assistance projects wars represented. EEOC and Department of Justice staff provided detailed presentations on the provisions of the final regulations for Titles I, II and III of the ADA, as well as information on the availability of technical assistance materials from both agencies.

As required by the Act, EEOC and the Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs of the U.S. Department of Labor promulgated coordination regulations to set forth procedures governing the processing of complaints that fall within the overlapping jurisdiction of Title I of the ADA and Section 503 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended. In addition to this proposed regulation, issued in the form of a memorandum of understanding (MOU), EEOC will participate in training of OFCCP staff and provide ample supplies of technical assistance materials regarding the employment provisions of the ADA. The EEOC-developed poster, advising applicants and employees of their right to protection from employment discrimination, will include information





on the laws enforced by OFCCP. The Commission anticipates distributing approximately 500,000 copies of the new poster in calendar-year 1992.

Similar coordination regulations and activities between the Commission and the Department of Justice will address potential enforcement conflicts between the ADA and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act.

All of the Federal agencies participating in the coordination meetings have assisted or provided input in the distribution of EEOC and Department of Justice ADA technical assistance materials. The Commission also has reviewed and provided comment on technical assistance materials developed by these agencies.

7. Accessibility Issues

Some of the local caseloads will involve allegations of discrimination by people with disabilities who will need to have the case documents in an accessible format, such as braille or computer disc. Can you tell us how your offices are prsparing to deal with these situations?

BECC needs to make available in accessible format key documents such as the interpretive index and the compliance manual. Please explain the timetable for accomplishing this and also describe the distribution methods you will use to make sure that people with disabilities will have access to these documents.

Any forms which a charging party will be required to fill out him or herself, such as the Intake Questionnairs, will be available in accessible format, such as braille, or through the interpretation of a reader. Also, a charging party who is vision-impaired or severely dyslexic who requests access to his or her case file through the Freedom of Information Act or in order to file private suit will be provided with a reader, such as an investigator, who is capable of interpreting the file. Translating entire case files into braille would be unduly time consuming and expensive; moreover, many subtle aspects of documents which may be key to their importance as evidence cannot be conveyed by straight translation of the text, i.e. notes in the margin, charts which must be visualized to be understood, etc. In the Commission's experience, providing readers/translators for charging parties who do not speak English has proven to be the most effective method of interpretation.

EEOC's ADA Title I final regulations, including the interpretive appendix is available from the Commission in the standard alternative formats (i.e., braille, large print, electronic file on computer disk, and audio-tape) to make it accessible to persons with visual impairments.



The <u>ADA Technical Assistance Manual</u>, to be published in January 1992, will be available from the Commission in the aforementioned standard alternate formats.

The <u>ADA Handbook</u>, published jointly by the Department of Justice and EEOC, is available from the Department of Justice in the same standard alternate formats.

In addition to the ADA Technical Assistance Manual, the agancy is also developing sections on the ADA for the EEOC Compliance Manual. The Compliance Manual is an internal document that instructs Commission investigators and lawyers on the law, policy interpretations and procedures to be used in processing charges under all of the statutes enforced by the Commission. The two large volumes are constantly evolving with squal employment law.

The Commission does not sell, lend, or send copies of the entire Manual to the public. The Manual is, however, available for review and use by the public at the Commission's headquarters library and all Commission field offices. Pursuant to section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, and the Commission's implementing regulations (29 C.F.R. Part 1615), the Commission will make its Compliance Manual available to visually-impaired members of the public under the same restrictions that it imposes on the non-disabled public. When an individual with a visual impairment makes an appointment with the library to use the Compliance Manual (as non-disabled members of the public are required to do), he or she can request the services of a Commission-provided reader. The library also has various audio and magnification equipment and software, including a VTEX reader. In addition, an individual can request, in advance, or after visiting the library, that the needed portion or section of the Compliance Manual be made available in an just as a non-disabled person can photocopy sections of the Manual while at the library. At this time, the older sections of the Compliance Manual are not on computer disk, but those later sections that are on disk can be made available in that format or in braille. Requests for these formats are handled on a case-byaccessible format, such as on audio-tape, to take from the library, The Commission will make every effort to respond to case basis. such requests as quickly as possible.

The EEOC Compliance Manual is also published and sold by the Bureau of National Affairs (SNA), the Commerce Clearinghouse (CCH), and several other commercial publishing houses. They do not, however, contract with the Commission for its publication. The Commission will make one copy of the Compliance Manual available to any publisher who requests a copy for the purpose of publishing it. The publisher is not, however, under any contractual obligation to publish the Manual. The Commission is ready to make the Compliance Manual available to any entity, such as the National Library Service for the Blind of the Library of Congress, the American Printing House for the Blind or Recordings for the Blind, Inc.,



that would like to publish the Compliance Manual in an accessible format. Further, the Commission is surveying various national organizations representing individuals who are blind or visually impaired to determine the potential market for the Manual in various alternate formats. This publication will be made available to publishers with experience in publishing the Manual, but with no prior history of accessible formats for publications.

8. Maritime Industry

Given the fact that the maritime industry is responsible under admiralty law to provide a seaworthy vessel in terms of equipment and personnel, how will the REOC view current physical qualifying factors practiced within the industry in the context of ADA provisions?

Will the REOC work with the U.S. Coast Guard, other involved federal agencies, and the industry to determine whether physical qualifying factors currently in use and relevant maritime statutes and regulations currently in effect are consistent with ADA provisions?

If it is discerned that inconsistencies exist between the ADA and current industry practice in determining fitness for duty, as required under existing maritime statutes and regulations, what course of action will be expected from the maritime industry and, when making its decision, what weight will the REOC place on existing maritime laws and regulations? Will the ADA preempt existing relevant maritime statutes and regulations?

Like other transportation industries, the maritime industry has established certain physical and mental qualification standards for its employees (in the case of the maritime industry, able seamen and other crew members). The United States Coast Guard also has regulations and guidelines concerning the ritness of crew members.

Under the Commission's ADA regulations, where a federal law or regulation requires an employer to take a certain action that would conflict with the ADA, or prohibits an employer from taking a certain action that would otherwise be required by the ADA, the federal law or regulation can be used as a defense to an ADA charge of discrimination. Therefore, to the extent that the maritime industry applies a qualification standard required by the Coast Guard, it may continue to use that standard and will not be found to have violated the Title I implementing regulations.

The purpose of allowing the defense of conflicting federal laws under the Commission's Title I regulations is to ensure that employers are not caught in the middle of conflicting federal





requirements, and that any potential conflicts between the ADA and other federal laws or regulations are resolved directly between the federal agencies.

Pursuant to Executive Order 12067, all federal departments and agencies are required to advise and offer to consult with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) regarding any proposed rules, regulations, policies, procedures, or orders concerning equal employment opportunity, except those issuances related to internal management and administration. Inasmuch as regulations pertaining to physical or mental qualifications required of crew members would affect the equal employment opportunities of individuals with disabilities in the maritime industry, such regulations and policies are to be submitted to the EEOC for review for consistency with the ADA. In addition, the EEOC may review existing federal regulations and initiate the coordination process where appropriate. The issuing agency will be requested to bring its regulations into compliance with the ADA standards if inconsistences exist. In this manner, employers will not be caught in an untenable position and individuals with disabilities will be assured broader access to employment.

In the event that state or local laws, regulations, or ordinances establish requirements for crew members of vessels operating within their jurisdiction, any conflict with the ADA will be resolved in favor of the ADA, a federal statute.

To the extent that the maritime industry has established its own physical or mental qualifications, such qualifications must be job-related and consistent with business necessity if they screen out or tend to screen out individuals with disabilities. Where safety is implicated, the employer must show that individuals with disabilities who do not meet the established qualifications pose a direct threat to the health or safety of themselves or others that cannot be eliminated or reduced to an acceptable level by reasonable accommodation. As indicated in our answer to question 1, the direct threat standard requires a showing that an individual with a disability would incur a significant risk of substantial harm if (s)he performed the job in question. It should be noted that this same direct threat standard will be applied to federal regulations during the interagency coordination process pursuant to Executive Order 12067.

Under the ADA, is physical agility testing considered a medical exam? Can physical agility testing be performed before the tentative job offer? Under the ADA, can one distinguish between the routine and dangerous employment conditions when determining an applicant's ability to perform physically strenuous tasks?

The Interpretive Guidance published as an Appendix to the Commission's final regulations specifically provides that

10



"[p]hysical agility tests are not medical tests and so ray be given at any point in the application or employment process." 56 FR 35750. Thus, they can be administered before a conditional job offer is extended.

An applicant with a disability must be able to perform the essential functions of the position held or desired with or without reasonable accommodation. If the essential functions of the position require the individual to perform "physically strenuous tasks" in "dangerous" situations, an employer can establish and apply job-related qualifications that are necessary for the performance of such functions.

Under the ADA, can an employer ask an employee to explain/demonstrate how he would perform the job when returning after an injury?

For purposes of the ADA, "returning employees" are considered to be employees, not applicants. An employer is prohibited from making any medical inquiry as to whether an employee has a disability unless such inquiry is job-related and consistent with business necessity.

An employer may ask an employee, a "returning employee," or an applicant to describe or to demonstrate how s/he can perform jobrelated functions with or without reasonable accommodation. It should be noted, however, that the returning employee is qualified under the ADA if (s)he can perform the essential functions of the job with or without reasonable accommodation.

Is an inquiry into the history of an individual's worker's compensation claim a prohibited pre-employment inquiry? Is an inquiry into a candidate's worker's compensation history permissible when job related and consistent with business necessity?

Inquiries about an applicant's workers' compensation history are not permissible at the pre-offer stage inasmuch as such questions are likely to reveal medical information (i.e., their history of work-related injuries) that an employer could not inquire into directly. However, inquiry into a person's workers' compensation history may be made after a conditional offer of employment has been extended.

Inquiries at the post-offer stage do not have to be jobrelated and consistent with business necessity. However, if an offer of employment made to an individual with a disacility is subsequently withdrawn because of a disability, the exclusionary selection criterion must be job-related and consistent with business necessity. If safety to self or others is implicated, an



employer may consider an applicant's history of numerous on-the-job injuries in determining whether, in doing the job in question, (s) he would pose a high probability of substantial harm that cannot be eliminated or reduced to an acceptable level by reasonable accommodation. The fact that a person has filed numerous workers' compensation claims on previous jobs does not, in and of itself, prove that there exists a high probability of substantial harm.

Under the ADA, if there are two identical applicants for a position and one has an ability to perform a marginal job function and the other is unable to perform this function, is the employer required to hire the disabled individual?

An employer may hire the "best qualified" applicant for a position. The ADA, however, prohibits an employer from denying a job to a qualified individual with a disability because of the disability. For this reason, an employer could not refuse to hire an individual who could perform the essential functions of a position because the individual's disability prevented him or her from performing a marginal function.

The EEOC regulations cite that it would be unlawful for an employer to reject an otherwise qualified applicant whose spouse has a disability because of the belief that the applicant would have to miss work frequently or leave work early to care for the spouse. Is it lawful in such a situation for the employer to ask the applicant if he/she would be required to miss work because of the spouse? If the applicant answers in the affirmative, is it then lawful to deny the applicant employment?

The ADA does not prohibit an employer from asking an applicant if (s)he would be required to miss work because of a spouse's disability. An employer could deny employment to such an applicant who indicated that (s)he could not meet an employer's established time and attendance policies. However, if the applicant indicated that (s)he could satisfy such policies or if the applicant indicated that (s)he would not miss any work because of a disabled spouse and was nonetheless denied the job, the employer's question might be probative of an intent to discriminate on the basis of the applicant's relation with a person with a disability.

The ADA requires that reasonable accommodations be made for the disabled. This namely applies to changes in the workplace, does it also apply to changes on vessels or towboats?

The duty to accommodate applies to any place of work used by a qualified individual with a disability. Vessels and towboats, therefore, might have to be modified to meet the accessibility needs of a particular employee, if that would not impose an undue





hardship. Clearly, vessels and towboats are very different work environments from offices, and this would be a relevant factor in determining undue hardship in at least two respects. First, an accommodation is not required if it would fundamentally alter or disrupt the amployer's business or present significant difficulty. Second, an accommodation that imposes a significant expense on an employer in relation to the employer's available resources is also not required.

Does the REOC plan to provide technical assistance to trade associations regulating the maritime industry?

The EEOC is providing specific technical assistance to the maritime industry through its review of an industry "Information Guide on the ADA". In January of 1992, the Commission will publish its Technical Assistance Manual which will be available to the maritime industry as well as to the general public. The Manual will be a major "how to" resource for employers, with guidance on reasonable accommodation as well as other aspects of compliance. The Manual will also include a directory of technical assistance resources.

9. General Health of EEOC/ADEA Claims

What actions are being taken by BEOC to ensure that age discrimination charges are processed in time, by both BEOC district offices and FEPAs, to meet the ADRA's two-year statute of limitations? Will it be necessary for Congress to pass an "ADCAR III" during the 102d Congress?

EEOC has taken many significant measures to prevent ADEA charges from lapsing the two-year statute of limitations:

- * In FY 1988 EEOC field offices were instructed to resolve ADEA charges that were nearing the statute of limitations on a priority basis. EEOC was able to assign 128 additional investigators. Since then, EEOC has resolved more ADEA charges than it has received to process.
- * Improvements to EEOC's computerized tracking systems began in 1986 and have been further developed and improved without additional appropriated funds. These systems have allowed the agency to establish tracking programs for past and current records and permit us to analyze and monitor enforcement activities nationwide.
- * The improvements in computer systems provided EEOC the tools to develop a comprehensive case management system. A series of programs were developed to monitor the movement of charges by units



and office. Programs allow managers to track ADEA charges by date of alleged violation or by expiration date of the filing suit rights. On specific dates for ADEA charges, written notices are mailed to Charging Parties advising of their suit rights.

- * EROC has not had comprehensive training since 1987. However, in FY 1991 we spent \$1.2 million to provide some initial training to EEOC staff: investigative staff in improved investigative techniques; field office directors and supervisors in supervisory responsibilities and implementation of the charge management programs; computer and data operators on ways to better utilize agency computers to assist office management. Headquarters management staff also developed a series of routine reports to enhance the monitoring of charges and some training videos to provide ongoing on-the-job training to the staff.
- EEOC took action to prevent the inadvertent lapsing of the federal statute of limitations of charges being processed by FEPAs.
- * In April 1988 field offices were instructed to immediately implement a system to monitor charges processed by FEPAs.
- * EFOC District Directors were instructed to contact the FEPAs within their jurisdictions to ensure that age charges were handled on a priority basis.
- * The FEPAs were asked in April 1989 to reconcile their local data bases with a National Data Base printout of lapsed age charges in the FEPAs.
- On July 6, 1990 the field offices were told to identify every age charge in an FEPA's inventory that had aged 15 months from the date of violation and "to assume jurisdiction over each FEPA age charge which is still open in an FEPA's inventory after 16 months." FEPAs would not receive contract credit for charges still open after 16 months.
- * For FY 1992 the field offices are being instructed to "assume jurisdiction over each FEPA age charge which is still open after 14 months from the date of the earliest alleged violation." This authority is being written into the worksharing agreements for FY 1992.
- * Until fiscal year 1991, District Directors were held accountable for lapsed ADEA charges in their own office's inventory. But in the FY 1991 mid-year performance reviews, Field Management underscored these Directors' responsibility for ADEA charges lapsing in their FEPAs' inventory.



- * EEOC is working to implement a uniform case management system in the FEPAs which should help them track and monitor age charges. In FY 1992, the Commission will adapt the case management training for EEOC supervisors to the needs of FEPA enforcement managers.
- * EEOC has established a State and Local Division in the proposed Charge Resolution and Review Program that will allow more centralized EEOC influence over the FEPA operation and allow additional review of the quality of FEPAs' charge resolutions.

Recent passage of the Civil Rights Act of 1991 which eliminates the two-year statute of limitations under the ADEA, together with the measures EEOC has taken to gain greater control over its workload preclude the necessity for additional ADCAA legislation.

10. Statistics

How many individuals 18 to 64 years old have disabilities?

Of the noninstitutionalized U.S. population over 15 years old, an estimated 7.5 percent (13.5 million people) are severely limited in the functions of seeing, hearing, speaking, lifting or carrying, walking, using stairs, getting around inside or outside, or getting into and out of bed.

Of the 13.3 million people with a work disability (8.6 percent of the working age population -- 16 to 64 years old), 33.6 percent are in the labor force and 15.6 percent are unemployed. These values are very different from those of the population with no disability (140.0 million) which has a labor force participation rate of 78.5 percent, and an unemployment rate of 6.8 percent. Only 19.7 percent of the people with a work disability are employed full-time. In comparison, 59.4 percent of people without a work disability are employed full-time. (1987) Source: Chartbook on Disability in the United States, National Institute on Disability and Rehabilitation Research, U.S. Department of Education, 1989.

It is important to keep in mind that the definition of disability used by governmental entities for the purpose of collecting population statistics may not be immediately comparable to the definition of disability applicable to the ADA. In passing the ADA, Congress adopted the definition of disability from the Rehabilitation Act definition of the term "individual with handicaps." By so doing, Congress intended that the relevant caselaw developed under the Rehabilitation Act be generally applicable to the term "disability" as used in the ADA.

The definition of the term "disability" is divided into three parts. An individual must satisfy at least one of these parts in order to be considered an individual with a disability for purposes



15

of the ADA. An individual is considered to have a "disability" if that individual either (1) has a physical or mental impairment which substantially limits one or more of that person's major life activities, (2) has a record of such an impairment, or, (3) is regarded by the covered entity as having such an impairment.

To understand the meaning of the term "disability," it is necessary to understand, as a preliminary matter, what is meant by the terms "physical or mental impairment," "major life activity," and "substantially limits."

Physical or mental impairment in the ADA adopts the definition of the term "physical or mental impairment" found in the regulations implementing Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act at 34 CFR part 104. It defines physical or mental impairment as any physiological disorder or condition, cosmetic disfigurement, or anatomical loss affecting one or more of several body systems, or any mental or psychological disorder.

The existence of an impairment is to be determined without regard to mitigating measures such as medicines, or assistive or prosthetic devices. For example, an individual with epilepsy would be considered to have an impairment even if the symptoms of the disorder were completely controlled by medicine. Similarly, an individual with hearing loss would be considered to have an impairment even if the condition were correctable through the use of a hearing aid.

It is important to distinguish between conditions that are impairments and physical, psychological, environmental, cultural and economic characteristics that are not impairments. The definition of the term "impairment" does not include physical characteristics such as eve color, hair color, left-handedness, or height, weight or muscle tone that are within "normal" range and are not the result of a physiological disorder. The definition, likewise, does not include characteristic predisposition to illness or disease. Other conditions, such as pregnancy, that are not the result of a physiological disorder are also not impairments. Similarly, the definition does not include common personality traits such as poor judgment or a quick temper where these are not symptoms of a mental or psychological disorder. Environmental, cultural, or economic disadvantages such as poverty, lack of education or a prison record are not impairments. Advanced age, in and of itself, is also not an impairment. However, various medical conditions commonly associated with age, such as hearing loss, osteoporosis, or arthritis would constitute impairments within the meaning of the ADA.

Major life activities in the ADA adopts the definition of the term "major life activities" found in the regulations implementing Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act at 34 CFR part 104. "Major life activities" are those basic activities that the average person



in the general population can perform with little or no difficulty. Major life activities include caring for oneself, performing manual tasks, walking, seeing, hearing, speaking, breathing, learning, and working. This list is not exhaustive. For example, other major life activities include, but are not limited to, sitting, standing, lifting, reaching.

Determining whether a physical or mental impairment exists is only the first step in determining whether or not an individual is disabled. Many impairments do not impact an individual's life to the degree that they constitute disabling impairments. An impairment rises to the level of disability if the impairment substantially limits one or more of the individual's major life activities. Multiple impairments that combine to substantially limit one or more of an individual's major life activities also constitute a disability.

The ADA and EEOC regulations implementing the ADA, like the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, do not attempt a "laundry list" of impairments that are "disabilities." The determination of whether an individual has a disability is not necessarily based on the name or diagnosis of the impairment the person has, but rather on the effect of that impairment on the life of the individual. Some impairments may be disabling for particular individuals but not for chers, depending on the stage of the disease or disorder, the presence of other impairments that combine to make the impairment disabling or any number of other factors. Other impairments, however, such as HIV infection, are inherently substantially limiting.

On the other hand, temporary, non-chronic impairments of short duration, with little or no long term or permanent impact, are usually not disabilities. Such impairments may include, but are not limited to, broken limbs, sprained joints, concussions, appendicitis, and influenza. Similarly, except in rare circumstances, obesity is not considered a disabling impairment.

An impairment that prevents an individual from performing a major life activity substantially limits that major life activity. For example, an individual whose legs are paralyzed is substantially limited in the major life activity of walking because he or she is unable, due to the impairment, to perform that major life activity.

Alternatively, an impairment is substantially limiting if it significantly restricts the duration, manner or condition under which an individual can perform a particular major life activity as compared to the average person in the general population's ability to perform that same major life activity. Thus, for example, an individual who, because of an impairment, can only walk for very brief periods of time would be substantially limited in the major life activity of walking. An individual who uses artificial legs



would likewise be substantially limited in the major life activity of walking because the individual is unable to walk without the aid of prosthetic devices. Similarly, a diabetic who without insulin would lapse into a come would be substantially limited because the individual cannot perform major life activities without the aid of medication.

EEOC Title I regulations note several factors that should be considered in making the determination of whether an impairment is substantially limiting. These factors are (1) the nature and severity of the impairment, (2) the duration or expected duration of the impairment, and (3) the permanent or long term impact, or the expected permanent or long term impact of, or resulting from, the impairment. The term "duration," as used in this context, refers to the length of time an impairment persists, while the term "impact" refers to the residual effects of an impairment. Thus, for example, a broken leg that takes eight weeks to heal is an impairment of fairly brief duration. However, if the broken leg heals improperly, the "impact" of the impairment would be the resulting permanent limp. Likewise, the effect on compliative functions resulting from traumatic head injury would the "impact" of that impairment.

The determination of whether an individual is substantially limited in a major life activity must be made on a case by case basis, without regard to mitigating measures such as medicines, or assistive or prosthetic devices. An individual is not substantially limited in a major life activity if the limitation, when viewed in light of the factors noted above, does not amount to a significant restriction when compared with the abilities of the average person. For example, an individual who had once been able to walk at an extraordinary speed would not be substantially limited in the major life activity of walking if, as a result of a physical impairment, he or she were only able to walk at an average speed, or even at moderately below average speed.

It is important to remember that the restriction on the performance of the major life activity must be the result of a condition that is an impairment. As noted earlier, advanced age, physical or personality characteristics, and environmental, cultural, and economic disadvantages are not impairments. Consequently, even if such factors substantially limit an individual's ability to perform a major life activity, this limitation will not constitute a disability. For example, an individual who is unable to read because he or she was never taught to read would not be an individual with a disability because lack of sducation is not an impairment. However, an individual who is unable to read because of dyslexia would be an individual with a disability because dyslexia, a learning disability, is an impairment.

18



If an individual is not substantially limited with respect to any other major life activity, the individual's ability to perform the major life activity of working should be considered. If an individual is substantially limited in any other major life activity, no determination should be made as to whether the individual is substantially limited in working. For example, if an individual is blind, i.g., substantially limited in the major life activity of seeing, there is no need to determine whether the individual is also substantially limited in the major life activity of working. The determination of whether an individual is substantially limited in working must also be made on a case by case basis.

The regulations implementing the ADA Title I provisions list specific factors that may be used in making the determination of whether the limitation in working is "substantial." These factors are:

- the geographical area to which the individual has reasonable access;
- (2) the job from which the individual has been disqualified because of an impairment, and the number and types of jobs utilizing similar training, knowledge, skills or abilities, within that geographical area, from which the individual is also disqualified because of the impairment (class of jobs); and/or
- (3) the job from which the individual has been disqualified because of an impairment, and the number and types of other jobs not utilizing similar training, knowledge, skills or abilities, within that geographical area, from which the individual is also disqualified because of the impairment (broad range of jobs in various classes).

Thus, an individual is not substantially limited in working just because he or she is unable to perform a particular job for one amployer, or because he or she is unable to perform a specialized job or profession requiring extraordinary skill, provess or talent. For example, an individual who cannot be a commercial airline pilot because of a minor vision impairment, but who can be a commercial airline co-pilot or a pilot for a courier service, would not be substantially limited in the major life activity of working. Nor would a professional baseball pitcher who devalops a bad elbow and can no longer throw a baseball be considered substantially limited in the major life activity of working. In both of these examples, the individuals are not substantially limited in the ability to perform any other major life activity and, with regard to the major life activity of working, are only unable to perform either a particular specialized job or a narrow range of jobs.





on the other hand, an individual does not have to be totally unable to work in order to be considered substantially limited in the major life activity of working. An individual is substantially limited in working if the individual is significantly restricted in the ability to perform a class of jobs or a broad range of jobs in various classes, when compared with the ability of the average person with comparable qualifications to perform those same jobs. For example, an individual who has a back condition that prevents the individual from performing any heavy labor job would be substantially limited in the major life activity of working because the individual's impairment eliminates his or her ability to perform a class of jobs. This would be so even if the individual were able to perform jobs in another class, fig., the class of semi-skilled jobs. Similarly, suppose an individual has an allergy to a substance found in most high rise office buildings, but seldom found elsewhere, that makes breathing extremely difficult. Since this individual would be substantially limited in the ability to perform the broad range of jobs in various classes that are conducted in high rise office buildings within the geographical area to which he or she has reasonable access, he or she would be substantially limited in working.

The terms "number and types of jobs" and "number and types of other jobs," as used in the factors discussed above, are not intended to require an onerous evidentiary showing. Rather, the terms only require the presentation of evidence of general employment demographics and/or of recognized occupational classifications that indicate the approximate number of jobs (e.g., "few," "many," "most") from which an individual would be excluded because of an impairment.

If an individual has a "mental or physical impairment" that "substantially limits" his or her ability to perform one or more "major life activities," that individual will satisfy the first part of the regulatory definition of "disability" and will be considered an individual with a disability. An individual who satisfies this first part of the definition of the term "disability" is not required to demonstrate that he or she satisfies either of the other parts of the definition. However, if an individual is unable to satisfy this part of the definition, he or she may be able to satisfy one of the other parts of the definition.

The second part of the definition of disability provides that an individual with a record of an impairment that substantially limits a major life activity is an individual with a disability. The intent of this provision, in part, is to ensure that people are not discriminated against because of a history of disability. For example, this provision protects former cancer patients from discrimination based on their prior medical history. This provision also ensures that individuals are not discriminated against because they have been misclassified as disabled. For



example, individuals misclassified as learning disabled are protected from discrimination on the basis of that erroneous classification.

This part of the definition is satisfied if a record relied on by an employer indicates that the individual has or has had a substantially limiting impairment. The impairment indicated in the record must be an impairment that would substantially limit one or more of the individual's major life activities. There are many types of records that could potentially contain this information, including but not limited to, education, medical, or employment records.

The fact that an individual has a record of being a disabled veteran, or of disability retirement, or is classified as disabled for other purposes does not guarantee that the individual will satisfy the definition of "disability" under the ADA. Other statutes, regulations and programs may have a definition of "disability" that is not the same as the definition set forth in the ADA and contained in EEOC regulations. Accordingly, in order for an individual who has been classified in a record as "disabled" for some other purpose to be considered disabled for purposes of the ADA, the impairment indicated in the record must be a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more of the individual's major life activities.

If an individual cannot satisfy either the first part of the definition of "disability" or the second "record of" part of the definition, he or she may be able to satisfy the third part of the definition. The third part of the definition provides that an individual who is regarded by an employer or other covered entity as having an impairment that substantially limits a major life activity is an individual with a disability.

There are three different ways in which an individual may satisfy the definition of "being regarded as having a disability":

- (1) The individual may have an impairment which is not substantially limiting but is perceived by the employer or other covered entity as constituting a substantially limiting impairment;
- (2) the individual may have an impairment which is only substantially limiting because of the attitudes of others toward the impairment; or
- (3) the individual may have no impairment at all but is regarded by the employer or other covered entity as having a substantially limiting impairment.

An individual satisfies the first part of this definition if the individual has an impairment that is not substantially





limiting, but the covered entity perceives the impairment as being substantially limiting. For example, suppose an employee has controlled high blood pressure that is not substantially limiting. If an employer reassigns the individual to less stranuous work because of unsubstantiated fears that the individual will suffer a heart attack if he or she continues to perform stranuous work, the employer would be regarding the individual as disabled.

An individual satisfies the second part of the "regarded as" definition if the individual has an impairment that is only substantially limiting because of the attitudes of others toward the condition. For example, an individual may have a prominent facial scar or disfigurement, or may have a condition that periodically causes an involuntary jerk of the head but does not limit the individual's major life activities. If an employer discriminates against such an individual because of the negative reactions of customers, the employer would be regarding the individual as disabled and acting on the basis of that perceived disability.

An individual satisfies the third part of the "regarded as" definition of "disability" if the employer or other covered entity erroneously believes the individual has a substantially limiting impairment that the individual actually does not have. This situation or 120 cour, for example, if an employer discharged an employee for response to a rumor that the employee is infected with human Immunication by virus (HIV). Even though the rumor is totally undividual to the dered an individual has no impairment at all, the individual to the dered an individual with a disability because the employer activity of this individual as being disabled. Thus, in this example, he employer, by discharging this employee, is discriminating on the basis of disability.

The rationals for the "reg of A as" part of the definition of disability was articulated by the Supreme Court in the context of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 in School Board of Nassau County V. Arling, 480 U.S. 273 (1987). The Court noted that, although an individual may have an impairment that does not in fact substantially limit a major life activity, the reaction of others may prove just as disabling. "Such an impairment might not diminish a person's physical or mental capabilities, but could nevertheless substantially limit that person's ability to work as a result of the negative reactions of others to the impairment." 480 U.S. at 283. The Court concluded that by including "regarded as" in the Rehabilitation Act's definition, "Congress acknowledged that society's accumulated myths and fears about disability and diseases are as handicapping as are the physical limitations that flow from actual impairment." 480 U.S. at 284.

An individual rejected from a job because of the "myths, fears and sterotypes" associated with disabilities would be covered under this part of the definition of disability, whether or not the



employer's or other covered entity's perception were shared by others in the field and whether or not the individual's actual physical or mental condition would be considered a disability under the first or second part of this definition. As the legislative history notes, sociologists have identified common attitudinal barriers that frequently result in employers excluding individuals with disabilities. These include concerns regarding productivity, safety, insurance, liability, attendance, cost of accommodation and accessibility, workers' compensation costs, and acceptance by coworkers and customers.

Therefore, if an individual can show that an employer or other covered entity made an employment decision because of a perception of disability based on "myth, fear or stereotype," the individual will satisfy the "regarded as" part of the definition of disability. If the employer cannot articulate a non-discriminatory reason for the employment action, an inference that the employer is acting on the basis of "myth, fear or stereotype" can be drawn.



23



FACTS ABOUT DISABILITY-RELATED TAX PROVISIONS

The three disability-related provisions in the Internal Revenue Code are of particular interest to businesses and people with disabilities.

TARGETED JOBS TAX CREDIT (Title 26, Internal Revenue Code, section 51)

Employers are eligible to receive a tax credit in the amount of 40 percent of the first \$6,000 of first-year wages of a new employee who has a disability. There is no credit after the first year of employment. For an employer to qualify for the credit, a worker must have been employed for at least 90 days or have completed at least 120 hours of work for the employer. The Revenue Reconciliation Act of 1990, Public Law 101-508, extended this tax credit through December 31, 1991.

TAX DEDUCTION TO REMOVE ARCHITECTURAL AND TRANSPORTATION BARRIERS TO PEOPLE WITH PISABILITIES AND ELDERLY INDIVIDUALS

(Title 26, Internal Revenue Code, section 190)

Allows a deduction for "qualified architectural and transportation barrier removal expenses." Only expenditures that are for the purpose of making any facility or public transportation vehicle owned or leased by the taxpayer for use in coanection with his or her trade or business more accessible to, and usable by, handicapped and elderly individuals are eligible for the deduction. The taxpayer must establish, to the satisfaction of the Secretary of the Treasury, that the resulting removal of the barrier meets the standards promulgated by the Secretary with the concurrence of the U.S. Architectural and Transportation Barriers Compliance Board.

For purposes of this section, a "handicapped individual" is any individual who has a physical or mental disability (including, but not limited to, deafness and blindness) which, for that individual, constitutes or results in a functional limitation to employment, or who has any physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more major life activities of the individual

The deduction may not exceed \$15,000 for any taxable year. (The maximum deduction had been \$35,000 prior to passage of Public Law 101-508 in 1990, which lowered the maximum deduction.)

(over)



DISABLED ACCESS TAX CREDIT (Title 26, Internal Revenue Code, section 44)

This tax credit is available to "eligible small businesses" in the amount of 50 percent of "eligible access expenditures" for the taxable year that exceed \$250 but do not exceed \$10,250.

"Eligible small businesses" are those businesses with either:

- a) \$1 million or less in gross receipts for the preceding tax year; or
- b) 30 or fewer full-time employees during the preceding tax year.

"Eligible access expenditures" means amounts paid or incurred by an eligible small business for the purpose of enabling the small business to comply with the applicable requirements under ADA. Certain types of expenditures are listed as included under the meaning of the term "eligible access expenditures." These include amounts paid or incurred:

i) for the purpose of removing architectural, communication, physical, or transportation berriers that prevent a business from being accessible to, or usable by, individuals with disabilities;

ii) to provide qualified readers, taped texts, and other effective methods of making visually delivered materials available to people with visual impairments;

iii) to provide qualified interpreters or other effective methods of making surally delivered materials available to individuals with hearing impairments;

iv) to acquire or modify equipment, or devices for individuals with disabilities; or

v) to provide other similar services, modifications, materials or equipment.

Expenditures that are not necessary to accomplish the above mentioned purposes are not eligible. Expenses in connection with new construction are not eligible. "Disability" has the same meaning as it does in the ADA. Barrier removals or the provision of services, modifications, materials, or equipment must meet standards promulgated by the Secretary in order to be eligible.

Example: Company A purchases equipment to meet its reasonable accommodation obligation under ADA for \$8,000. The amount by which \$8,000 exceeds \$250 is \$7,750. Fifty percent of \$7,750 is \$3,875. The employer may take a tax credit in the amount of \$3,875 on its next tax return.

Example: Company B removes a physical barrier in accordance with its reasonable accommodation obligation under ADA. The barrier removal meets standards promulgated by the Secretary. The company expends \$12,000 on this barrier removal. The amount by which \$12,000 exceeds \$250 but not \$10,250 is a full \$10,000. Fifty percent of \$10,000 is \$5,000. Company B is eligible for a \$5,000 tax credit on its next tax return.

For further information on these provisions, contact the Internal Revenue Service, Office of the Chief Counsel, P.O. Box 7604, Ben Franklin Station, Washington, DC 20044 (voice only).

December 1991

EEOC-FS/E6



Appendix G

Tax Provisions

Disability-Related Tax Provisions Applicable to Businesses

The three disability-related provisions in the Internal Revenue Code applicable to businesses described below are of particular interest to businesses and people with disabilities:

1) Targeted Jobs Tax Credit (Title 26, Internal Revenue Code, section 51)

Employers are eligible to receive a tax credit in the amount of 40 percent of the first \$6,000 of first-year wages of a new employee who has a disability. There is no credit after the first year of employment. For an employer to qualify for the credit, a worker must have been employed for at least 90 days or have completed at least 120 hours of work for the employer. The Revenue Reconciliation Act of 1990, Public Law 101-508, extended this tax credit through December 31, 1991.

 Tax Deduction to Remove Architectural and Transportation Barriers to People with Disabilities and Elderly Individuals (Title 26, Internal Revenue Code, section 190)

Allows a deduction for "qualified architectural and transportation barrier removal expenses." Only expenditures that are for the purpose of making any facility or public transportation vehicle owned or leased by the tax-payer for use in connection with his or her trade or business more accessible to, and usable by, handicapped and elderly individuals are eligible for the deduction. The taxpayer must establish, to the satisfaction of the Secretary of the Treasury, that the resulting removal of the barrier meets the standards promulgated by the Secretary with the concurrence of the U.S. Architectural and Transportation Barriers Compliance Board.

For purposes of this section, a "handicapped individual" is any individual who has a physical or mental disability (including, but not limited to, deafness and blindness) which, for that individual, constitutes or results in a functional limitation to employment, or who has any physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more major life activities of that individual.

The deduction may not exceed \$15,000 for any taxable year. (The maximum deduction had been \$35,000 prior to passage of Public Law 101-508 in 1990, which lowered the maximum deduction.)

3) Disabled Access Tax Credit (Title 26, Internal Revenue Code, section 44)

This tax credit is available to "eligible small businesses" in the amount of 50 percent of "eligible access expenditures" for the taxable year that exceed \$250 but do not exceed \$10,250.

ADA Handbook



Tax Provisions

Appendix G

T. C. C.

"Eligible small businesses" are those businesses with either:

a) \$1 million or less in gross receipts for the preceding tax year

OR

b) 30 or fewer full-time employees during the preceding tax year.

"Eligible access expenditures" means amounts paid or incurred by an eligible small business for the purpose of enabling the small business to comply with applicable requirements under ADA. Certain types of expenditures are listed as included under the meaning of the term "eligible access expenditures." These include amounts paid or incurred:

- for the purpose of removing architectural, communication, physical, or transportation barriers that prevent a business from being accessible to, or usable by, individuals with disabilities;
- ii) to provide qualified readers, taped texts, and other effective methods of making visually delivered materials available to people with visual impairments;
- iii) to provide qualified interpreters or other effective methods of making aurally delivered materials available to individuals with hearing impairments;
- iv) to acquire or modify equipment, or devices for individuals with disabilities, or
- v) to provide other similar services, modifications, materials, or equipment.

Expenditures that are not necessary to accomplish the above mentioned purposes are not eligible. Expenses in connection with new construction are not eligible. "Disability" has the same meaning as it does in the ADA. Barrier removals or the provision of services, modifications, materials, or equipment must meet standards promulgated by the Secretary in order to be eligible.

Example: Company A purchases equipment to meet its reasonable accommodation obligation under ADA for \$8,000. The amount by which \$8,000 exceeds \$250 is \$7,750. Fifty percent of \$7,750 is \$3,875. The employer may take a tax credit in the amount of \$3,875 on its next tax return.

2

ADA Handbook



Appendix G

Tax Provisions

Example: Company B removes a physical barrier in accordance with its reasonable accommodation obligation under ADA. The barrier removal meets standards promulgated by the Secretary.

The company expends \$12,000 on this barrier removal. The amount by which \$12,000 exceeds \$250 but not \$10,250 is a full \$10,000. Fifty percent of \$10,000 is \$5,000. Company B is eligible for a \$5,000 tax credit on its next tax return.

For further information on these provisions, contact the Internal Revenue Service, Office of the Chief Counsel, P.O. Box 7604, Ben Franklin Station, Washington D.C. 20044 (202) 566-3292 (voice only).

ADA Handbook







The Americans with Disabilities Act Questions and Answers



Introduction

Barriers to employment, transportation, public accommodations, public services, and telecommunications have imposed staggering economic and social costs on American society and have undermined our well-intentioned efforts to educate, rehabilitate, and employ individuals with disabilities. By breaking down these barriers, the Americans with Disabilities Act will enable society to benefit from the skills and talents of individuals with disabilities, will allow us all to gain from their increased purchasing power and ability to use it, and will lead to fuller, more productive lives for all Americans.

The Americans with Disabilities Act gives civil rights protections to individuals with disabilities similar to those provided to individuals on the basis of race, sex, national origin, age, and religion. It guarantees equal opportunity for individuals with disabilities in public accommodations, employment, transportation, State and local government services, and telecommunications.

Fair, swift, and effective enforcement of this landmark civil rights legislation is a high priority of the Bush Administration. This booklet is designed to provide answers to some of the most often asked questions

about the new law.

Dick Thomburgh

Attorney General

Evan J. Kemp, Jr.

Chairman, U.S. Equal

Employment Opportunity

Commission



This publication was printed with the generous support of the National Institute on Disability and Rehabilitation Research

July, 1991



Table of Camionis

Contents

	Page
Questions and Answers	
Employment	1
Public Accommodations	Ò
Miscellaneous	16
Resources	18



- Q. What employers are covered by the ADA, and when is the coverage effective?
- A. The employment provisions apply to private employers, State and local governments, employment agencies, and labor unions. Employers with 25 or more employees will be covered starting July 26, 1992, when the employment provisions go into effect. Employers with 15 or more employees will be covered two years later, beginning July 26, 1994.
- Q. What practices and activities are covered by the employment nondiscrimination requirements?
- A. The ADA prohibits discrimination in all employment practices, including job application procedures, hiring, firing, advancement, compensation, training, and other terms, conditions, and privileges of employment. It applies to recruitment, advertising, tenure, layoff, leave, fringe benefits, and all other employment-related activities.
- Q. Who is protected against employment discrimination?
- A. Employment discrimination is prohibited against "qualified individuals with disabilities." Persons discriminated against because they have a known association or relationship with a disabled individual also are protected. The ADA defines an "individual with a disability" as a person who has a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more major life activities, a record of such an impairment, or is regarded as having such an impairment.

The first part of the definition makes clear that the ADA applies to persons who have substantial, as distinct from minor, impairments, and that these must be impairments that limit major life activities such as seeing, hearing, speaking, walking, breathing, performing manual tasks, learning, caring for oneself, and working. An



individual with epilepsy, paralysis, a substantial hearing or visual impairment, mental retardation, or a learning disability would be covered, but an individual with a minor, nonchronic condition of short duration, such as a sprain, infection, or broken limb, generally would not be covered.

The second part of the definition would include, for example, a person with a history of cancer that is currently in remission or a person with a history of mental illness.

The third part of the definition protects individuals who are regarded and treated as though they have a substantially limiting disability, even though they may not have such an impairment. For example, this provision would protect a severely disfigured qualified individual from being denied employment because an employer feared the "negative reactions" of others.

Q. Who is a "qualified individual with a disability"?

A. A qualified individual with a disability is a person who meets legitimate skill, experience, education, or other requirements of an employment position that he or she holds or seeks, and who can perform the "essential functions" of the position with or without reasonable accommodation. Requiring the ability to perform "essential" functions assures that an individual will not be considered unqualified simply because of inability to perform marginal or incidental job functions. If the individual is qualified to perform essential job functions except for limitations caused by a disability, the employer must consider whether the individual could perform these functions with a reasonable accommodation. If a written job description has been prepared in advance of advertising or interviewing applicants for a job, this will be considered as evidence, although not necessarily conclusive evidence, of the essential functions of the job.



Q. Does an employer have to give preference to a qualified applicant with a disability over other applicants?

A. No. An employer is free to select the most qualified applicant available and to make decisions based on reasons unrelated to the existence or consequence of a disability. For example, if two persons apply for a job opening as a typist, one a person with a disability who accurately types 50 words per minute, the other a person without a disability who accurately types 75 words per minute, the employer may hire the applicant with the higher typing speed, if typing speed is needed for successful performance of the job.

Q. What is "reasonable accommodation"?

A. Reasonable accommodation is any modification or adjustment to a job or the work environment that will enable a qualified applicant or employee with a disability to participate in the application process or to perform essential job functions. Reasonable accommodation also includes adjustments to assure that a qualified individual with a disability has the same rights and privileges in employment as nondisabled employees.

Q. What kinds of actions are required to reasonably accommodate applicants and employees?

A. Examples of reasonable accommodation include making existing facilities used by employees readily accessible to and usable by an individual with a disability; restructuring a job; modifying work schedules; acquiring or modifying equipment; providing qualified readers or interpreters; or appropriately modifying examinations, training, or other programs. Reasonable accommodation also may include reassigning a current employee to a vacant position for which the individual is qualified, if the person becomes disabled and is unable to do the original job. However, there is no obligation to find a position for an applicant who is not qualified for the position sought. Employers are not required to lower quality or quantity standards in



order to make an accommodation, nor are the; obligated to provide personal use items such as glasses or hearing aids.

The decision as to the appropriate accommodation must be based on the particular facts of each case. In selecting the particular type of reasonable accommodation to provide, the principal test is that of effectiveness, i.e., whether the accommodation will enable the person with a disability to do the job in question.

- Q. Must employers be familiar with the many diverse types of disabilities to know whether or how to make a reasonable accommodation?
- A. No. An employer is only required to accommodate a "known" disability of a qualified applicant or employee. The requirement generally will be triggered by a request from an individual with a disability, who frequently can suggest an appropriate accommodation. Accommodations must be made on an individual basis, because the nature and extent of a disabling condition and the requirements of the job will vary in each case. If the individual does not request an accommodation, the employer is not obligated to provide one. If a disabled person requests, but cannot suggest, an appropriate accommodation, the employer and the individual should work together to identify one. There are also many public and private resources that can provide assistance without cost.
- Q. What are the limitations on the obliga ion to make a reasonable accommodation?
- A. The disabled individual requiring the accommodation must be otherwise qualified, and the disability must be known to the employer. In addition, an employer is not required to make an accommodation if it would impose an "undue hardship" on the operation of the employer's business. "Undue hardship" is defined as "an action requiring significant difficulty or expense" when considered in light of a number of factors. These factors include the nature and cost of the accommoda-



Panishar ment

tion in relation to the size, resources, nature, and structure of the employer's operation. Where the facility making the accommodation is part of a larger entity, the structure and overall resources of the larger organization would be considered, as well as the financial and administrative relationship of the facility to the larger organization. In general, a larger employer would be expected to make accommodations requiring greater effort or expense than would be required of a smaller employer.

Q. Must an employer modify existing facilities to make them accessible?

A. An employer may be required to modify facilities to enable an individual to perform essential job functions and to have equal opportunity to participate in other employment-related activities. For example, if an employee lounge is located in a place inaccessible to a person using a wheelchair, the lounge might be modified or relocated, or comparable facilities might be provided in a location that would enable the individual to take a break with co-workers.

Q. May an employer inquire as to whether a prospective employee is disabled?

A. An employer may not make a pre-employment inquiry on an application form or in an interview as to whether, or to what extent, an individual is disabled. The employer may ask a job applicant whether he or she can perferm particular job functions. If the applicant has a disability known to the employer, the employer may ask how he or she can perform job functions that the employer considers difficult or impossible to perform because of the disability, and whether an accommodation would be needed. A job offer may be conditioned on the results of a medical examination, provided that the examination is required for all entering employees in the same job category regardless of disability, and that information obtained is handled according to confidentiality requirements specified in the Act. After an employee enters on duty, all medical examinations and inquiries must be



Engloyment

job related and necessary for the conduct of the employer's business. These provisions of the law are intended to prevent the employer from basing hiring and employment decisions on unfounded assumptions about the effects of a disability.

Q. Does the ADA take safety issues into account?

A. Yes. The ADA permits employers to establish qualification standards that will exclude individuals who pose a direct threat — i.e., a significant risk — to the health and safety of the individual or of others, if that risk cannot be lowered to an acceptable level by reasonable accommodation. However, an employer may not simply assume that a threat exists; the employer must establish through objective, medically supportable methods that there is genuine risk that substantial harm could occur in the workplace. By requiring employers to make individualized judgments based on reliable medical or other objective evidence rather than on generalizations, ignorance, fear, patronizing attitudes, or stereotypes, the ADA recognizes the need to balance the interests of people with disabilities against the legitimate interests of employers in maintaining a safe workplace.

Q. Can an employer refuse to hire an applicant or fire a current employee who is illegally using drugs?

A. Yes, individuals who currently engage in the illegal use of drugs are specifically excluded from the definition of a "qualified individual with a disability" protected by the ADA when an action is taken on the basis of their drug use.

Q. Is testing for illegal drugs permissible under the ADA?

A. Yes. A test for illegal drugs is not considered a medical examination under the ADA; therefore, employers may conduct such testing of applicants or employees and make employment decisions based on the results. The ADA does not encourage, prohibit, or authorize drug tests.



- Q. Are people with AIDS covered by the ADA?
- A. Yes. The legislative history indicates that Congress intended the ADA to protect persons with AIDS and HIV direase from discrimination.
- Q. How does the ADA recognize public health concerns?
- A. No provision in the ADA is intended to supplant the role of public health authorities in protecting the community from legitimate health threats. The ADA recognizes the need to strike a balance between the right of a disabled person to be free from discrimination based on unfounded fear and the right of the public to be protected.
- Q. What is discrimination based on "relationship or association"?
- A. The ADA prohibits discrimination based on relationship or association in order to protect individuals from actions based on unfounded assumptions that their relationship to a person with a disability would affect their job performance, and from actions caused by bias or misinformation concerning certain disabilities. For example, this provision would protect a person with a disabled spouse from being denied employment because of an employer's unfounded assumption that the applicant would use excessive leave to care for the spouse. It also would protect an individual who does volunteer work for people with AIDS from a discriminatory employment action motivated by that relationship or association.
- Q. Will the ADA increase litigation burdens on employers?
- A. Some litigation is inevitable. However, employers who use the period prior to the effective date of employment coverage to adjust their policies and practices to conform to ADA requirements will be much less likely to have serious litigation concerns. In drafting the ADA, Congress relical: "avily on the language of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 and its implementing regulations. There is already an extensive body of law interpreting the requirements of that Act to



They want

which employers can turn for guidance on their ADA obligations. The Equal Employment Opportunity Commission will issue specific regulatory guidance one year before the ADA's employment provisions take effect, publish a technical assistance manual with guidance on how to comply, and provide other assistance to help employers meet ADA requirements. Equal employment opportunity for people with disabilities will be achieved most quickly and effectively through widespread voluntary compliance with the law, rather than through reliance on litigation to enforce compliance.

Q. How will the employment provisions be enforced?

A. The employment provisions of the ADA will be enforced under the same procedures now applicable to race, sex, national origin, and religious discrimination under title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. Complaints regarding actions that occur after July 26, 1992, may be filed with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or designated State human rights agencies. Available remedies will include hiring, reinstatement, back pay, and court orders to stop discrimination.

For information on how to contact the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, see page 19.



Police Vicentinalis

Public Accommodations

- Q. What are public accommodations?
- A. Public accommodations are private entities that affect commerce. The ADA public accommodations requirements extend, therefore, to a wide range of entities, such as restaurants, hotels, theaters, doctors' offices, pharmacies, retail stores, museums, libraries, parks, private schools, and day care centers. Private clubs and religious organizations are exempt from the ADA's requirements for public accommodations.
- Q. Will the ADA have any effect on the eligibility criteria used by public accommodations to determine who may receive services?
- A. Yes. If a criterion screens out or tends to screen out individuals with disabilities, it may only be used if necessary for the provision of the services. For instance, it would be a violation for a retail store to have a rule excluding all deaf persons from entering the premises, or for a movie theater to exclude all individuals with cerebral palsy. More subtle forms of discrimination are also prohibited. For example, requiring presentation of a driver's license as the sole acceptable means of identification for purposes of paying by check could constitute discrimination against individuals with vision impairments. This would be true if such individuals are ineligible to receive licenses and the use of an alternative means of identification is feasible.
- Q. Does the ADA allow public accommodations to take safety factors into consideration in providing services to individuals with disabilities?
- A. The ADA expressly provides that a public accommodation may exclude an individual, if that individual poses a direct threat to the health or safety of others that cannot be mitigated by appropriate modifications in the public accommodation's policies or procedures, or by the provision of auxiliary aids. A public accommodation will be permitted to establish objective safety criteria for the operation of its



Public Accommodations

business; however, any safety standard must be based on objective requirements rather than stereotypes or generalizations about the ability of persons with disabilities to participate in an activity.

- Q. Are there any limits on the kinds of modifications in policies, practices, and procedures required by the ADA?
- A. Yes. The ADA does not require modifications that would fundamentally alter the nature of the services provided by the public accommodation. For example, it would not be discriminatory for a physician specialist who treats only burn patients to refer a deaf individual to another physician for treatment of a broken limb or respiratory ailment. To require a physician to accept patients outside of his or her specialty would fundamentally alter the nature of the medical practice.
- Q. What kinds of auxiliary aids and services are required by the ADA to ensure effective communication with individuals with hearing or vision impairments?
- A. Appropriate auxiliary aids and services may include services and devices such as qualified interpreters, assistive listening devices, notetakers, and written materials for individuals with hearing impairments; and qualified readers, taped texts, and Brailled or large print materials for individuals with vision impairments.
- Q. Are there any limitations on the ADA's auxiliary aids requirements?
- A. Yes. The ADA does not require the provision of any auxiliary aid that would result in an undue burden or in a fundamental alteration in the nature of the goods or services provided by a public accommodation. However, the public accommodation is not relieved from the duty to furnish an alternative auxiliary aid, if available, that would not result in a fundamental alteration or undue burden. Both of these limitations are derived from existing regulations and caselaw under section 504 and are to be determined on a case-by-case basis.



Public Accommodations

- Q. Will restaurants be required to have Brailled menus?
- A. No, not if waiters or other employees are made available to read the menu to a blind customer.
- Q. Will a clothing store be required to have Brailled price tags?
- A. No. Sales personnel could provide price information orally upon request.
- Q. Will a bookstore be required to maintain a sign language interpreter on its staff in order to communicate with deaf customers?
- A. No, not if employees communicate by pen and notepad when necessary.
- Q. Are there any limitations on the ADA's barrier removal requirements for existing facilities?
- A. Yes. Barrier removal need only be accomplished when it is "readily achievable" to do so.
- Q. What does the term "readily achievable" mean?
- A. It means "easily accomplishable and able to be carried out without much difficulty or expense."
- Q. What are examples of the types of modifications that would be readily achievable in most cases?
- A. Examples include the simple ramping of a few steps, the installation of grab bars where only routine reinforcement of the wall is required, the lowering of telephones, and similar modest adjustments.
- Q. Will businesses need to rearrange furniture and display racks?
- A. Possibly. For example, restaurants may need to rearrange tables and



Public Accommodations:

department stores may need to adjust their layout of racks and shelves in order to permit wheelchair access.

- Q. Will businesses need to install elevators?
- A. Businesses are not required to retrofit their facilities to install elevators unless such installation is readily achievable, which is unlikely in most cases.
- Q. When barrier removal is not readily achievable, what kinds of alternative steps are required by the ADA?
- A. Alternatives may include such measures as in-store assistance for removing articles from high shelves, home delivery of groceries, or coming to the door to receive or return dry cleaning.
- Q. Must alternative steps be taken without regard to cost?
- A. No, only readily achievable alternative steps must be undertaken.
- Q. How is "readily achievable" determined in a multisite business?
- A. In determining whether an action to make a public accommodation accessible would be "readily achievable," the overall size of the parent corporation or entity is only one factor to be considered. The ADA also permits consideration of the financial resources of the particular facility or facilities involved and the administrative or fiscal relationship of the facility or facilities to the parent entity.
- Q. Who has responsibility for removing barriers in a shopping mall, the landlord who owns the mall or the tenant who leases the store?
- A. Legal responsibility for removing barriers depends upon who has legal authority to make alterations, which is generally determined by the contractual agreement between the landlord and tenant. In most cases the landlord will have full control over common areas.



Alma Ni magalami-

Q. What does the ADA require in new construction?

A. The ADA requires that all new construction of places of public accommodation, as well as of "commercial facilities" such as office buildings, be accessible. Elevators are generally not required in facilities under three stories or with fewer than 3,000 square feet per floor, unless the building is a shopping center, mall, or professional office of a health care provider.

Q. Is it expensive to make all newly constructed public accommodations and commercial facilities accessible?

A. The cost of incorporating accessibility features in new construction is less than one percent of construction costs. This is a small price in relation to the economic benefits to be derived from full accessibility in the future, such as increased employment and consumer spending and decreased welfare dependency.

Q. Must every feature of a new facility be accessible?

A. No, only a reasonable number of elements such as parking spaces and bathrooms must be made accessible in order for a facility to be "readily accessible." Moreover, mechanical areas, such as catwalks and fan rooms, to which access is required only for purposes of maintenance and repairs, might not need to be physically accessible if the essential functions of the work performed in those areas require physical mobility.

Q. What are the ADA requirements for altering facilities?

A. All alterations that could affect the usability of a facility must be made in an accessible manner to the maximum extent feasible. For example, if during renovations a doorway is being relocated, the new doorway must be wide enough to meet the new construction standard for accessibility. When alterations are made to a primary function area, such as the lobby of a bank or the dining area of a cafeteria, an accessible



Palla Deciment alon-

path of travel to the altered area must also be provided. The bath-rooms, telephones, and drinking fountains serving that area must also be made accessible. These additional accessibility alterations are only required to the extent that the added accessibility costs are not disproportionate to the overall cost of the alterations. Elevators are generally not required in facilities under three stories or with fewer than 3000 square feet per floor, unless the building is a shopping center, mall, or professional office of a health care provider.

- Q. Does the ADA permit a disabled person to sue a business when the individual believes that discrimination is about to occur, or must the individual wait for the discrimination to occur?
- A. The ADA public accommodations provisions permit an individual to allege discrimination based on a disabled person's reasonable belief that discrimination is about to occur. This provision allows a person who uses a wheelchair to challenge the planned construction of a new place of public accommodation, such as a shopping mall, that would not be accessible to wheelchair users. The resolution of such challenges prior to the construction of an inaccessible facility would enable any necessary remedial measures to be incorporated in the building at the planning stage, when such changes would be relatively inexpensive.
- Q. How does the ADA affect existing State and local building codes?
- A. Existing codes remain in effect. The ADA allows the Attorney General to certify that a State law, local building code, or similar ordinance that establishes accessibility requirements meets or exceeds the minimum accessibility requirements for public accommodations and commercial facilities. Any State or local government may apply for certification of its code or ordinance. The Attorney General can certify a code or ordinance only after prior notice and a public hearing at which interested people, including individuals with disabilities, are provided an opportunity to testify against the certification.



Public Accommodations

- Q. What is the effect of certification of a State or local code or ordinance?
- A. Certification can be advantageous if an entity has constructed or altered a facility according to a certified code or ordinance. If someone later brings an enforcement proceeding against the entity, the certification is considered "rebuttable evidence" that the State law or local ordinance meets or exceeds the minimum requirements of the ADA. In other words, the entity can argue that the construction or alteration met the requirements of the ADA because it was done in compliance with the State or local code that had been certified.
- Q. When are the public accommodations provisions effective?
- A. In general, they become effective on January 26, 1992.
- Q. How will the public accommodations provisions be enforced?
- A. Private individuals may bring lawsuits in which they can obtain court orders to stop discrimination. Individuals may also file complaints with the Attorney General, who is authorized to bring lawsuits in cases of general public importance or where a "pattern or practice" of discrimination is alleged. In these cases, the Attorney General may seek monetary damages and civil penalties. Civil penalties may not exceed \$50,000 for a first violation or \$100,000 for any subsequent violation.

For information on how to contact the U.S. Department of Justice, see page 18.



Miscelland ous

Miscellaneous

- O. Is the Federal government covered by the ADA?
- A. The ADA does not cover the executive branch of the Federal Government. The executive branch continues to be covered by title V of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, which prohibits discrimination in services and employment on the basis of handicap and which is a model for the requirements of the ADA. The ADA, however, does cover Congress and other entities in the legislative branch of the Federal Government.
- Q. What requirements, other than those mandating nondiscrimination in employment, does the ADA place on State and local governments?
- A. All government facilities, services, and communications must be accessible consistent with the requirements of section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. Individuals may file complaints with Federal agencies to be designated by the Attorney General or bring private lawsuits.
- Q. Does the ADA cover private apartments and private homes?
- A. The ADA generally does not cover private residential facilities. These facilities are addressed in the Fair Housing Amendments Act of 1988, which prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability in selling or renting housing. If a building contains both residential and nonresidential portions, only the nonresidential portions are covered by the ADA. For example, in a large hotel that has a residential apartment wing, the residential wing would be covered by the Fair Housing Act and the other rooms would be covered by the ADA.
- Q. Does the ADA cover air transportation?
- A. Discrimination by air carriers is not covered by the ADA but rath it by the Air Carrier Access Act (49 U.S.C. 1374 (c)).



Mouthness

Q. What are the ADA's requirements for public transit buses?

A. The ADA requires the Department of Transportation to issue regulations mandating accessible public transit vehicles and facilities. The regulations must include a requirement that all new fixed-route, public transit buses be accessible and that supplementary paratransit services be provided for those individuals with disabilities who cannot use fixed-route bus service. For information on how to contact the Department of Transportation, see page 19.

Q. How will the ADA make telecommunications accessible?

- A. The ADA requires the establishment of telephone relay services for individuals who use telecommunications devices for the deaf (TDD's) or similar devices. The Federal Communications Commission will issue regulations specifying standards for the operation of these services. For information on how to contact the Federal Communications Commission, see page 19.
- Q. Are businesses entitled to any tax benefit to help pay for the cost of compliance?
- A. As amended in 1990, the Internal Revenue Code allows a deduction of up to \$15,000 per year for expenses associated with the removal of qualified architectural and transportation barriers.

The 1990 amendment also permits eligible small businesses to receive a tax credit for certain costs of compliance with the ADA. An eligible small business is one whose gross receipts do not exceed \$1,000,000 or whose workforce does not consist of more than 30 full-time workers. Qualifying businesses may claim a credit of up to 50 percent of eligible access expenditures that exceed \$250 but do not exceed \$10,250. Examples of eligible access expenditures include the necessary and reasonable costs of removing architectural, physical, communications, and transportation barriers; providing readers, interpreters, and other auxiliary aids; and acquiring or modifying equipment or devices.



Resources

This document is available in the following alternate formats:

- Braille
- Large Print
- Audiotape
- Electronic file on computer disk and electronic bulletin board (202) 514-6193

For nore specific information about ADA requirements affecting Public Services and Public Accommodations contact:

Office on the Americans with Disabilities Act Civil Rights Division
U.S. Department of Justice
P.O. Box 66118
Washington, D.C. 20035-6118

(202) 514-0301 (Voice)
(202) 514-0381 (TDD)

(202) 514-0383 (TDD)

Resources

For more specific information about ADA requirements affecting employment contact:

Equal Employment Opportunity Commission 1801 L Street NW Washington, DC 20507 (202) 663-4900 (Voice) 800-800-3302 (TDD) (202) 663-4494 (TDD - for 202 Area Code)

For more specific information about ADA requirements affecting transportation contact:

Department of Transportation 400 Seventh Street SW Washington. DC 20590 (202) 366-9305 (Voice) (202) 755-7687 (TDD)

For more specific information about requirements for accessible design in new construction and alterations contact:

Architectural and Transportation Barriers Compliance Board 1111 18th Street NW Suite 501 Washington, DC 20036 800-USA-ABLE (Voice) 800-USA-ABLE (TDD)

For more specific information about ADA requirements affecting telecommunications contact:

Federal Communications Commission 1919 M Street NW Washington, DC 20554 (202) 632-7260 (Voice) (202) 632-6999 (TDD)

CRD-87





U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission

The Americans With Disabilities Act

Your Employment Rights as an Individual With a Disability

EEOC-BK-18 1991



Introduction

The Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA) makes it unlawful to discriminate in employment against a qualified individual with a disability. The ADA also outlaws discrimination against individuals with disabilities in state and local government services, public accommodations, transportation and telecommunications. This booklet explains the part of the ADA that prohibits job discrimination. This part of the law is enforced by the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) and state and local civil rights enforcement agencies that work with the Commission.



What Employers Are Covered by the ADA?

Job discrimination against people with disabilities is illegal if practiced by:

- · private employers,
- state and local governments,
- employment agencies,
- · labor organizations,
- · and labor-management committees.

The part of the ADA enforced by the EEOC outlaws job discrimination by:

- all employers, including state and local government employers, with 25 or more employees after July 26, 1992, and
- all employers, including state and local government employers, with 15 or more employees after July 26, 1994.

Another part of the ADA, enforced by the U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ), prohibits discrimination in state and local government programs and activities, including job discrimination by all state and local governments, regardless of the number of employees, after January 26, 1992.

Because the ADA gives responsibilities to both EEOC and DOJ for employment by state and local governments, these agencies will coordinate the federal enforcement effort. In addition, since some private and governmental employers are already covered by nondiscrimination and affirmative action requirements under the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, EEOC, DOJ, and the Department of Labor also will coordinate the enforcement effort under the ADA and the Rehabilitation Act.



98

Are You Protected by The ADA?

If you have a disability and are qualified to do a job, the ADA protects you from job discrimination on the basis of your disability. Under the ADA, you have a disability if you have a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits a major life activity. The ADA also protects you if you have a history of such a disability, or if an employer believes that you have such a disability, even if you don't.

To be protected under the ADA, you must have, have a record of, or be regarded as having a *substantial*, as opposed to a minor, impairment. A substantial impairment is one that significantly limits or restricts a *major life activity* such as hearing, seeing, speaking, walking, breathing, performing manual tasks, caring for oneself, learning or working.

If you have a disability, you must also be qualified to perform the essential functions or duties of a job, with or without reasonable accommodation, in order to be protected from job discrimination by the ADA. This means two things. First, you must satisfy the employer's requirements for the job, such as education, employment experience, skills or licenses. Second, you must be able to perform the essential functions of the job with or without reasonable accommodation. Essential functions are the fundamental job duties that you must be able to perform on your own or with the help of a reasonable accommodation. An employer cannot refuse to hire you because your disability prevents you from performing duties that are not essential to the job.



What is Reasonable Accommodation?

Reasonable accommodation is any change or adjustment to a job or work environment that permits a qualified applicant or employee with a disability to participate in the job application process, to perform the essential functions of a job, or to enjoy benefits and privileges of employment equal to those enjoyed by employees without disabilities. For example, reasonable accommodation may include:

- providing or modifying equipment or devices,
- · job restructuring,
- · part-time or modified work schedules,
- · reassignment to a vacant position,
- adjusting or modifying examinations, training materials, or policies,
- · providing readers and interpreters, and
- making the workplace readily accessible to and usable by people with disabilities.

An employer is required to provide a reasonable accommodation to a qualified applicant or employee with a disability unless the employer can show that the accommodation would be an *undue hardship* -- that is, that it would require significant difficulty or expense.

What Employment Practices are Covered?

The ADA makes it unlawful to discriminate in all employment practices such as:

- recruitment
- hiring
- job assignments
- pay
- · lay off

- firing
- training
- promotions
- benefits
- leave
- all other employment related activities.

It is also unlawful for an employer to retaliate against you for asserting your rights under the ADA. The Act also protects you if you are a victim of discrimination because of your family, business, social or other relationship or association with an individual with a disability.

Can an Employer Require Medical Examinations or Ask Questions About a Disability?

If you are applying for a job, an employer cannot ask you if you are disabled or ask about the nature or severity of your disability. An employer can ask if you can perform the duties of the job with or without reasonable accommodation. An employer can also ask you to describe or to demonstrate how, with or without reasonable accommodation, you will perform the duties of the job.

An employer cannot require you to take a medical examination before you are offered a job. Following a job offer, an employer can condition the offer on your passing a required medical examination, but only if all entering employees for that job category have to take the examination. However, an employer cannot reject you because of information about your disability revealed by the medical examination, unless the reasons for rejection are job-related and necessary for the conduct of the employer's business. Nor can the employer refuse to hire you because of your disability if you can perform the essential functions of the job with an accommodation.

Once you have been hired and started work, your employer cannot require that you take a medical examination or ask questions about your disability unless they are related to your job and necessary for the conduct of your employer's business. Your employer may conduct voluntary medical examinations that are part of an employee health program, and may provide medical information required by state workers' compensation laws to the agencies that administer such laws.



The results of all medical examinations must be kept confidential, and maintained in separate medical files.

Do Individuals Who Use Drugs Illegally Have Rights Under the ADA?

Anyone who is currently using drugs illegally is not protected by the ADA and may be denied employment or fired on the basis of such use. The ADA does not prevent employers from testing applicants or employees for current illegal drug use.

What Do I Do If I Think That I'm Being Discriminated Against?

If you think you have been discriminated against in employment on the basis of disability after July 26, 1992, you should contact the EEOC. A charge of discrimination generally must be filed within 180 days of the alleged discrimination. You may have up to 300 days to file a charge if there is a state or local law that provides relief for discrimination on the basis of disability. However, to protect your rights, it is best to contact EEOC promptly if discrimination is suspected.

You may file a charge of discrimination on the basis of disability by contacting any EEOC field office, located in cities throughout the United States. If you have been discriminated against, you are entitled to a remedy that will place you in the position you would have been in if the discrimination had never occurred. You may be entitled to hiring, promotion, reinstatement, back pay, or reasonable accommodation, including reassignment. You may also be entitled to attorney's fees.

While the EEOC can only process ADA charges based on actions occurring on or after July 26, 1992, you may already be protected by state or local laws or by other current federa! laws. EEOC field offices can refer you to the agencies that enforce those laws.



To contact the ZEOC, look in your telephone directory under U.S. Government. For information and instructions on reaching your local office, call:

(202) 663-4900 (Voice) (800) 800-3302 (TDD) (In the Washington, D.C. 202 Area Code, call 202-663-4494 (TDD).)

Can I Get Additional ADA Information and Assistance?

The EEOC will conduct an active technical assistance program to promote voluntary compliance with the ADA. This program will be designed to help people with disabilities understand their rights and to help employers understand their responsibilities under the law.

In January 1992, EEOC will publish a Technical Assistance Manual, providing practical application of legal requirements to specific employment activities, with a directory of resources to aid compliance. EEOC will publish other educational materials, provide training on the law for people with disabilities and for employers, and participate in meetings and training programs of other organizations. EEOC staff also will respond to individual requests for information and assistance. The Commission's technical assistance program will be separate and distinct from its enforcement responsibilities. Employers who seek information or assistance from the Commission will not be subject to any enforcement action because of such inquiries.

The Commission also recognizes that differences and disputes about ADA requirements may arise between employers and people with disabilities as a result of misunderstandings. Such disputes frequently can be resolved more effectively through informal negotiation or mediation procedures, rather than through the formal enforcement process of the ADA. Accordingly, EEOC will encourage efforts of employers and individuals with disabilities to settle such differences through alternative methods of dispute resolution, providing that such efforts do not deprive any individual of legal rights provided by the statute.



More Questions and Answers About the ADA

- Q. Is an employer required to provide reasonable accommodation when I apply for a job?
- A. Yes. Applicants, as well as employees, are entitled to reasonable accommodation. For example, an employer may be required to provide a sign language interpreter during a job interview for an applicant who is deaf or hearing impaired, unless to do so would impose an undue hardship.
- Q. Should I tell my employer that I have a disability?
- A. If you think you will need a reasonable accommodation in order to participate in the application process or to perform essential job functions, you should inform the employer that an accommodation will be needed. Employers are required to provide reasonable accommodation only for the physical or mental limitations of a qualified individual with a disability of which they are aware. Generally, it is the responsibility of the employee to inform the employer that an accommodation is needed.
- Q. Do I have to pay for a needed reasonable accommodation?
- A. No. The ADA requires that the employer provide the accommodation unless to do so would impose an undue hardship on the operation of the employer's business. If the cost of providing the needed accommodation would be an undue hardship, the employee must be given the choice of providing the accommodation or paying for the portion of the accommodation that causes the undue hardship.
- Q. Can an employer lower my salary or pay me less than other employees doing the same job because I need a reasonable accommodation?



- A. No. An employer cannot make up the cost of providing a reasonable accommodation by lowering your salary or paying you less than other employees in similar positions.
- Q. Does an employer have to make non-work areas used by employees, such as cafeterias, lounges, or employer-provided transportation accessible to people with disabilities?
- A. Yes. The requirement to provide reasonable accommodation covers all services, programs, and non-work facilities provided by the employer. If making an existing facility accessible would be an undue hardship, the employer must provide a comparable facility that will enable a person with a disability to enjoy benefits and privileges of employment similar to those enjoyed by other employees, unless to do so would be an undue hardship.
- Q. If an employer has several qualified applicants for a job, is the employer required to select a qualified applicant with a disability over other applicants without a disability?
- A. No. The ADA does not require that an employer hire an applicant with a disability over other applicants because the person has a disability. The ADA only prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability. It makes it unlawful to refuse to hire a qualified applicant with a disability because he is disabled or because a reasonable accommodation is required to make it possible for this person to perform essential job functions.
- Q. Can an employer refuse to hire me because he believes that it would be unsafe, because of my disability, for me to work with certain machinery required to perform the essential functions of the job?



- A. The ADA permits an employer to refuse to hire an individual if she poses a direct threat to the health or safety of herself or others. A direct threat means a significant risk of substantial harm. The determination that there is a direct threat must be based on objective, factual evidence regarding an individual's present ability to perform essential functions of a job. An employer cannot refuse to hire you because of a slightly increased risk or because of fears that there might be a significant risk sometime in the future. The employer must also consider whether a risk can be eliminated or reduced to an acceptable level with a reasonable accommodation.
- Q. Can an employer offer a health insurance policy that excludes coverage for pre-existing conditions?
- A. Yes. The ADA does not affect pre-existing condition clauses contained in health insurance policies even though such clauses may adversely affect employees with disabilities more than other employees.
- Q. If the health insurance offered by my employer does not cover all of the medical expenses related to my disability, does the company have to obtain additional coverage for me?
- A. No. The ADA only requires that an employer provide employees with disabilities equal access to whatever health insurance coverage is offered to other employees.
- Q. I think I was discriminated against because my wife is disabled. Can I file a charge with the EEOC?
- A. Yes. The ADA makes it unlawful to discriminate against an individual, whether disabled or not, because of a relationship or association with an individual with a known disability.





- Q. Are people with AIDS covered by the ADA?
- A. Yes. The legislative history indicates that Congress intended the ADA to protect persons with AIDS and HIV disease from discrimination.

For more specific information about ADA requirements affecting employment contact:

Equal Employment Opportunity Commission 1801 L Street, NW Washington, DC 20507 (202) 663-4900 (Voice) (800) 800-3302 (TDD) (202) 663-4494 (TDD for 202 Area Code)

For more specific information about ADA requirements affecting public accommodations and state and local government services contact:

Department of Justice
Office on the Americans with Disabilities Act
Civil Rights Division
P.O. Box 66118
Washington, DC 20035-6118
(202) 514-0301 (Voice)
(202) 514-0381 (TDD)
(202) 514-6193 (Electronic Bulletin Board)



For more specific information about requirements for accessible design in new construction and alterations contact:

Architectural and Transportation Barriers
Compliance Board
1111 18th Street, NW
Suite 50!
Washington, DC 20036
800-USA-ABLE
800-USA-ABLE (TDD)

For more specific information about ADA requirements affecting transportation contact:

Department of Transportation 400 Seventh Street, SW 'Vashington, DC 20590 ('02) 366-9305 (202) 755-7687 (TDD)

For more specific information about ADA requirements for telecommunications contact:

Federal Communications Commission 1919 M Street, NW Washington, DC 20554 (202) 632-7260 (202) 632-6999 (TDD)

This booklet is available in Braille, large print, audiotape and electronic file on computer disk. To obtain accessible formats call EEOC's Office of Equal Employment Opportunity on (202) 663-4395 (voice), (202) 663-4399 (TDD), or write this office at 1801 L Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20507.





The Americans With Disabilities Act

Your Responsibilities as an Employer



Introduction

The Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA) makes it unlawful to discriminate in employment against a qualified individual with a disability. The ADA also outlaws discrimination against individuals with disabilities in State and local government services, public accommodations, transportation and telecommunications. This booklet explains the part of the ADA that prohibits job discrimination. This part of the law is enforced by the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) and State and local civil rights enforcement agencies that work with the Commission.



Are You Covered?

Job discrimination against people with disabilities is illegal if practiced by:

- · private employers,
- state and local governments,
- · employment agencies,
- · labor organizations, and
- · labor-management committees.

The part of the ADA enforced by the EEOC outlaws job discrimination by:

- all employers, including state and local government employers, with 25 or more employees after July 26, 1992, and
- all employers, including state and local government employers, with 15 or more employees after July 26, 1994.

Another part of the ADA, enrorced by the U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ), prohibits discrimination in state and local government programs and activities, including job discrimination by all state and local governments, regardless of the number of employees, after January 26, 1992.

Because the ADA gives responsibilities to both EEOC and DOI for employment by state and local governments, these agencies will coordinate the federal enforcement effort. In addition, since some private and governmental employers are already covered by nondiscrimination and affirmative action requirements under the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, EEOC, DOI, and the Department of Labor also will coordinate the enforcement effort under the ADA and the Rehabilitation Act.



What Employment Practices are Covered?

The ADA makes it unlawful to discriminate in all employment practices such as:

- recruitment
- hiring
- promotion
- training
- · lay-off

- pay
- firing
- job assignm its
- leave
- * benefit
- · all other employment related activities.

The ADA prohibits an employer from retaliating against an applicant or employee for asserting his rights under the ADA. The Act also makes it unlawful to discriminate against an applicant or employee, whether disabled or not, because of the individual's family, business, social or other relationship or association with an individual with a disability.

Who Is Protected?

Title I of the ADA protects qualified individuals with disabilities from employment discrimination. Under the ADA, a person has a disability if he has a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits a major life activity. The ADA also protects individuals who have a record of a substantially limiting impairment, and people who are regarded as having a substantially limiting impairment.

To be protected under the ADA, an individual must have, have a record of, or be regarded as having a substantial, as opposed to a minor, impairment. A substantial impairment is one that significantly limits or restricts a major life activity such as hearing, seeing, speaking, breathing, performing manual tasks, walking, caring for oneself, learning or working.

An individual with a disability must also be qualified to perform the essential functions of the job with or without reasonable accommoda-



tion, in order to be protected by the ADA. This means that the applicant or employee must:

- satisfy your job requirements for educational background, employment experience, skills, licenses, and any other qualification standards that are job related; and
- be able to perform those tasks that are essential to the job, with or without reasonable accommodation.

The ADA does not interfere with your right to hire the best qualified applicant. Nor does the ADA impose any affirmative action obligations. The ADA simply prohibits you from discriminating against a qualified applicant or employee because of her disability.

How Are Essential Functions Determined?

Essential functions are the basic job duties that an employee must be able to perform, with or without reasonable accommodation. You should carefully examine each job to determine which functions or tasks are essential to performance. (This is particularly important before taking an employment action such as recruiting, advertising, hiring, promoting or firing).

Factors to consider in determining if a function is essential include:

- · whether the reason the position exists is to perform that function,
- the number of other employees available to perform the function or among whom the performance of the function can be distributed, and
- * the degree of expertise or skill required to perform the function.



Your judgment as to which functions are essential, and a written job description prepared before advertising or interviewing for a job will be considered by EEOC as evidence of essential functions. Other kinds of evidence that EEOC will consider include:

- · actual work experience of present or past employees in the job,
- · time spent performing a function,
- consequences of not requiring that an employee perform a function, and
- · terms of a collective bargaining agreement.

What Are My Obligations to Provide Reasonable Accommodations?

Reasonable accommodation is any change or adjustment to a job or work environment that permits a qualified applicant or employee with a disability to participate in the job application process, to perform the essential functions of a job, or to enjoy benefits and privileges of employment equal to those enjoyed by employees without disabilities. For example, reasonable accommodation may include:

- · acquiring or modifying equipment or devices,
- job restructuring,
- · part-time or modified work schedules,
- · reassignment to a vacant position,
- adjusting or modifying examinations, training materials or policies,
- providing readers and interpreters, and
- making the workplace readily accessible to and usable by people with disabilities.

Reasonable accommodation also must be made to enable an individual with a disability to participate in the application process, and



A

to enjoy benefits and privileges of employment equal to those available to other employees.

It is a violation of the ADA to fail to provide reasonable accommodation to the *known* physical or mental limitations of a qualified individual with a disability, unless to do so would impose an undue hardship on the operation of your business. Undue hardship means that the accommodation would require significant difficulty or expense.

What is the Best Way to Identify a Reasonable Accommodation?

Frequently, when a qualified individual with a disability requests a reasonable accommodation, the appropriate accommodation is obvious. The individual may suggest a reasonable accommodation based upon her own life or work experience. However, when the appropriate accommodation is not readily apparent, you must make a reasonable effort to identify one. The best way to do this is to consult informally with the applicant or employee about potential accommodations that would enable the individual to participate in the application process or perform the essential functions of the job. If this consultation does not identify an appropriate accommodation, you may contact the EEOC, state or local vocational rehabilitation agencies, or state or local organizations representing or providing services to individuals with disabilities. Another resource is the Job Accommodation Network (JAN). JAN is a free consultant service that helps employers make individualized accommodations. The telephone number is 1-800-526-7234.

When Does a Reasonable Accommodation Become An Undue Hardship?

It is not necessary to provide a reasonable accommodation if doing so would cause an *undue hardship*. Undue hardship means that an accommodation would be unduly costly, extensive, substantial or disruptive, or would fundamentally alter the nature or operation of the business. Among the factors to be considered in determining whether an



accommodation is an undue hardship are the cost of the accommodation, the employer's size, financial resources and the nature and structure of its operation.

If a particular accommodation would be an undue hardship, you must try to identify another accommodation that will not pose such a hardship. If cost causes the undue hardship, you must also consider whether funding for an accommodation is available from an outside source, such as a vocational rehabilitation agency, and if the cost of providing the accommodation can be offset by state or federal tax credits or deductions. You must also give the applicant or employee with a disability the opportunity to provide the accommodation or pay for the portion of the accommodation that constitutes an undue hardship.

Can I Require Medical Examinations or Ask Questions About an Individual's Disability?

It is unlawful:

- to ask an applicant whether she is disabled or about the nature or severity of a disability, or
- to require the applicant to take a medical examination before making a job offer.

You can ask an applicant questions about ability to perform jobrelated functions, as long as the questions are not phrased in terms of a disability. You can also ask an applicant to describe or to demonstrate how, with or without reasonable accommodation, the applicant will perform job-related functions.

After a job offer is made and prior to the commencement of employment duties, you may require that an applicant take a medical examination if everyone who will be working in the job category must also take the examination. You may condition the job offer on the results of the medical examination. However, if an individual is not



hired because a medical examination reveals the existence of a disability, you must be able to show that the reasons for exclusion are job related and necessary for conduct of your business. You also must be able to show that there was no reasonable accommodation that would have made it possible for the individual to perform the essential job functions.

Once you have hired an applicant, you cannot require a medical examination or ask an employee questions about disability unless you can show that these requirements are job related and necessary for the conduct of your business. You may conduct voluntary medical examinations that are part of an employee health program.

The results of all medical examinations or information from inquiries about a disability must be kept confidential, and maintained in separate medical files. You may provide medical information required by state workers' compensation laws to the agencies that administer such laws.

Do Individuals Who Use Drugs Illegally Have Rights Under the ADA?

Anyone who is currently using drugs illegally is not protected by the ADA and may be denied employment or fired on the basis of such use. The ADA does not prevent employers from testing applicants or employees for current illegal drug use, or from making employment decisions based on verifiable results. A test for the illegal use of drugs is not considered a medical examination under the ADA; therefore, it is not a prohibited pre-employment medical examination, and you will not have to show that the administration of the test to employees is job related and consistent with business necessity. The ADA does not encourage, authorize or prohibit drug tests.



How will the ADA Be Enforced and What Are the Available Remedies?

The provisions of the ADA which prohibit job discrimination will be enforced by the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission. After July 26, 1992, individuals who believe they have been discriminated against on the basis of their disability can file a charge with the Commission at any of its offices located throughout the United States. A charge of discrimination must be filed within 180 days of the discrimination, unless there is a state or local law that also provides relief for the discrimination on the basis of disability. In most cases where there is such a law, the complainant has 300 days to file a charge.

The Commission will investigate and initially attempt to resolve the charge through conciliation, following the same procedures used to handle charges of discrimination filed under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. The ADA also incorporates the remedies contained in Title VII. These remedies include hiring, promotion, reinstatement, back pay, and attorney's fees. Reasonable accommodation is also available as a remedy under the ADA.

How Will EEOC Help Employers Who Want to Comply with the ADA?

The Commission believes that employers want to comply with th ADA, and that if they are given sufficient information on how to comply, they will do so voluntarily.

Accordingly, the Commission will conduct an active technical assistance program to promote voluntary compliance with the ADA. This program will be designed to help employers understand their responsibilities and assist people with disabilities to understand their right and the law.

In January 1992, EEOC will publish a Technical Assistance Manual, providing practical application of legal requirements to specif



employment activities, with a directory of resources to aid compliance. EEOC will publish other educational materials, provide training on the law for employers and for people with disabilities, and participate in meetings and training programs of other organizations. EEOC staff also will respond to individual requests for information and assistance. The Commission's technical assistance program will be separate and distinct from its enforcement responsibilities. Employers who seek information or assistance from the Commission will not be subject to any enforcement action because of such inquiries.

The Commission also recognizes that differences and disputes about the ADA requirements may arise between employers and people with disabilities as a result of misunderstandings. Such disputes frequently can be resolved more effectively through informal negotiation or mediation procedures, rather than through the formal enforcement process of the ADA. Accordingly, EEOC will encourage efforts to settle such differences through alternative dispute resolution, providing that such efforts do not deprive any individual of legal rights provided by the statute.

Additional Questions and Answers on the Americans with Disabilities Act

- Q. What is the relationship between the ADA and the Rehabilitation Act of 1973?
- A. The Rehabilitation Act of 1973 prohibits discrimination on the basis of handicap by the federal government, federal contractors and by recipients of federal financial assistance. If you were covered by the Rehabilitation Act prior to the passage of the ADA, the ADA will not affect that coverage. Many of the provisions contained in the ADA are based on Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act and its implementing regulations. If you are receiving federal financial assistance and are in compliance with Section 504, you are probably in compliance with the ADA requirements affecting employment except in those areas where



the ADA contains additional requirements. Your nondiscrimination requirements as a federal contractor under Section 503 of the Rehabilitation Act will be essentially the same as those under the ADA; however, you will continue to have additional affirmative action requirements under Section 503 that do not exist under the ADA.

- Q. If I have several quelified applicants for a job, does the ADA require that I hire the applicant with a disability?
- A. No. You may hire the most qualified applicant. The ADA only makes it unlawful for you to discriminate against a qualified individual with a disability on the basis of disability.
- Q. One of my employees is a diabetic, but takes insulin daily to control his diabetes. As a result, the diabetes has no significant impact on his employment. Is he protected by the ADA?
- A. Yes. The determination as to whether a person has a disability under the ADA is made without regard to mitigating measures, such as medications, auxiliary aids and reasonable accommodations. If an individual has an impairment that substantially limits a major life activity, she is protected under the ADA, regardless of the fact that the disease or condition or its effects may be corrected or controlled.
- Q. One of my employees has a broken arm that will heal but is temporarily unable to perform the essential functions of his job as a mechanic. Is this employee protected by the ADA?
- A. No. Although this employee does have an impairment, it does not substantially limit a major life activity if it is of limited duration and will have no long term effect.



- Q. Am I obligated to provide a reasonable accommodation for an individual if I am unaware of her physical or mental impairment?
- A. No. An employer's obligation to provide reasonable accommodation applies only to *known* physical or mental limitations.

 However, this does not mean that an applicant or employee must always inform you of a disability. If a disability is obvious, e.g., the applicant uses a wheelchair, the employer "knows" of the disability even if the applicant never mentions it.
- Q. How do I determine whether a reasonable accommodation is appropriate and the type of accommodation that should be made available?
- A. The requirement generally will be triggered by a request from an individual with a disability, who frequently can suggest an appropriate accommodation. Accommodations must be made on a case-by-case basis, because the nature and extent of a disabling condition and the requirements of the job will vary. The principal test in selecting a particular type of accommodation is that of effectiveness, i.e., whether the accommodation will enable the person with a disability to perform the essential functions of the job. It need not be the best accommodation, or the accommodation the individual with a disability would prefer, although primary consideration should be given to the preference of the individual involved. However, as the employer, you have the discretion to choose between effective accommodations, and you may select one that is least expensive or easier to provide.
- Q. When must I consider reassigning an employee with a disability to another job as a reasonable accommodation?
- A. When an employee with a disability is unable to perform her present job even with the provision of a reasonable accommoda-



tion, you must consider reassigning the employee to an existing position that she can perform with or without a reasonable accommodation. The requirement to consider reassignment applies only to employees and not to applicants. You are not required to create a position or to bump another employee in order to create a vacancy. Nor are you required to promote an employee with a disability to a higher level position.

- Q. What if an applicant or employee refuses to accept an accommodation that I offer?
- A. The ADA provides that an employer cannot require a qualified individual with a disability to accept an accommodation that is neither requested nor needed by the individual. However, if a necessary reasonable accommodation is refused, the individual may be considered not qualified.
- Q. If our business has a fitness room for its employees, must it be accessible to employees with disabilities?
- A. Yes. Under the ADA, workers with disabilities must have equal access to all benefits and privileges of employment that are available to similarly situated employees without disabilities. The duty to provide reasonable accommodation applies to all nonwork facilities provided or maintained by you for your employees. This includes cafeterias, lounges, auditoriums, company-provided transportation and counseling services. If making an existing facility accessible would be an undue hardship, you must provide a comparable facility that will enable a person with a disability to enjoy benefits and privileges of employment similar to those enjoyed by other employees, unless this would be an undue hardship.



- Q. If I contract for a consulting firm to develop a training course for my employees, and the firm arranges for the course to be held at a hotel that is inaccessible to one of my employees, am I liable under the ADA?
- A. Yes. An employer may not do through a contractual or other relationship what it is prohibited from doing directly. You would be required to provide a location that is readily accessible to, and usable by your employee with a disability unless to do so would create an undue hardship.
- Q. What are my responsibilities as an employer for making my facilities accessible?
- As an employer, you are responsible under Title I of the ADA A. for making facilities accessible to qualified applicants and employees with disabilities as a reasonable accommodation, unless this would cause undue hardship. Accessibility must be provided to enable a qualified applicant to participate in the application process, to enable a qualified individual to perform essential job functions and to enable an employee with a disability to enjoy benefits and privileges available to other employees. However, if your business is a place of public accommodation (such as a restaurant, retail store or bank) you have different obligations to provide accessibility to the general public, under Title III of the ADA. Title III also will require places of public accommodation and commercial facilities (such as office buildings, factories and warehouses) to provide accessibility in new construction or when making alterations to existing structures. Further information on these requirements may be obtained from the U.S. Department of Justice, which enforces Title III. (See page 16).



- Q. Under the ADA, can I refuse to hire an individual or fire a current employee who uses drugs illegally?
- A. Yes. Individuals who currently use drugs illegally are specifically excluded from the ADA's protections. However, the ADA does not exclude persons who have successfully completed or are currently in a ranabilitation program and are no longer illegally using drugs, and persons erroneously regarded as engaging in the illegal use of drugs.
- Q. Does the ADA cover people with AIDS?
- A. Yes. The legislative history indicates that Congress intended the ADA to protect persons with AIDS and HIV disease from discrimination.
- Q. Can I consider health and safety in deciding whether to hire an applicant or retain an employee with a disability?
- A. The ADA permits an employer to require that an individual not pose a direct threat to the health and safety of the individual or others in the work-place. A direct threat means a significant risk of substantial harm. You cannot refuse to hire or fire an individual because of a slightly increased risk of harm to himself or others. Nor can you do so based on a speculative or remote risk. The determination that an individual poses a direct threat must be based on objective, factual evidence regarding the individual's present ability to perform essential job functions. If an applicant or employee with a disability poses a direct threat to the health or safety of himself or others, you must consider whether the risk can be eliminated or reduced to an acceptable level with a reasonable accommodation.



- Q. Am I required to provide additional insurance for employees with disabilities?
- A. No. The ADA only requires that you provide an employee with a disability equal access to whatever health insurance coverage you provide to other employees. For example, if your health insurance coverage for certain treatments is limited to a specified number fix year, and an employee, because of a disability, needs more than the specified number, the ADA does not require that you provide additional coverage to meet that employee's health insurance needs. The ADA also does not require changes in insurance plans that exclude or limit coverage for pre-existing conditions.
- Q. Does the ADA require that I post a notice explaining its requirements?
- A. The ADA requires that you post a notice in an accessible format to applicants, employees and members of labor organizations, describing the provisions of the Act. EEOC will provide employers with a poster summarizing these and other federal legal requirements for nondiscrimination. EEOC will also provide guidance on making this information available in accessible formats for people with disabilities.

For more specific information about ADA requirements affecting employment contact:

Equal Employment Opportunity Commission 1801 L Street, NW Washington, DC 20507 (202) 663-4900 (Voice) (800) 800-3302 (TDD) (202) 663-4494 (TDD for 202 Area Code)



For more specific information about ADA requirements affecting public accommodations and state and local government services contact:

Department of Justice
Office on the Americans with Disabilities Act
Civil Rights Division
P.O. Box 66118
Washington, DC 20035-6118
(202) 514-0301 (Voice)
(202) 514-0381 (TDD)
(202) 514-6193 (Electronic Bulletin Board)

For more specific information about requirements for accessible design in new construction and alterations contact:

Architectural and Transportation Barriers
Compliance Board
1111 18th Street, NW
Suite 501
Washington, DC 20036
800-USA-ABLE
800-USA-ABLE (TDD)

For more specific information about ADA requirements affecting transportation contact:

Department of Transportation 400 Seventh Street, SW Washington, DC 20590 (202) 366-9305 (202) 755-7687 (TDD)



For more specific information about ADA requirements for telecommunications contact:

Federal Communications Commission 1919 M Street, NW Washington, DC 20554 (202) 632-7260 (202) 632-6999 (TDD)

For more specific information about federal disability-related tax credits and deductions for business contact:

Internal Revenue Service
Department of the Treasury
1111 Constitution Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20044
(202) 566-2000

This booklet is available in Braille, large print, audiotape and electronic file on computer disk. To obtain accessible formats call the Office of Equal Employment Opportunity on (202) 663-4395 (voice) or (202) 663-4399 (TDD), or write to this office at 1801 L Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20507.



Friday July 26, 1991

Part V

Equal Employment Opportunity Commission

29 CFR Part 1630 Equal Employment Opportunity for Individuals With Disabilities; Final Rule

29 CFR Parts 1602 and 1627
Recordkeeping and Reporting Under Title
VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and
the Americans With Disabilities Act
(ADA); Final Rule

Equal Employment Opportunity Commission

29 CFR Part 1630

Equal Employment Opportunity for Individuals With Disabilities

AGENCY: Equal Employment Opportunity Commission. ACTION: Final rule.

Steamart: On July 26, 1980, the Amoricans With Disabilities Act (ADA) was signed into isw. Section 108 of the ADA requires that the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (ERXC) issue substantive regulations implementing title I (Employment) within one year of the date of enscription of the Act Pursuant to this mandate, the Commission is publishing a new part 1830 to its regulations to implement title I and sections 3(2), 3(3), 501, 503, 500(e), 508, 510, and 511 of the ADA as those sections pertain to employment. New part 1830 prohibits discrimination against qualified individuals with disabilities in all aspects of employment.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: Elizabeth M. Thurnton, Deputy Legal Coursel, (202) 663–4636 (voice), [202) 863–7028 [TDB] or Christopher G. Bell, Acting Associate Legal Counsel for Americans With Disabilities Act Services, [202] 663–4679 (voice), [202) 683–7026.

Copies of this final rule and interpretive appendix may be obtained by cailing the Office of Communications and Legislative Affairs at (202) 863-4800 Copies in alternate formats may be obtained from the Office of Equal Employment Opportunity by cailing (202) 863-4388 (102) 803-4398 (102). The alternate formats available are, Large print, braille, electronic file on computer disk, and audio-tape.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION:

Rulemaking History

The Commission actively solicited and considered public comment in the development of part 1830. On August 1, 1990, the Commission published an advance notice of proposed rulemaking (ANPRM), 55 FR 31192, informing the public that the Commission had begun the process of developing substantive regulations pursuant to title 1 of the ADA and inviting comment from interested groups and individuals. The comment preciod ended on August 31 1990. In response to the ANPRM, the Cummission fee event 138 comments from sanous stashbility rights organizations employer groups, and

individuals. Comments were also solicited at 83 ADA input meetings conducted by Commission field offices throughout the country. More than 2400 representatives from disability rights organizations and simployer groups participated in these meetings.

On February 28, 1891, the Commission

On February 28, 1891, the Commission published a notice of proposed rulemaking [NPRM], 58 FR 8878, setting forth proposed part 1830 for public comment. The comment period ended April 29, 1891, in response to the NPRM, the Commission received 697 timely comments from interested groups and individuals, in many instances, a comment was submitted on behalf of several parties and represented the views of numerous groups, employers, or individuals with disabilities. The comments have been analyzed and considered in the development of this final rule

Overview of Regulations

The format of part 1630 reflects congressional intent, as expressed in the legislative history, that the regulations implementing the amployment provisions of the ADA be modeled on the regulations implementing section 506 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, 34 CFR part 104. Accordingly, in developing part 1830, the Commission has been guided by the section 506 regulations and the case law intermediate these resultations.

interpreting those regulations. It is the intent of Congress that the regulations implementing the ADA be comprehensive and easily understood Part 1630, therefore, defines terms not previously defined in the regulations implementing section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, such as "substantially limits," "essential functions," and "reasonable accommodation," Of necessity, many of the determinations that may be required by this part must be made on a case-bycase basis. Where possible, part 1630 establishes parameters to serve as guidelines in such inquiries.

The Commission is also issuing interpretive guidance concurrently with the issuance of part 1630 in order to ensure that qualified individuals with disabilities understead their rights understead their rights understead their part and to facilitate and encourage compliance by covered entities. Therefore, part 1630 is accompanied by an appendix. This appendix represents the Commission's interpretation of the issues discussed, and the Commission will be guided by it when resolving charges of employment discrimination. The appendix addresses the major provisions of part 1630 and explains the major concepts of disability rights.

authority, such as the legislative history of the ADA and case law interpreting section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, that provides the basis and purpose of the rale and interpretative guidance.

More detailed guidance on specific issues will be forthcoming in the Commission's Compliance Manual. Several Compliance Manual sections and policy guidances on ADA issues are expected to be issued prior to the effective dete of the Act. Among the issues to be addressed in depth are the theories of discrimination, definitions of disability and of qualified individual with a disability: reasonable accommodation and undue hardship, including the scope of reassignment, and pre-employment laquities

To assist us in the development of this guidance, the Commission requested comment in the NPRM from disability rights organizations, employers, unions. state agencies concerned with employment or workers compensation practices, and interested individuals on specific questions about insurance. workers' compensation, and collective bargaining agreements. Many commenters responded to these questions, and several commenters ed-tressed other matters pertinent to these areas. The Commission has considered these comments in the development of the final rule and will continue to consider them as it develops further ADA guidence.
In the NPRM, the Commission raised

questions about a number of insurance related matters. Specifically, the Commission asked commenters to discuss risk assessment and classification, the relationship between "risk" and "cost," and whather employers should consider the effects that changes in insurance coverage will have on individuals with disabilities before making those changes. Many commenters provided information about insurance practices and explained some of the considerations that affect insurance decisions. In addition, some commenters discussed their experiences with insurance plans and coverage. The commenters presented a wide range of opinions on insurance related matters, and the Commission will consider the comments as it continues to analyze these complex matters

The Commission received a large number of comments concerning inquines about an individual's workers compensation history. Many employers asserted that such inquines are job related and consistent with huminess necessity. Several individuals with disabilities and disability rights.



35727

organizations, however, argued that such inquiries are prohibited preamployment inquiries and are not jubrefeted and consistent with business necessity. The Commission has addressed this issue in the interpretive guidance accompanying § 1630.14(a) and will discuss the matter further in future guidance.

There was little controversy about the submission of medical information to workers' compensation offices. A number of employers and employer groups pointed out that the workers compensation offices of many states request medical information in connection with the administration of second-injury funds. Further, they noted that the disclosure of medical information may be necessary to the defense of a workers' compensation claim. The Commission has responded to these comments by amending the interpretive guidance accompanying § 1650.14(b). This amendment, discus below notes that the submission of medical information to workers compensation offices in accordance with state workers' compensation laws is not inconsistent with § 1630.14(b). The Commission will eddress thus area in greater detail and will discuss other lesues concerning workers compensation matters in future guidances, including the policy guidance on pre-employment inquiries.

With respect to collective bergaining agreements, the Commission asked commenters to discuss the relationship between collective bargaining agreements and such matters as undus hardship, reassignment to a vacant position, the determination of what constitutes a "vacant" position, and the confidentiality requires ents of the ADA. The comments that we received reflected a wide variety of views For cample, some commenters argued that it would always be an undue hardship for an employer to provide a reasonable accommodation that conflicted with the provisions of a collective bargaining agreement. Other commenters, how argued that an accommodation's effect on an agreement should not be considered when assessing undue hardship Similarly, some commenters stated that the appropriateness of ressignment to a vacant position should depend upon the provisions of a cullective bargaining agreement while others asserted that an agreement cannot limit the right to reassignment Many commenters discussed the relationship between an agreement s senionity provisions and an employer s reasonable accommodatum obligations In response to comments, the Commission has amended § 1630.2(n)(3) to include "the terms of a collective bargaining agreement" in the types of evidence relevant to determining the essential functions of a position. The Commission has made a corresponding change to the interpretive guidance on § 1630.2(n)(3) in addition, the Commission has amended the interpretive guidance on § 1630.15(d) to note that the forms of a collective bargaining agreement may be relevant to determining whether an accommodation would pose an undue hardship on the operation of a covered entity is business.

The divergent views expressed in the public comments demonstrate the complexity of employment-related issues concerning insurence, workers compensation, and collective bargaining agreement matters. These highly complex issues require extensive research and analysis and warrant further consideration. Accordingly, the Commission has decided to address the issues in depth in future Compliance Manual sections and policy guidances. Manual sections will consider the public comments that it received in response to the NPRM as it develops further guidance on the application of title 1 of the ADA to these matters.

The Commission has also decided to address burdens-of-proof issues in future guidance documents, including the Compilance Manual section on the theories of discrimination. Many commenters discussed the allocation of the various burdens of proof under title i of the ADA and asked the Commission to clarify those burdens. The comments in this area addressed such matters as determining whether a person is a qualified individual with a disability, job relatedness and business necessity, and undus hardship. The Commission will consider these comments as it prepares further guidance in this area.

A discussion of other significant comments and an explanation of the changes made in part 1630 since publication of the NPRM follows

Section-by-Section Analysis of Comments and Revisions

Section 1630.1 Purpose, Applicability and Construction

The Commission has made a technical correction to § 1830 (ia) by adding section 500(e) to the list of statutory provisions implemented by this part Section 500(e) of the ADA provides that the failure to receive technical assistance from the federal speniors that administer the ADA is not a

defense to failing to meet the obligations of title I.

Some commenters asked the Commission to note that the ADA does not present state claims, such as state tort claims, that confer greater remedies than are swallable under the ADA. The Commission has added a paragruph to that effect in the appendix discussion of §§ 1630.1 (b) and (c). This interpretation is consistent with the legislature history of the ACI. See H.R. Rep. No. 485 part 3. 101st Cong., 2d Sees. 69–70 (1930) (hereinafter referred to as House Judiciary Report).

In addition, the Commission has made

In addition, the Commission has made a technical amendment to the appendix discussion to note that the ADA does not automatically preempt medical standards or safety requirements established by Federal law or regulations. The Commission has also amended the discussion to refer to a direct threat that cannot be eliminated "or reduced" through reasonable accommodation. This language is consistent with the regulatory definition of direct threat (See § 1630 2(r), below)

Section 1830.2 Definitions Section 1830.2(h) Physical or Mental Impairment

The Commission has amended the interpretive guidance accompanying § 1830.2[h] to note that the definition of the term "impairment" does not include characteristic predisposition to illness or disease.

In addition, the Commission has specifically noted in the interpretive guidance that pregnancy is not an impairment. This change responds to the numerous questions that the Commission has received concerning whether pregnancy is a disability covered by the ADA. Pregnancy, by itself, is not an impairment and is therefore not a disability.

Section 1630 2(1) Substantially Limits

The Commission has revised the interpretive guidance accompanying \$1802 [2] to make clear that the determination of whether an impairment substantially limits one or more major life activities is to be made without regard to the availability of medicines, assistive devices, or other mitigating measures. This interpretation is consistent with the legislative history of the ADA. See S. Rep. No. 116, 10181 Cong., 1st Seas. 23 (1989) [hereinsifter referred to as Senate Report], H.R. Rep. No. 485 part 2, 10181 Cong., 2d Seas. 52 (1980) (hereinsifter referred to as House Labor Report), House Judiciary Report at 28. The Commission has also revised the samples in the third paragraph of this

section's guidance. The examples now focus on the individual s caspacity to perform major life activities rather than on the presence or absence or intigating measures. These revisions respond to comments from dissobility rights groups, which were concerned that the discussion could be misconstrued to exclude from ADA coverage individuals with dissibilities who function well because of assistive devices or other

mitigating measures.

In an amandment to the paragraph concerning the factors to consider when determining whether an impairment is substantially limiting, the Commission has provided a second example of an impairment's "impact." This example notes that a traumetic breed injury's affect on cognitive functions is the "impact" of that impairment.

Many commenters addressed the provisions concerning the definition of "substantially limits" with respect to the major life activity of working [§ 1630.2([[3]]). Some employers generally supported the definition but argued that it should be applied narrowly. Other employers argued that the definition is too broad. Disability rights groups and individuals with disabilities, on the other hand, argued that the definition is too narrow, unduly limits coverage, and places an onerous burden on individuals seeking to establish that they are covered by the ADA. The Commission has responded to these comments by making a number of clarifications in this area.

The Commission has revised

The Commission has revised § 1680.2([[3]]) and the accompanying interpretive guidence to note that the listed factors "may" be considered when determining whether an individual is substantially limited in working. This revision clarifies that the factors are relevant to, but are not required elements of, a showing of a substantial limitation in working.

Disability rights groups asked the Commission to clarify that "substantially limited in working" applies only when an individual is not substantially limited in any other major life activity. In addition, several other commenters indicated confusion about whether and when the ability to work should be considered when assessing if an individual has a disability. In response to these comments, the Commission has amended the interpretive guidance by adding a new paragraph clarifying the circumstances under which one should determine whether an individual is substantially limited in the major life activity of working. This paragraph makes clear that a determination of whether an individual is substantially timited in the determination of whether an individual is substantially timited in the

ability to work should be made only when the individual is not disabled in any other major life activity. Thus, individuals need not establish that they are substantially limited in working if they already have established that they are, have a record of, or are regarded as being substantially limited in another major life activity.

major life activity.

The proposed interpretive guidance in this area provided an example concerning a surgeon with a slight hand impairment. Several commenters expressed concern about this example. Many of these comments indicated that the example confused, rather than clarified, the matter. The Commission, therefore, has deleted this example. To explain further the application of the "substantially limited in working" concept, the Commission has provided another example (concerning a commercial arrians pilot) in the interpretive guidance.

in addition, the Commission has clarified that the terms "numbers and types of jobs" (see § 1830.2([§§§],[§§]) and "numbers and types of other jobs" (see § 1830.2([§§]);[§](C)) do not require an openuse evidenties; showing

an onerous evidentiary showing.

In the proposed Appendix, after the interpretive guidance accompanying § 1630.2(1), the Commission included a discussion entitled "Prequently Disabling impeliments." Many commaniers expressed concern about this discussion. In response to these comments and to avoid confusion, the Commission has revised the discussion has revised the discussion and has deleted the list of frequently disabling impairments. The revised discussion now appears in the interpretive guidance accompanying § 1830.2(1).

Section 1630.2(i) Is Regarded as Having Such an Impairment

Section 1630 2(1)(3) has been changed to refer to "a substantially limiting impairment" rather than "such an impairment." This change clarifies that an individual meets the definition of the term "disability" when a covered entity treats the individual as having a substantially limiting impairment. That is, § 1800 2(1)(3) refers to any aubstantially limiting impairment, rather than just to one of the impairments described in §§ 1800 2(1) (3) or (2). The proposed interpretive guidance on

The proposed interpretive guidance or \$1630.2(1) stated that, when determining whether an individual is regarded as substantially limited in working. "It should be assumed that all similar employers would apply the same exclusionary qualification standard that the employer charged with discrimination has used." The Commission specifically requested.

comments on this proposal, and many commenters addressed this issue. The Commission has decided to eliminate this assumption and to revise the interpretive guidance. The guidance now explains that an individual meets the "regarded as" part of the definition of disability if he or she can show that a covered entity made an employment decision because of a perception of a disability based on "myth, fear, or siercotype." This is consistent with the legislative history of the ADA. See House Jadiciary Report at 30.

Section 1690.2(m) Qualified Individual With a Disability

Under the proposed part 1830, the first step in determining whether an individual with a disability is a qualified individual with a disability was to determine whether the individual satisfies the requisite skill, experience and education requirements of the employment position" the individual holds or desires. Many employers and employer groups asserted that the proposed regulation unduly limited job prerequisites to skill, experience, and education requirements and did not permit employers to consider other job-related qualifications. To clarify that the reference to skill, experience, and education requirements was not intended to be an exhaustive list of permissible qualification requirements, the Commission has revised the phrase to include "skill, experience, educa and other job-related requirements. This revision recognizes that other types of job-related requirements may be relevant to determining whether an individual is qualified for a position.

Many individuals with disabilities and disability rights groups asked the Commission to emphasize that the determination of whether a person is a qualified individual with a disability must be made at the time of the employment action in question and cannot be based on speculation that the individual will become unable to perform the job is the future or may cause increased health insurance or workers' compensation costs. The Commission has amended the interpretive guidance on § 1880 Z[m] to reflect this point. This guidance is consistent with the legislative history of the Act. See Senate Report at 28, House Judiciary Report at 34, 71.

Section 1830 2(n) Essential Functions

Many employers and employer groups objected to the use of the terms 'primary' and 'intrinsic' in the definition of essential functions. To



avoid confusion about the meanings of "pringary" and "intrinsic," the Commission has deleted those terms from the definition. The first regulation defines essential functions as "fundamental job duties" and notes the essential functions do not include the manginal functions of a position.

The proposed interpretive guidance accompanying \$ 1630.3[a][2][ii] noted that one of the factors in determining whather a function is assential is the mathet of employees available to perform a jub function or among whom the performance of that function can be distributed. The proposed guidance explained that "[[this may be a factor cither because the total number of employees is low, or because of the fluctuating demands of the business operations." Some employers and employer groups expressed concern that this language could be interpreted as requiring an assessment of whether a job function could be distributed among all employees in any job at any level. The Commission has amended the interpretive guidance on this factor to clarify that the factor refers only to distribution among "available" employees.

Bection 1830.2(n)[3] lists several kinds of svidence that are relevant to determining whether a particular job function is essential. Some employers and unions asked the Commission to recognize that collective bargaining agreements may help to identify a position's essential functions in response to these comments the Commission has added "(t)be terms of a collective bargaining agreement" to the inst. In addition, the Commission has amended the interpretive guidance to note specifically that this type of evidence is relevant to the determination of essential functions. This addition is consistent with the legislative history of the Act. See Senate Report at 32. House Labor Report at 83

Proposed § 1830.2[n][3] referred to the evidence on the list as evidence "that may be considered in determining whether a particular function is essential." The Commission has revised this section to refer to evidence "of" whether a particular function is essential. The Commission made this revision in response to concerns about the meaning of the phrase "may be considered." In that regard, some commenters questioned whether the phrase meant that some of the listed evidence might not be considered when determining whether a function is essential to a position. This revision clarifies that all of the types of evidence on the list, when available, are relevant

to the determination of a position's essential functions. As the finel rule and interpretive guidance make char, the list is not an exhaustive list of all types of relevant evidence. Other types of available evidence may also be relevant to the determination.

The Commission has amended the interpretive guidance concerning § 1680.2(n)[3](i) to make clear that covered entities are not required to develop and maintain written job descriptions. Such job descriptions are relevant to a determination of a position's essential functions, but they are not required by part 1680.

Several commenture suggested that the Commission establish a rebuttable presumption in favor of the employer's judgment concerning what functions are essential. The Commission has not done so. On their point, the Commission notes that the House Committee on the judiciary specifically rejected an amendment that would have created such a presumption. See House Judiciary Report at 33-34.

Report at 33-34. The less persons of the interpretive guidance on § 1880.2[n] notes that the inquiry into what constitutes a position's essential functions is not intended to second guess an employer's business judgment regarding production standards, whether qualitative or quantitative. In response to several comments, the Commission has revised this paragraph to incorporate examples of qualitative production standards.

Section 1880.2(a) Reasonable
Accommodation

The Commission has deleted the reference to undue hardship from the definition of reasonable accommodation. This is a technical change reflecting that undue hardship to a defense to, rather than an aspect of. reasonable accommodation. As son commenters have noted, a defense to a term should not be part of the term's definition. Accordingly, we have separated the concept of undue hardship from the definition of ressonable. enmodation. This change does not affect the obligations of employers or the rights of individuals with disabilities. Accordingly, a covered entity remains obligated to make responsible accommodation to the known physical or mental limitations of an otherwise qualified individual with a disability unless to do so would impose an undue hardship on the operation of the covered entity's business. See

With respect to § 1630.2(o)(1)(i) some commenters expressed confusion shout the use of the phrase "qualified individual with a disability" in that

regard, they noted that the phrase has a specific definition under this part (see a 1630.2[m]) and questioned whether en individual must meet that definition to request an accommodation with regard to the application process. The Commission has substituted the phrase "qualified applicant with a disability" for "qualified individual with a disability." This change clarifies that an individual with a disability who requests a reasonable accommodation to participate in the application process must be eligible only with respect to the application process.

The Commission has modified § 1630.2[a][1][iii] to state that reasonable accommodation includes modifications or adjustments that enable employees with disabilities to enjoy benefits and privileges that are "equal" to (rather than "the asme" as) the benefits and privileges that are snjoyed by other employees. This change clarifies that such modifications or adjustments must ensure that individuals with disabilities receive equal access to the benefits and privileges afforded to other employees but may not be able to ensure that the individuals receive the same results of those benefits and privileges or practicely the same benefits and

Many commenters discussed whether the provision of daily attendant care is a form of reasonable accommodation Employers and employer groups asserted that reasonable accommodation does not include such assistance. Disability rights groups and individuals with disabilities, however. asserted that such assistance is a form of reasonable accommodation but that this part did not make that clear. To clarify the extent of the reasonable accommodation obligation with respect to daily attendant care, the Commission has amended the interpretive guidance on \$ 1830.2(o) to make clear that it may be a reasonable accommodation to provide personal assistants to help with specified duties related to the job

The Commission also has amended

The Commission also has amended the interpretive guidance to note that allowing an individual with a disability to provide and use equipment, aids, or services that an employer is not required to provide may also be a form of reasonable accommodation. Some individuals with disabilities and disability rights groups siked the Commission to make this clear.

The interpretive guidance points out that reasonable accommodation may include making non-work areas accessible to individuals with disabilities. Many commenturs asked





the Commission to include rest rooms in the examples of accessible areas that may be required as reasonable accommodistions. In response to those commonits, the Commission has added rest rooms to the avaniples.

In response to other comments, the Commission has added a paragraph to the guid-nac concerning job restructuring as a form of resocuable accummodation. The new paragraph notes that job restructuring may involve changing when or how an essential function is performed.

function is performed.

Several commenters asked the Commission to provide additional guidance concerning the responsible accommodation of reassignment to a vacant position. Specifically, commenters eaked the Commission to clarify how long an employer must wait for a vacancy to arise when considering resistingment and to explain whether the employer is required to maintain the salary of an individual who is reassignment from a higher-paying position to a lower-paying one. The Commission has amended the discussion of reassignment to refer to resistingment to a position that is vacant "within a reasonable amount of time". " in light of the totality of the circumstances." In addition, the Commission has noted that the salaries of reassigned individuals with disabilities if it does not maintain the salaries of individuals who are not disabled.

Section 1680.2(p) Undue Hardship

The Commission has substituted "facility" or "facilities" for "site." or "sites" in \$1830.2(p)(2) and has deleted the definition of the term "site" Many employers and employers groups expressed concern about the use end meaning of the term "site." The final regulation's use of the terms "facility" and "facilities" is consistent with the language of the statute.

The Commission has amended the less

The Commission has amended the less paragraph of the interpretive guidances accompanying § 1830 2(p) to note that when the cost of a requested accommodation would result in an undue hardship and outside funding is not available, an individual with a disability should be given the option of paying the portion of the cost that constitutes an undue hardship. This amendment is consistent with the legislative history of the Act. See Senate Report at 30 House Labor Report at 400

Report at 38. House Labor Report at 89. Several employers and employer groups asked the Commission to expand the list of factors to be considered when determining if an accommodation would impose an undue hardship on a covered entity by adding another factor. The

relationship of an accommodation's cost to the value of the position at issue, as measured by the compensation paid to the holder of the position. Congress, however, specifically rejected this type of factor. See House Judiciary Report at 41 (noting that the House Judiciary Committee rejected an amendment proposing that an accommodation costing more than ten percent of the amployee's salary be treated as an undue hardship. The Commission, therefore, has not added this to the list.

Section 1630.2[q] Qualification Standards

The Commission has deleted the reference to direct threat from the definition of qualification standards. This cevision is consistent with the revisions the Commission has made to §§ 1830.10 and 1830.15(b). (See discussion below.)

Section 1530.2(r) Direct Threat

Many disability rights groups and individuals with disabilities asserted that the definition of direct threat abould not include a reference to the health or safety of the individual with a disability. They expressed concern that the reference to "risk to self" would result to direct threat determinations that are based on negative stereotypes and paternalistic views about what is best for individuals with disabilities. Alternatively, the commenters asked the Commission to clarify that any assessment of risk must be based on the individual's present condition and not on speculation about the individual's future condition. They also asked the Commission to specify evidence other than medical knowledge that may be relevant to the determination of direct threat.

The final regulation retains the reference to the health or safety of the individual with a deability. As the appendix notes, this is consistent with the legislative history of the ADA and the case law interpreting section 304 of

the Rebabilitation Act

To clarify the direct threat standard, the Commission has made four revisions to § 1830.2(1). First, the Commission has amended the first sentence of the definition of direct threat to refer to a significant cisk of substantial harm that cannot be eliminated "or reduced" by reasonable accommodation. This amendment clarifies that the risk need not be eliminated entirely to fall below the direct threat definition; instead, the risk need only be reduced to the level at which there no longer exists a significant risk of substantial harm in addition, the Commission has rephrased the secand sentence of § 1830.2(1) to

clarify that an employer's direct threat standard must apply to all individuals, not just to individuals with disabilities Further, the Commission has made clear that a direct threat determination must be based on "an individualised be besed un an universal present assessment of the individual's present ability to safety perform the assential functions of the job." This clarifies that a determination that employment individual would pose a direct threat must involve an individualized inquir and must be based on the individual's current condition. In addition, the Commission has added "the immir of the potential harm" to the list of factors to be considered when distermining whether employment of an individual would puse a direct threat. This change clarifies that both the probability of barm and the imminumoe of harm are relevant to direct threat determinations. This definition of direct threat is consistent with the lexislative history of the Act. See Senate Report at 27. House Labor Report at 56-57. 73-75. House Judiciary Report at 45-48.

Further, the Commission has amended the interpretive guidance on § 1630.2(r) to highlight the individualized nature of the direct threat assessment. In addition, the Commission has cited examples of evidence other than medical knowledge that may be relevant to determining whether employment of an individual would pose a direct threat.

Section 1880.3 Exceptions to the Definitions of "Disability" and "Qualified Individual With a Disability"

Many commenters asked the Commission to clarify that the term "reabsliftenton program" includes self-belp groups, in response to these comments, the Commission has amended the interpretive guidance in this area to include a reference to professionally recognized self-help programs.

The Commission has added a parsgraph to the guidance on § 1630.3 to note that individuals who are not excluded under this provision from the definitions of the terms "disability" and "qualified individual with a disability" must still establish that they meet those definitions to be protected by part 1630. Several employers and employer groups asked the Commission to clarify that individuals are not automatically covered by the ADA simply because they do not fail into one of the exclusions listed to this section.

The proposed interpretive guidance on § 1830 3 noted that employers are entitled to seek reasonable assurances that an individual is not currently



engaging in the illegal use of drugs, in that regard, the guidance stated. "It is essential that the individual offer evidence, such as a drug test, to prove that he or she is not currently engaging" in such use. Many commenters interpreted this guidance to require individuals to come forward with evidence even in the absence of a required by the employer. The Commission has revised the interpretive guidance to clarify that such evidence is required only upon request.

Section 1680.6 Contractual or Other Arrangements

The Commission has added a sentence to the first paragraph of the interpretive guidance on § 1680.8 to clarify that this section has no impact on whether one is a covered entity or employer as defined by § 1680.2.

employer as defined by § 1830 2. The proposed interpretive guidance on contractual or other relationships noted that § 1630.6 applied to perties on either side of the relationship. To illustrate this point, the guidance stated that 'a copier company would be required to ensure the provision of any reasonable accommodation necessary to enable its copier service representative with a disability to service a client's machine." Several employers objected to this example. In that respect, the commenters argued that the language of the example was too broad and could be interpreted as requiring employers to make all customers premises accessible. The Commission has revised this axample to provide a clearer, more concrete indication of the scope of the reasonable accommodation obligations in this area.

In addition, the Commission has clarified the interpretive guidance by noting that the existence of a contractual relationship adds no new obligations "under this part."

Socian 1830.8 Relationship or Association With an Individual With a Disability

The Commission has added the phress "or otherwise discriminate against" to \$1830.5 This change clarifies that harasament or any other form of discrimination against a qualified individual because of the known disability of a person with whom the individual has a relationable or an association is also a prohibited form of discrimination.

The Commission has revised the first sontance of the interpretive guidance to refer to a person's relationship or association with an individual who has a "known" deability. This revision makes the language of the interpretive guidance consistent with the language of

the regulation, in addition, to reflect current, preferred terminology, the Commission has substituted the term "people who have AIDS" for the term "AIDS patients" Finelly, the Commission has added a paragraph to clarify that this provision applies to discrimination in other "imployment privileges and benefits, such as health insurance benefits.

Section 1630.9 Not Making Reasonable Accommodation

Section 1890.9(c) provides that "(a) covered entity shall not be excused from the requirements of this part because of any failure to receive technical assistance." "Some employers asked the Commission to revise this section and to state that the failure to receive technical assistance is a defense to not prov. ting reasonable seconomodation. The Commission has not made the requested revision. Section 1800.9(c) is consistent with section 1800.9(c) is consistent with section 1800.9(c) of the ADA, which states that the failure to receive technical assistance from the federal agencies that administer the ADA does not excuse a covered entity from compliance with the requested of the ACI.

commisser the FLDA does not excuse a covered entity from compliance with the requirements of the Act.

The first paragraph of the interpretive guidance accompanying § 1630-9 noise that the reasonable accommodation obligation does not require employers to provide adjustments or modifications that are primorily for the personal use of the individual with a disability. The Commission has amended this guidance to clarify that employers may be required to provide items that are customarily personal-use items where the items are specifically designed or

required to meet job-related needs. In addition, the Commission has amended the interpretive guidance to clarify that there saust be a nexus between an individual's disability and the need for accommodation. Thus, the guidance actes that an individual with a disability is "otherwise qualified" if be or she is qualified for the job except that, "because of the disability," the individual needs reasonable accommodation to perform the expential functions of the job. Similarly, the guidance notes that employers are required to accommodate only the physical or mental limitations "resulting from the disability" that are known to the employer.

In response to commenters' requests for clarification, the Commission has noted that employers may require individuals with disabilities to provide documentation of the need for reasonable accommodation when the need for a requested accommodation is not obvious.

in addition, the Commission has amended the last paragraph of the interpretive guidance on the "Process of Determining the Appropriate Reasonable Accusmodation." This susendment clarifies that an employer must consider allowing an individual with a disability to provide his or her own accommodation if the individual wishes to do so. The amployer, however, may not require the individual to provide the accommodation if the provide the accommodation.

Section 1880.10 Qualification Standards, Tests, and Other Selection Criterie

The Commission has added the phress "on the basis of disability" to § 1880.10[a] to clarify this a selection criterion that is not job related and consistent with business necessity volates this section only when it screer a out an individual with a disabilities) on the basis of disability. That is, there must be a naxus between the exclusion and the disability a selection criterion that screens out an individual with a disability for reasons that are not rulated to the disability does not violate this section. The Commission has made civilar changes to the interpretive guidence on this section.

Proposed § 1630.10(b) stated that a covered entity could use as a qualification standard the requirement that an individual not pose a direct threat to the health or safety of the individual or others Many individuals with disabilities objected to the inclusion of the direct threat reference in this section and asked the Commission to clarify that the direct threat standard must be raised by the covered entity as a defense. In that regard, they specifically saked the Commission to move the direct threat provision from § 1630.10 (qualification standards) to § 1630.15 (defenses). The Commission has deletted the direct threat provision from § 1630.10 and has moved it to § 1630.15. This is consistent with section 103 of the ADA, which refers to defenses and states (in section 103(b)) that the term 'qualification standards' may include a requirement that an individual not pose a direct threat.

Section 1600,11 Administration of Tests

The Commission has revised the interpretive guidance concerning § 1830.11 to clarify that a request for an alternative test formst or other testing accommodation generally should be made prior to the administration of the test or as soon as the individual with a



disability becomes a ware of the need for accommodation. In addition, the Commission has amended the last paragraph of the guidance on this section to note that an employer can require a written test of an applicant with dysisate if the ability to read is "the skill the test in designed to measure." This language is consistent with the regulatory language, which refers to the skills a test purports to measure.

Some commonlers noted that certain tests are designed to measure the speed with which an applicant performs a function. In response to these comments, the Councilsation has amended the interpretive guidance to state that an employer may require an applicant to complete a test within a specified time frame if speed is one of the skills being tested.

In response to comments, the Commission has emerated the interpretive guisance accompanying § 1630.14(a) to clarify that employers may invite applicants to request accommodations for taking tests. (See § 1630.14(a), below.)

Section 1830.12 Retaliption and Coercian

The Commission has amended § 1630.12 to clarify that this section also prohibits harsussment

Section 1680.13 Prohibited Medical Examinations and Inquiries

in response to the Commission's request for comment on certain workers' compensation matters, many commenters addressed whether a covered entity may sak applicants about their history of workers' compensation claims. Many employers and employer groups argaed that an inquiry about an individual's workers' compensation history is job related and consistent with business necessity. Disability rights groups and individuals with disabilities, bowsever, assented that such an loquiry could disclose the existence of a disability in response to comments and to clarify this matter, the Commission has amended the interpretive guidence accompanying § 1850.13(a). The amendment stries that an employer may not inquire about an individual's workers' compensation history at the pre-offer stage.

pra-offer stage.

The Commission has made a technical change to § 1630.13(b) by deleting the phrase "indeas the examination or inquiry is shown to be job-related and consistent with business necessity" from the section. This change does not affect the substantive provisions of § 1630.13(b). The Commission has incorporated the job-relatedness and

business-necessity requirement into a new § 1630.14(c), which clarifies the scope of permissible examinations or inquiries of employees. (See § 1630.14(c), below.)

Section 1630.14 Medical Examinations and Inquiries Specifically Permitted Section 1630.14(a) Acceptable Preemployment Inquiry

Proposed § 1630.14(a) stated that a covered entity may make preemployment inquiries into an applicant's ability to perform job-releted functions. The interpretive guidence accompanying this section noted that an employer may ask an individual whether he or she can perform a job function with or without reasonable accommodation.

Many employers asked the Commission to provide additional guidance in this area. Specifically, the commenters asked whether an employer may ask how an individual will perform a job function when the individual's known disability appears to interfere with or prevent performance of jobreisted functions. To clarify this matter, the Commission has amended § 1680.14(a) to state that a covered entity "may ask an applicant to describe or to demonstrate how, with or without reasonable accommodation, the applicant will be able to perform jobreisted functions." The Commission has amended the interpretive guidance accompanying § 1680.14(a) to reflect this change.

Many commenters asked the Commission to state that employ inquire, before tests are taken, whether candidates will require any reasonable accommodations to take the tests. They asked the Commission to acknowledge that such inquiries constitute permissible pre-employment inquiries In response to these comments, the Commission has added a new paragraph to the interpretive guidence on § 1630.14(a). This paragraph clarifies that employers may ask candidates to inform them of the need for reasonable accommodation within a reasonable time before the administration of the est and may request documentation verifying the need for accommodation

The Commission has received many comments from law enfercement and other public safety agencies concerning the administration of physical agility tests. In response to those comments, the Commission has added a new paragraph clerifying that such tests are not medical exeminations.

Many employers and employer groups have asked the Commission to discuss whether employers may invite applicants to self-identify as individuals

with disabilities. In that regard, many of the commenters noted that section 503 of the Rehabilitation Act imposes certain obligations an government contractors. The interpretive guidance accumpanying § 1830.16) and (c) motes that "title I of the ADA would not be a defense to failing to collect information required to settley the affirmative action requires to settley the affirmative action requires the commission has amended the interpretive guidance accompanying § 1830.14(a) to note specifically that this section does not restrict employers from collecting information and inviting individuals to identify themselves as individuals with disabilities as required to astisfy the affirmative action requirements of section 503 of the Rehabilitation Act.

Section 1830.14(b) Employment Entrance Examinations

Section 1830.14(b) has been amended to include the phrase "(and/or inquiry)" after references to medical examinations. Some commenters were concerned that the regulation as drafted prohibited covered entities from making any medical inquiries or administoring questionnaires that did not constitute examinations. This change clarifies that the term "employment extreme examinations" includes medical inquiries as well as medical examinations.

Section 1630.14(b)(2) has been revised to state that the results of employment entrance examinations "shall not be used for any purpose inconsistent with this pert." This language is consistent with the lenguage used in § 1630.14(c)(2).

The second paragraph of the proposed interpretive guidance on this section referred to "relevant" physical and psychological criteria. Some commenters questioned the use of the term "relevant" and expressed concern about its meaning. The Commission has deleted this term from the paragraph.

Many commenters addressed the confidentiality provisions of this section. They noted that it may be necessary to disclose medical information in defense of workers' compensation claims or during the course of other legal proceedings. In addition, they pointed out that the workers' compensation offices of many states request such information for the administration of second-injury funds or for other administrative purposes.

The Commission has revised the last paragraph of the interpretive guidance on § 1630.14(b) to reflect that the information obtained during a permitted employment entrance examination or



inquiry may be used only "in a manu-not inconsistent with this part." in addition, the Commission has added language clarifying that it is permissible to submit the information to state worken compensation office

Several commenters asked the Commission to clarify whether information obtained from amployment entrance exeminations and inquiries may be used for insurance purposes. In response to these comments, the Commission has noted in the interpretive guidance that such information may be used for in purposes described in § 1630.16(f).

Section 1630.14(c) Examination of Employees

The Commission has added a new 1830.14(c). Examination of amploye that clarifies the scope of permissible medical examinations and inquiries Several employers and employer groups expressed consern that the proposed version of part 1630 did not make it clear that covered entities may require ness for duty examinations, that are oh related and consistent with business necessity. New § 1990.14(c) clarifies this by expressly permitting covered entities to require employee medical examinations and inquiries that are job related and consistent with business necessity. The information obtained from such examinations or inquiries must be treated as a confidential medical record. This section also incorporates the last sentence of proposed § 1630.14(c). The remainder of proposed § 1880.14(c) has become \$ 1630.14(d).

To comport with this technical change in the regulation, the Commission has made corresponding changes in the interpretive guidance. Thus, the Commission has moved the second paragraph of the proposed guidance on \$ 1630.13(b) to the guidance on \$ 1630.14(c). In addition, the Commission has reworded the paragraph to note that this provision permits (rather than does not prohibit) certain medical examinations and mountes.

Some commenters asked the Commission to clarify whether employers may make inquiries or require medical examinations in connection with the reasonable accommodation process The Commission has noted in the interpretive guidance that such inquiries and examinations are permissible when they are necessary to the reasonable accommodation process described in this part

Section 1630.15 Defenses

The Commission has added a sentence to the interpretive guidance on § 1830.15(a) to clarify that the assertion that an insurance plan does not cover an individual's disability or that the disability would cause imcreased manance or workers, combensation ensurers, worm rame immediate. neediscriminatory reason for dispersie treatment of an individual with a disability. This clarification, made in disability. This clarification, made in response to many comments from individuals with disabilities and disability rights groups, is consistent with the legislative history of the ADA. See Senate Report at 135, House Labor Report at 135, House Judiciary Report at 135.

The Commission has amended § 1630.15(b) by stating that the term qualification standard" may include a requirement that an individual not poss a direct threat. As noted above, this is consistent with section 103 of the ADA and responds to many comments from individuals with disabilities.

The Commission has made a technical porrection to \$ 1630.15(c) by changing the phrase "an individual or class of individuals with disabilities" to "an individual with a disability or a class of individuals with dissbilities.

Several employers and employer roups asked the Commission to acknowledge that undue hardship considerations about reasonable accommodations at impourary work sites may be different from the considerations relevant to permanent work sites, in response to these comments, the Commission has amended the interpretive guidance on § 1880.15(d) to note that an accommodation that poses an undue hardship in a particular job setting, such se a temporary construction site, may not pose an undue hardship in another setting. This guidance is consistent with the legislative history of the ADA. See House Labor Report at 69-70: House ludiciary Report at 41–42.

The Commission class has amended

the interpretive guidance to note that the terms of a collective bargaining terms or a conscrive personner to the determination of whether a requested accommodation would pose an undue herdship on the operation of a covered entity's business. This amendment, which responds to commenters' reques that the Commission recognize the relevancy of collective bargaining agreements, is consistent with the legislative history of the Act Ses Sensie Raport at 32. House Labor Report at 83
Section 1420 of Market

ection 1630 2(p)(2)(v) provides that the impact of an accommodation on the ability of other employees to perform their duties is one of the factors to be considered when determining whether the ecommodation would impose an undue hardship on a covered entity. Many commenters addressed whether an accommodation's impact on the morals of other employees may be relevant to a determination of undue hardship. Some employers and employer groups asserted that a negative impact on ampioyee morale should be considered an mouse hardship Disability rights groupe and individuals with disabilities, however, argued that undue hardship determinations must not be based on the morale of other employees. It is the Commission that a negetive effect on morale, by itself, is not sufficient to meet the undue hardship standard. Accordingly, the Commission has noted in the guidance on § 1630 15(d) that an employer cannot establish undue hardship by showing only that an accommodation would have a negative impact on employee morals. Section 1880.18 Specific Activities

The Commission has revised the second sentence of the interpretive guidance on \$ 1630.16(b) to state that an employer may hold individuals with sicoholism and individuals who engage in the illegal use of drugs to the same performance and conduct standards to which it holds "all of its" other employees. In addition, the Commission employees, in animon, the commerce has deleted the term "otherwise" from the third sentence of the guidance. These revisions clarify that employers may hold all employees, disabled (including those disabled by alcoholism or drug addiction) and no adisabled, to the same performance and conduct standarda

Many commenters asked the Commission to clarify that the drug testing provisions of § 1830.16(c) pertain only to tests to determine the illegal use of drugs. Accordingly, the Commission has amended § 1930.16(c)[1] to refer to the administration of "such" drug tests and \$ 1630.16(c)(3) to refer to information obtained from a determine the illegal use of drugs." We have also made a change in the grammatical structure of the last sentence of \$ 1630.16(c)(1) We have made similar changes to the ourresponding section of the interpretive guidance. In addition, the Commission has amended the interpretive guidance to state that such tests are neither encouraged, "authorized," nor prohibited, This emendment conforms the language of the guidance to the language of § 1630.16(c)(1).



The Commission has revised \$ 1650.10[e](1) to refer to communicable diseases that "are" (rather than "may be") transmitted through the handling of food. Several commenters asked the Commission to make this technical change, which adopts the statutory

Beverel commenters also asked the ion to conform the language of proposed § 1630.18(f) (1) and (2) to the language of sections 501(c) (1) and (2) of the Act. The Commission has made this change. Thus. \$ 1630.16(f) (1) and (2) now refer to risks that a inconsistent with State law.

Executive Order 1229; and Regulatory Floxibility Act

The Commission published a Preliminary Regulatory Impact Analysis on February 28, 1891 (56 FR 8578). Based on the Preliminary Regulatory Impact sis, the Commission certifies that this final rule will not have a significant economic impact on a substantial aumber of small business entities. The Commission is issuing this final rule at this time in the absence of a Final Regulatory Impact Analysis in order to meet the statutory deadline. The Commission's Preliminary Regulatory Impact Analysis was based upon existing data on the costs of reasonable edation. The Commission received few comments on this aspect of its rulemaking. Because of the complexity inherent in assessing the compactly unaversule asserting the economic costs and benefits of this rule and the relative paucity of data on this issue, the Commission will further study the economic impact of the regulation and intends to issue a Final Regulatory Impact Analysis prior to January 1, 1992. As indicated above, the Preliminary Regulatory Impact Analysis was published on February 28, 1991 (56 FR 8878) for comment. The Commission w also provide a copy to the public upon request by calling the Commission's Office of Communications and Legislative Affairs at (202) 663-4900. Commenters are urged to provide additional information as to the costs and benefits associated with this rule This will further facilitate the development of a Pinal Regulatory Impact Analysis. Comments must be received by September 28, 1991. Written comments should be submitted to Frances M. Hart. Executive Officer Executive Secretarist, Equal Employment Opportunity Commission. 1801 "L" Street, NW., Washington, DC

20507 As a convenience to commenters, the Executive Secretariat will accept public comments transmitted by faceimile ("FAX") machine The telephone

number of the FAX receiver is (202) 663-4114. (This is not a toll-free number). Only public comments of six or fewer pages will be accepted via FAX transmittel. This limitation is nec in order to assure access to the equipment. Comments sent by FAX in excess of six pages will not be accepted. Receipt of FAX transmittals will not be acknowledged, except that the sender may request confirmation of receipt by calling the Executive Secretariat Staff at (202) 663-4678. (This is not a toll-free number).

Comments received will be available for public inspection in the EEOC Library, room 8502, by appointment only, from 9 s.m. to 5 p.m., Monday through Friday except legal holidays from October 15, 1991, until the Final Regulatory Impact Analysis is published. Persons who need as to review the comments will be provided with appropriate side such as readers or print magnifiers. To schedule an appointment call (202) 683-4030 (votce), (202) 683-4630 (TDD).

List of Subjects to 29 CFR Part 1630

Equal employment opportunity. Handicapped, Individuals with dischilitie

For the Commission Even J. Kemp. Jr.,

Accordingly, 29 CFR chapter XIV is amended by adding part 1630 to read as

PART 1830—REGULATIONS TO IMPLEMENT THE EQUAL EMPLOYMENT PROVISIONS OF THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT

1630.1 Purpose, applicability, and

1880.2 Definitions. 1880.2 Receptions to the definitions of "Dischility" and "Qualified Individual with a Dischility".

1630 4 Discrimination prohibited.
1630.5 Limiting, segregating, and classifying
1630.5 Contractual or other arrangements.
1630.7 Standards, criteria, or methods of

1890.7 Standards, Criteria, or immunous and administration.
1830.6 Relationship or association with an individual with a disability.
1830.9 Not making reasonable

nodation 1630 10 Qualification standards, tests, and

other selection criteria. 1630-11 Administration of tests. 1830-12 Retailstion and coercion

Prohibited medical examinations and inquiries
1630.14 Medical examinations and inquiries

specifically permitted.

1630 18 Specific activities permitted.

endix to Part 2639—into issue as Title I of the As

Authority: 42 U.S.C. 12116

§ 1930.1 Purpose, applicability, as

- (a) Purpose. The purpose of this part to implement title I of the Americans with Disabili tes Act (42 U.S.C. 12101, et seq.) (ADA), requiring equal employment opportunities for qualified individuals with disabilities, and sections 3(2), 3(2), 591, 803, 506(e), 508. 510, and 511 of the ADA as those sections pertain to the employment of qualified individuals with disabilities.
- (b) Applicability. This part applies to covered entities" as defined at 1630.2(b)
- (c) Construction.—(1) In general Except as otherwise provided in this part, this part does not apply a lesser standard than the standards applied under title V of the Rehabili ation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. 790-794a), or the regulations issued by Federal agencies pursuant to that title
- (2) Relationship to other laws. This part does not invalidate or limit the remedies, rights, and procedures of any Federal law or law of any State or political subdivision of any State or furisdiction that provides greater or equal protection for the rights of individuals with disabilities than are afforded by this part.

- (a) Commission means the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission established by section 708 of the Civil Rights Act of 1884 (42 U.S.C. 2000e-4).
- (b) Covered Entity means an employer, employment agency, lebor organization, or joint labor management committee.
- (c) Person, labor organization. employment agency, costmence and industry offecting commerce shall have the same meaning given those terms in section 701 of the Civil Rights Act of 1994 (42 U.S.C. 2000e).
- (d) State means each of the several States, the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, Guam American Samos, the Virgin Islands, the Trust Territory of the Pacific Islands. newealth of the Northern Mariana Islanda.
- (e) Employer.—(1) In general. The term employer means a person engaged in an industry effecting commerce who has 15 or more employees for each working day in each of 20 or more calender weeks in the current or preceding calendar year, and any agent of such person, except that, from July 26.



1982 through July 25, 1994, an employer means a person engaged to an industry affecting commerce who has 25 or more employees for each working day in each of 20 or more calendar weeks in the current or preceding year and any agent ch person. of e

(2) Exceptions. The term employer see not include— (i) The United States, a corporation

(i) The United States, compressed of the Wholly owned by the government of the United States, or an indian tribe; or (ii) A bone fide private membership this (other than a labor organization) that is exempt from taxation under section 501(c) of the internal Revenue

section sun(c) to the bound of 1985.
(f) Employee means an individual employed by an employer.
(g) Discriptify means, with respect to an individual

an individual—

(1) A physical or mental impairment
that substantially limits one or more of the major life activities of such individual:

(2) A record of such an imperment, or (3) being regarded as having such an impairment.

(See § 1630.3 for exceptions to this definition).

(b) Physical or mental impairment

(1) Any physiological disorder, or condition, cosmetic disfigurement, or anatomical less affecting one or more of the following body systems: neurological, musculoskeletal, special sense organs, respiratory (including speech organs), cardiovascular, reproductive, disestive, genito-urinary, hemic and lymphatic, skin, and endocrine: or

(2) Any mental or psychological isonder, such as mental relardation. disco organic brain syndrome, emotional or mental (liness, and specific learning disabilities.

(i) Major Life Activities means functions such as caring for oneself, performing manual tesks, walking. seeing hearing speaking breathing learning and working [] Substantially limits—(1) The term substantially limits means:

(i) Unable to perform a major life activity that the average person in the meral population can perform or (ii) Significantly restricted as to the

condition, manner or duration under which an individual can perform a particular major life activity as compared to the condition, manner, or duration under which the average person in the general population can perform that same mejor life scrivity.

(2) The following factors should be considered in determining whether an individual is substantially limited in a

major life activity

(i) The nature and severity of the

impairment:
(ii) The duration or expected duration e impairment and

(iii) The parmament or long term impact, or the expected permanent or long term impact of or resulting from the

(3) With respect to the major life activity of working—
(i) The term substantially limits (3) the term surrammentary returned in the ability to perform either a class of jobs or a broad range of jobs in various classes as compared to the average classes as compared to the average person having comparable training. skills and abilities. The inshility to perform a single, particular job does not constitute a substantial limitation in the major life activity of working.

(ii) in addition to the factors listed in

eregraph (j)(2) of this section, the persgraph (j)[2] of this section, use following factors may be considered in determining whether an individual is substantially limited in the major life

stropantially initial in the limit in a sectivity of "working":

(A) The geographical area to which the individual has reasonable scoose:

(B) The job from which the individual has been disqualified because of an impairment, and the number and types of jobs utilizing similar training, knowledge, skills or abilities, within that ographical area, from which the

geographical area, reas wheel in individual is also disqualified because of the impairment (class of jobs); and/or (C) The job from which the individual has been disqualified because of an has been disquatment because in air impetiment, and the number and types of other jobs not utilizing similar training, knowledge, skills or abilities, within that geographical area, from which the individual is also disqualified which the maritimal is and unqualities because of the impairment (broad range of jobs in various classes).

(k) Has a record of such impairment

means has a history of, or has been misclassified as having, a mental or physical impairment that substantially physical impairment that succession, jimits one or more major life activities.
(i) Is regarded as having such an

niment means

(1) Has a physical or mental salrment that does not substantially limit major life activities but is treated by a covered entity as constituting .uch timitation.

(2) Has a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits major life activities only as a result of the attitudes of others toward such impairment or

(2) Has none of the impairments defined in paragraphs (b) (1) or (2) of this section but is treated by a covered entity as having a substantially limiting impeliment.
(m) Qualified individual with a

disability means an individual with a

disability who satisfies the requisite skill, experience, education and tob-related requirements of the rience, education and other loyment position such individual holds or desires, and who, with or without ressonable accommodation, can perform the essential functions of such position. (See § 1630.3 for exceptions to this definition).

(n) Essential functions.—(1) In general. The term essential functions means the fundamental job duties of the employment position the individual with a disability holds or desires. The term sential functions" does not include the marginal functions of the position.

(2) A job function may be considered essential for any of several reasons, including but not limited to the following

(i) The function may be essential because the reason the position suists is to perform that function;

(ii) The function may be essential because of the limited number of employees available among whom the performance of that job function can be distributed; and/or

(iii) The function may be highly specialized so that the incambent in the position is hired for his or her expertise or a dility to perform the particular function.

(2) Evidence of whether a particular function is essential includes, but is not limited to:

[I] The employer's judgment as to which functions are essential.

(ii) Written job descriptions prepared before advertising or interviewing applicants for the job;

(iii) The amount of time spent on the job performing the function: (iv) The consequences of not raquiring

the incumbent to perform the function; (v) The terms of a collective

bergaining agreement.

(vi) The work experience of past incumbeats in the job; and/or

(vii) The current work experience of incumbents in similar jobs.

(a) Reasonable accommodation. (1) The term reasonable accommodation

[1] Modifications or adjustments to a job application process that enables a qualified applicant with a disability to be considered for the position such qualified applicant desires; or

(ii) Modifications or adjustments to the work environment, or to the manner or circumstances under which the position held or desired is customarily performed, that enable a qualified individual wir' a disability to perform the essential; auctions of that position:



- (iii) Modifications or adjustments that enable a covered entity's employee with a disability to enjoy equal hencits and privileges of employment as are enjoyed by its other stealisty situated employees without disabilities.
- (1) Reasonable accommodation may (a) Meeting existing facilities used by
- employees readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities:
- (B) Job restructuring: part-time or modified work schedules: reassignment to a vacant position; acquisition or modification: of equipment or devices: appropriate edjustment or modifications of examinations, training materials, or policies: the provision of qualified readers or interpreters, and other similar seconmodations for individuals with disabilities.
- (3) To determine the appropriate reasonable accommodation it may be sossary for the covered entity to initiate an informal, interactive process with the qualified individual with a disability in need of the accommodation This process should identify the procise limitations resulting from the disability and potential reasonable accommodations that could overcome those limitations.
- (p) Undue hardship—(1) in general. Under hardship means, with respect to the provision of an accommodation, significant difficulty or expense incurred by a covered entity, when considered in light of the factors set forth in paragraph (p)(2) of this section.
- (2) Factors to be considered, to determining whether an accommodation would impose an undue hardship on a covered entity, factors to be considered
- (i) The nature and net cost of the commodation needed under this part, taking into consideration the availability of tax credits and deductions, and/or outside funding:

 (ii) Fee overall financial resources of
- the facility or facilities involved in the provision of the reasonable accommodation, the number of persons employed at such facility, and the effect to expenses and resources:
- (iii) The overall finencial resources of the covered entity, the overall size of the the covered sumy, we are the sum of the covered suity with respect to the number of its employees, and the number, type and location of its facilities:
- (iv) The type of operation or operations of the covered entity including the composition, structure and functions of the workforce of such entity, and the geographic separateness and administrative or fiscal relationship

of the facility or facilities in question to

the covered entity, and

(v) The impact of the accommodation
upon the operation of the facility,
including the impact on the ability of other employees to perform their duties and the impact on the facility's ability to sinesa.

(q) Qualification standards means the recoal and professional attributes including the skill, experience education, physical, medical, safety and other requirements established by a covered entity as requirements which an individual must meet to order to be eligible for the position held or desired.
(r) Direct Threat means a significant

- k of substantial harm to the bealth or safety of the individual or others that cannot be eliminated or reduced by ressonable accommodation. The determination that an individual poses a shall be besed on an 'direct threat individualized assessment of the individual's present ability to safely perform the assential functions of the job. This assessment shall be based on a reasonable medical judgment that relies on the most current medical knowledge and/or on the best available objective avidence. In determining whether an individual would pose a direct threat, the factors to be considered include:
 (1) The duration of the risk:
- (2) The nature and severity of the potential harm: (3) The likelihood that the potential
- harm will occur; and
 (4) The imminence of the potential

§ 1630.9 Exceptions to the definitions of "Disability" and "Qualified individual with a Disability."

- (a) The terms disability and qualified individual with a disability do not include individuals currently engaging in the illegal use of drugs, when the covered entity acts on the pasts of such
- (1) Drug means a controlled substance, as defined in schedules I through V of Section 202 of the Controlled Substances Act (21 U.S.C.
- (2) likegal use of drugs means the use of drugs the possession or distribution of which is uniawful under the Controlled Substances Act, as periodically updated by the Food and Drug Administration. This term does not include the use of a drug taken under the supervision of a licensed health care professional, or other uses authorized by the Controlled Substances Act or other provisions of
- (b) However, the terms disability and qualified individual with a disability may not exclude an individual who

- (1) Has successfully completed a supervised drug rehabilitation prog and is no longer engaging in the illegal use of drugs, or has otherwise been rehabilitated successfully and is no longer engaging in the illegal use of drugs; or
- (2) is participating in a supervised rehabilitation progress and is no longer engaging in such use; or
- (3) is arroneously regarded as engaging in such use. but is not engaging in such use.
- (c) It shall not be a violation of this part for a covered entity to adopt or administer reasonable policies or procedures, including but not limited to drug testing, designed to ensure that an individual described in peregraph (b) (1) or [2] of this section is no longer on (a) or time section is no temper engaging in the illegal use of drugs. (See § 1630.16(c) Drug testing).
 - (d) Disability does not include:
- (1) Transvestiam, transsexualism, pedophilia, exhibitionism, voyeurism, ender identity disorders not resulting gender identity disorders not result from physical impairments, or other sexual behavior disorders:
- (2) Compulsive gambling kleptomenia, or pyromenia; or
- (3) Psychoactive substance use disorders resulting from current illegal use of drugs.
- (e) Hamosexuality and bisexuality are not impairments and so are not disabilities as defined in this part.

testnetton orofell 5 1630.4 Object

- It is unlawful for a covered entity to discriminate on the basis of disability against a qualified individual with a disability in regard to: (a) Recruitment, advertising, and job
- application procedures:
 (b) Hiring, upgrading, promotion, award of tenure, demotion, transfer layoff, termination, right of return from layoff, and rehiring:
- (c) Rates of pay or any other form of compensation and changes in compensation;
- (d) job sasignments, job classifications, organizational structures, position descriptions, lines of progression, and seniority lists.
- [e] Leaves of absence, sick leave, or any other leave.
 (f) Prince benefits available by virtue
- employment, whether or not administered by the covered entity:
- (g) Selection and financial support for treining including apprenticeships. professional meetings, conferences and other related activities, and selection for
- leaves of absence to pursue training:
 (b) Activities sponsored by a covered entity including social and recreational programs; and



(i) Any other term, condition, or privilege of employment.

The term discrimination includes, but is

The term discrimination includes, but is not limited to, the acts described in §§ 1630.5 through 1630.13 of this part.

§ 1630.5 Literating segregating, and observings.

It is unlawful for a covered entity to imit, segregate, or classify a job applicant or employee in a way that adversely affects his or her employment opportunities or status on the basis of disability.

§ 1880.5 Contractual or other

(a) In general, it is unlawful for a covered entity to participate in a contractual or other arrangement or relationship that has the effect of subjecting the covered entity's own qualified applicant or employee with a disability to the discrimination prohibited by this pert.

(b) Contractual or other arrangement is the extraction of the contractual or other arrangement or other arran

(b) Controctual or other arrangement defined. The phrase contractual or other arrangement or relationship includes, but is not limited to, a relationship with an employment or referral agency; labor union, including collective bergaining agreements; an organization providing fringe benefits to an employee of the covered entity; or an organization providing training and apprenticeship programs.

(c) Application. This section applies to a covered entity, with respect to its own applicants or employees, whether the entity offered the contract or initiated the relationship, or whether the entity accepted the contract or acceded to the relationship. A covered entity is not liable for the actions of the other party or parties to the contract which only affect that other party's employees or applicants.

§ 1630.7 Standards, oritaria, or methods of administration.

it is unlawful for a covered entity to use standards, criteria, or methods of administration, which are not lobrelated and consistent with business necessity, and. [a] That have the effect of

(a) That have the effect of discriminating on the basis of disability;

(b) That perpetuate the discrimination of others who are subject to common administrative control

\S 1630.8 Relationship or association with an individual with a disability.

It is unlawful for a covered entity to exclude or dany equal jobs or benefits to, or otherwise discriminate against, a qualified individual because of the known disability of an individual is known whom the qualified individual is known

to have a family, business, social or other relationship or association.

§ 1630.9 Not staking resecutable accommodation.

(a) It is unlawful for a covered entity not to make reasonable accommodation to the known physical or mental limitations of an otherwise qualified applicant or employee with a disability, unless such covered entity can demonstrate that the accommodation would impose an undue hardship on the operation of its business.

(b) It is unlawful for a covered entity to deny employment opportunities to an employment experiment or employee with a disability based on the need of such covered entity to make reasonable accommodation to such individual's physical or mental impositments.

to A covered entity shall not be excused from the requirements of this part because of any failure to receive technical assistance authorized by section 308 of the ADA, including any failure in the development or dissemination of any technical assistance manual authorized by that Act.

[d] A qualified individual with a disability is not required to accept an accommodation, aid, service, opportunity or benefit which such qualified individual chooses not to accept However, if such individual rejects a reasonable accommodation, aid, service, opportunity or benefit that is necessary to enable the individual to perform the essential functions of the position held or destred, and cannot, as a result of that rejection, perform the essential functions of the position, the individual will not be considered a qualified individual with a disability

§ 1600.10 Qualification standards, tests and other selection orderts.

It is unlewful for a covered entity to use qualification standards, employment tests or other selection criteria that screen out or tend to screen out an individual with a disabilities, on the basis of disability, unless the standard, test or other selection criteria, as used by the covered entity, is shown to be sub-related for the position in question and is consistent with business necessity.

§ 1830.11 Administration of tests.

It is unlawful for a covered entity to fail to select and administer tests concerning employment in the most effective manner to ensure that, when a test is administered to a job applicant or employee who has a disability that

impairs sensory, manual or speaking skills, the test results accurately reflect the skills, aptitude, or whatever other factor of the applicant or employee that the test purports to measure, rather than reflecting the impaired sensory, manual, or speaking skills of such employee or applicant (except where such skills are the factors that the test purports to measure)

1638,12 Retailation and coarcion.

(a) Retaliation. It is unlawful to discriminate against any individual because that individual has opposed any act or practice made unlawful by this part or because that individual made a charge, testified, assisted, or participated in any manner in an investigation, proceeding, or bearing to enforce any provision contained in this part.

(b) Coercion, interfere...es or intundation. It is unlawful to coerce, intimidate, threaten, harsass or interfere with any individual in the exercise or enjoyment of, or because that individual aided or encouraged any other individual in the exercise of, any right granted or protected by this part.

§ 1630,13 Prohibited medical examinations and inquiries.

(a) Pre-employment examination or inquiry. Except as permitted by \$ 1630 14, it is unlawful for a covered entity to conduct a medical examination of an applicant or to make inquiries as to whether an applicant is an individual with a disability or as to the nature or severity of such disability.

(b) Examination or inquiry of employees. Except as permitted by § 1630.14, it is unlawful for a covered entity to require a medical examination of an employee or to make unquires as to whether an employee is an individual with a disability or as to the nature or severity of such disability.

§ 1630.14 Medical examinations and inquiries apecifically permitted.

(a) Acceptable pre employment inquiry. A covered entity may make pre-employment inquiries into the ability of an applicant to perform job-related functions, and/or may sak an applicant to describe or to demonstrate how, with or without reasonable accommodation, the applicant will be able to perform job-related functions.

(b) Employment entrance sxamination. A covered entity may require a medical examination [and/or inquiry] after making an offer of employment to a job applicant and before the applicant begins his or her employment duties, and may condition an offer of employment on the results of



such examination (and/or inquiry), if all entering employees in the same tob category are subjected to such an examination (and/or inquiry) regardless of disability.

- [1] Information obtained under peragraph (b) of this section regarding the modical condition or history of the applicant shall be collected and maintained on separate forms and in separate medical files and be treated as a confidential medical record, except that:
- [i] Supervisors and managers may be informed regarding necessary restrictions on the work or duties of the employee and necessary accommodations.
- (ii) First aid and safety personnel may be informed, when appropriate, if the disability might require emergency treatment; and
- (iii) Covernment officials investigating compliance with this part shall be provided relevant information on request
- (2) The results of such examination shall not be used for any purpose inconsistent with this part.
- (3) Medical examinations conducted in accordance with this section do not have to be job-related and consistent with business necessity. However, if certain criteria are used to screen out an employee or employees with disabilities as a result of such an examination or inquiry, the exclusionery criteria must be job-related and consistent with business necessity, and performance of the essential job functions cannot be accomplished with reasonable accommodation as required in this part [See § 1880.15(b) Defenses to charges of discriminatory application of selection criteria.
- (c) Examination of employees A covered entity may require a medical examination (and) or inquiry) of an employee that is job-related and consistent with business necessity A covered entity may make inquiries into the ability of an employee to perform job-related functions.
- (1) Information obtained under paragraph (c) of this section regarding the medical condition or history of any employee shall be collected and maintained on separate forms and in separate medical files and be treated as a confidential medical record, except that
- [1] Supervisors and managers may be infurmed regarding necessary restrictions on the work or duties of the employee and necessary accommodations:
- (ii) Pirst aid and safety personnel may be informed, when appropriate, if the

disability might require emergency treatment; and (iii) Covernment officials investige

- (iii) Covernment officials investigating compliance with this part shall be provided relevant information on request.
- (2) Information obtained under persgraph (c) of this section regarding the medical condition or history of any employee shall not be used for any purpose inconsistent with this part. (d) Other acceptable examinations
- (d) Other acceptable examinations and inquiries. A covered stitty may conduct voluntary medical examinations and activities, including voluntary medical histories, which are part of an employee health program available to employees at the work site.
- (1) Information obtained under paragraph (d) of this section regarding the medical condition or history of any employee shall be collected and meintained on separate forms and in separate medical files and be treated as a confidential medical record, except that:
- (i) Sepervisors and managers may be informed regarding necessary restrictions on the work or duties of the employee and necessary accommodations:
- (ii) First sid and safety personnal may be informed, when appropriate, if the disability might require emergency treatment; and
- treatment; and
 (iii) Government officials investigating
 compliance with this part shall be
 provided relevant information on
 request.
- request.
 (2) information obtained under paragraph (d) of this section regarding the medical condition or history of any ampluyee shall not be used for any purpose inconsistent with this part.

§ 1530.15 Defenses

Defenses to an allegation of discrimination under this part may include, but are not limited to, the followins:

- (a) Disparate treatment charges. It may be a delense to a charge of disparate treatment brought under §§ 1830.4 through 1830.8 and 1830.11 through 1630.12 that the challenged action is justified by a legitimate. nondiscriminatory reason.
- nondiscriminatory reason.

 (b) Choiges of discriminatory application of selection criterio—(1) In general it may be a defense to a charge of discrimination, as described in § 1800 to, that an alleged application of qualification standards, tests, or selection criteria that screens out or tends to screen out or otherwise denies a job or benefit to an individual with a disability has been shown to be job related and consistent with business incessity, and such performance cannot

be accomplished with reasonable accommodation, as required in this part.

- (2) Direct threat as a qualification standard. The term "qualification standard" may include a requirement that an individual shell not pose a direct threat to the health or safety of the individual or others in the workplace. (See § 1830.2(r) defining direct threat.)
- (c) Other dispures impact charges. It may be a defense to a charge of discrimination brought under this part that a uniformly applied standard, criterion, or policy has a dispurate impact on an individual with a disability or a class of individuals with disabilities that the challenged standard, criterion or policy has been shown to be jobrelated and consistent with business necessity, and such performance cannot be accomplished with reasonable accommodation, as required in this part.
- (d) Charges of not making reasonable accommodation. It may be a defense to a charge of discrimination, as described in § 1680.9, that a requested or necessary accommodation would impose an undue hardship on the operation of the covered entity's business.
- (e) Conflict with other federal laws. It may be a defense to a charge of discrimination under this part that a challenged action is required or necessiteted by another Federal law or regulation, or that another Federal law or regulation prohibits an action (including the provision of a particular reasonable accommodation) that would otherwise be required by this part.
- (f) Additional defenses. It may be a defense to a charge of discrimination under this part that the alleged discriminatory action is specifically permitted by §§ 1630.14 or 1630.16.

§ 1630.16 Specific activities permitted

- (a) Religious entities. A religious corporation, association, educational institution, or society is permitted to give preference in employment to individuals of a particular religion to perform work connected with the carrying on by that corporation, association, educational institution, or society of its activities. A religious suity may require that all applicants and employees conform to the religious tensis of such organization. However, a religious entity may not discriminate against a qualified individual, who satisfies the permitted religious criteria. because of his or her disability.
- (b) Regulation of alcohol and drugs. A covered entity:
- May prohibit the illegal use of drugs and the use of sloohol at the workplace by all employees.



(2) May require that surployees not be nder the influence of alcohol or be engaging in the illegal use of drugs at the workslace:

workplace;

(3) May require that all employees behave in conformance with the requirements established under the Drug-Frow Workplace Act of 1968 [41 U.S.C. 701 et seq.];

(4) May hold an employee who

engages in the illegal use of drugs or who is an elcoholic to the same qualification standards for employment or job performance and behavior to which the entity holds its other employees, even if any unsatisfactory performance or behavior is related to (a) Way adding that its emblohess the emblohes's dud use or ercopogram beneaverers or cemeater is missen in

unleyed in an industry subject to such quietions comply with the standards established in the regulations (if any) of the Departments of Defense and Transportation, and of the Nuclear

arampersumon, and of the funcional Regulatory Commission, regarding alcohol and the illegal use of drugs, and (8) May require that employees employed in sensitive positions comply with the regulations (if any) of the Departments of Defense and Transportation and of the Musican Transportation and of the Nuclear Regulatory Commission that apply to employment in sensitive positions

subject to such regulations.

(c) Drug testing—[1] General policy

For purposes of this part, a test to
determine the illegal use of drugs is not ounsidered a medical examination Thus, the administration of such drug tests by a covered entity to its job applicants or employees is not a violation of \$ 1630.13 of this part However, this part does not encourage, prohibit, or sutherize a covered entity to prohibit, or automore a covered unity to conduct drug tests of job applicants or employees to determine the lilegal use of drugs or to make employment decisions besed on each test results.

[2] Transportation Employees. This part does not encourage, prohibit, or suthorize the otherwise lawful exercise by entities subject to the jurisdiction of the Department of Transportation of authority to:

(i) Test employees of entities in, and applicants for, positions involving safety sensitive duties for the illegal use of

drugs or for on-duty impairment by

ol; and

(ii) Remove from safety-sensitive positions persons who lest positive for illegal use of drugs or on-duty impairment by slooked pursuant to

paragraph (c)(2)(i) of this section.
(3) Confidentiality. Any information regarding the medical condition or history of any employee or applicant obtained from a test to determine the illegal use of drugs, except information

regarding the illegal use of drugs, is subject to the requirements of 1 1830.14(b) (2) and (3) of this part

(d) Regulation of smoking. A covered entity may prohibit or impose restrictions on anoking in places of employment. Such restrictions do not violate any provision of this part.

(e) Infectious and communicable discusses; food handling jobs—[1] In general, Under title I of the ADA, section 103(d)[1], the Secretary of Health and Human Services is to prepare a list. to be updated annually, of infectious and communicable diseases which are transmitted through the handling of food. (Copies may be obtained from Center for Infectious Diseases, Centers for Disease Control, 1600 Chifton Road, NE, Mailstop Cos, Atlanta, GA 30333.] If an individual with a disability is disabled by one of the infectious or communicable discuses included on this ist, and if the risk of transmitting the disease associated with the handling of food cannot be eliminated by reasonable accommodation, a covered entity may refuse to assign or continue to assign such individual to a job involving food handling However, if the individual with a disability is a current oyee, the employer must consider whether he or she can be accommodated by resseignment to a dent position not involving food

handling.
(2) Effect on state or other lows. This (a) pyect on some or over town in the part does not presimpt, modify, or amend any State, county, or local law, ordinance or regulation applicable to food handling which:

(i) is in accordance with the list. referred to in paragraph (s)(1) of this section, of infectious or communicable diseases and the modes of transmissibility published by the Secretary of Health and Human

(ii) is designed to protect the public health from individuals who pose a significant risk to the health or safety of others, where that risk cannot be eliminated by reasonable accommodation

(f) Health insurance, life insurance and other benefit plans—(1) An insurer bospital, or medical service company. tospital, or medical service company, bealth maintenance organization, or any agent or entity that administers benefit plans, or similar organizations may underwrite risks, classify risks, or administer such risks that are based on or not inconsistent with State law

(2) A covered entity may establish sponsor, observe or administer the terms of a bone fide benefit plan that are based on underwriting risks, classifying risks, or administering such risks that

are based on or not inconsistent with State law.

(3) A covered entity may establish, sponsor, observe, or administer the terms of a bone fide benefit plan that is not subject to State laws that regulate DAMESDOS

(4) The activities described in paragraphs (f) (1), (2), and (3) of this section are permitted unless these activities are being used as a subterfuge to evade the purposes of this part.

Appendix to Part 1630—interpretive Goldston on Tele I of the American with Dissibilities Act

The ADA is a federal antidiscrimination statute designed to remove hearters which prevent qualified individuals with disabilities trom sajoying the same employment opportunities that are evallable to persons

opportunities that are available to persons without disabilities.

Like the Civil Rights Act of 1986 that prohibits discrimination on the bases of race, color, religion, national origin, and ses, the AIIA seeks to sensure access to equal employment opportunities based on merit it does not guessite equal results, establish quotas, or require preferences favoring instruduals with disabilities over those extends disabilities.

individuals with disabilities over those without disabilities. However, while the Civil Rights Act of 1904 prohibits any consideration of personal characteristics such as race or national origin, the ADA necessarily takes a different approach. When an individual a disability creates a barrier to employ most opportunities, the ADA requires employers to consider whether reasonable accommodation residences the horizont. nove the bearing

The ADA thus establishes a pri the ALIA time estatousors a process in which the employer must assers a disselsed individual's ability to perform the execution functions of the specific job held or desired While the ALIA focuses on eradicating While the AUA tocases on entirecting, burners, the ADA does not relieve a disabled employee or applicast from the obligation to perform the essential functions of the job. To the contrary, the AUA is intended to enable the contrary the ADA is intended to enable disabled persons to compete in the workplace hosed on the same performance standards and requirements that employers expect of persons who are not disabled to the same persons who are not disabled to the same to the

persons who are not disabled.
However, where thei individual's functional limitation impedes such lith performance, an employer must take a tops to reasonably excoormodate, and than help overcome the particular impediment, unless to do so would impose an under hardship Such accommodations usually take the form of adjustments to the way a sub-contendant. of adjustments to the way a job customently is performed, or to the work environment

This process of identifying whether, and to This process of identifying whether, and to what extent, a reasonable accommodation is required should be flexible and involve both the employer and the individual with a disability. Of course the determination of whether an individual is qualified for a particular position must necessarily be made on a case by case basis. No specific, form of accommodation is guaranteed for all individuals with a particular disability.



Rather, an economication must be tailored to metch the needs of the disabled individual with the needs of the job's essential

This case. y case approach is essential it satisfied in sividuals of varying abilities are to receive equal apportunities to compete for an infinitely diverse range of jobs For this as uffixibly diverse range of jobs. For this reason, notifies the ADA nor this part cen supply the "correct" answer in advance for each employment decision concerning an individual with a disability. Instead, the ADA simply establishes parameters to guide employers in how to consider, and take into account, the disabiling condition involved.

botrodoution

The Equal Employment Opportunity ommission (the Commission or REOC) is responsible for enforcement of title I of th responsible for enforcement of ritle 1 of the Americans with Dissolitities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C. 1210; or any, 11990), which prohibits employment discrimination on the basis of dissolitity. The Commission believes that it is essential to issue interpretive guidance concurrently with the issuence of this part in order to ensure that coulding in modern to ensure that could be a supplied in the country of the country containently with the industries in true part in order to ensure that qualified individuals with disabilities understand their rights under this part and to facilities and encourage compliance by covered entities. This appendix represents the Commission's appendix represents the Commission's interpretation of the issues discussed and the Commission will be guided by it when resolving charges of employment discrimination. The appendix addresses the major provisions of this part and explains the major processor of this best and explains the major concepts of disability rights.

The terms "employer" or "employer or

major concepts an assessing rights.

The terms "employer" or "employer or other covered smirty" are used interchangeably throughout the appendix to refer to all covered emitties subject to the employment provisions of the A(s)A.

Section 1880.1 Purpose, Applicubility and

Section 1880 1/ol Purpose

Section 1600 1/o? Purpose:

The Americans with Disabilities Act was signed into law on July 28, 1680 it is an antidiscrimination sistute that requires that individuals with disabilities be given the same consideration for employment that individuals with its qualified for an employment opportunity cannot be denied that opportunity because of the fact that the individual is disabiled. The purpose of title I and this part is to ensure that qualified individuals with disabilities are protected from discrimination on the basis of disability. The ADA wees the term "disabilities". un discrimination on the basis of dis The ADA uses the term "disabilities

rather than the ferm "handraps" used in the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. 701,798 Substantively, these terms are equivalent. As noted by the House Committee on the notice by the figure Committee on the judiciary, "jithe use of the name disshifties instead of the term handlesps reflects the desire of the Committee to use the incet current terminology. It reflects the preterence of persons with dissbilities in use that term of persons with disabilities in use that term rather than "handicapped" as used in previous laws such as the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 " H.R. Rep. No. 488 part 3, 101sr Cong. 2d Bers. 28-27 [1880] (hervenniter House ludiciary Report), see also S. Rep. No. 116. 101st Cong., 1st Hers. 21 [1880] (herveniefter Senate Report). H.R. Rep. No. 485 part 2, 101st Cong., 2d Sess. 80-51 (1990) [hereinafte

ouse Labor Report! The use of the term "Americans" in the title of the ADA is not intended to imply that the Art only applies to limited States citizens. Rather, the ADA protects all qualified individuals with disablaties, regardless of their citizenship status or nationality

Section 1888.1(b) and (c) Applicability and Construction

Unless expressly stated otherwise, the standards applied in the ADA are not intended to be lesser than the standards applied under the Rebabilitation Act of 1973

applied under the sensitivistion Act of 1973. The ADA does not presumpt any Federal law, or any state or local law, that grants to individuals with disabilities protection greater than or equivalent to that provided by the ADA. This means that the existence of a lesser standard of protection to individuals. with disabilities under the ADA will not provide a defense to failing to meet a high-standard under another law. Thus, for example, title I of the ADA would not be a defense to failing to collect information required to setting the affirmative action ents of section 503 of th Rehabilitation Act On the other hand, the existence of a lesser standard under snoth-iau will not provide a defense to failing to meet a higher standard under the ADA. See House Labor Report at 135, House Judiciary Report of 69-70.

This also meens that an individual with a disability could choose to pursue claims under a state discrimination or tort law that does not confer greater substantive rights, or does not conter greater assessantive rights, if the even confers fewer substantive rights, if the potential available remedies would be greater than three available under the ADA and this part. The ADA does not restrict an individual with a disability from pursuing such clauses in addition to charges brought.

under this part. House Judiciary at 69-70. The ADA does not automatically pressu One AUA Goes not surroutaneous pressays medical standards or selesty requirements established by Federal law or regulations. It does not preempt State, county, or local laws, ordinances or regulations that are consistent with this pert, and are designed to protect the public health from individuals who pose a public heafth from individuals who pose a direct threat, that cannot be eliminated or reduced by reasurable accommodation, to the heafth is asfety of others. However, the ADA does preempt inconsistent requirements established by state or local law for safety or courity sensitive positions See Sensit

security sensitive positions fee Sennis Report at 27: House Labor Report at 17: An employer allegedly m violation of this peri cannot successfully defend its actions by relying on the obligation to comply with the rejumenents of any state or local less that imposes prohibitions or limitations an the singlishing of qualified individuals with disabilities in practice any occupation or profession for example, suppose a municipality has an a dinance that prohibits individuals with subseculosis from (seching notiveless with a medical stress teaching school children. If an individual with dormant tuberculosis challenges a private school's refusel to hire butt or her because of the toherculosis, the private school would not be able to rely on the city ordinance as a detense under the ADA

Socione 1830-2(a)-(f) Communica, Cover

The definitions section of part 1530 tre-ledes severel terms that are identical, or includes several serius that are identified, or almost identified, to the terms found in title VII of the Cavil Rights Act of 1984. Among these terms are "Commission." "Person." "State." and "Employer: "These terms are to be given the same meaning under the ADA that they are given under title VII. In general, the term "employers" has the same meaning that it is given under title VII. However, the ADA's designion of "employers" does not contain an experience. a

However, the ADA's definition of "employee" does not contain an exception, as does title VII. for elected officials and their personal staffs. It should be further noted that all state and local governments are covered by title II of the ADA whether or not they are also covered by the pert. Title II. which is emforced by the Department of Justice. becomes effective on January 23, 1982. See 25

CFR peri 36.

The term "covered entity" is not found in title VII. However, the title VII definitions of the entities included in the term "covered entity" (s.g., employer, employer etc.) are applicable to the ADA OVERED (ROBINCY.

Section 1880, 2(g) Deschility

In addition to the term "covered entity. there are several other terms that are unique to the AIIA. The first of these is the lerm "disability." Congress adopted the definition of this term from the Rehabilitation Act of this term from the Rehabilitation Act definition of the term "individual with hamilionse". By so doing, Congress intended that the relevant caseless developed under the Rehabilitation Act he generally applicable to the term "disability" as used in the ADA Senste Report at 21. House Labor Report at 80. House fudicary Report at 27. The definition of the term "disability" is divided into three parts. An individual must satisfy at least noe of these parts in order to be considered an unitridual with a disability in counses of this bart. An individual is

be considered an instrument with a disability for purposes of this part. An incividual is considered to have a "disability" if that individual either (1) has a physical or mental impairment which substantially limits one or more of that person's mojor life activities. (2) has a record of such an impairment, or. (8) is has a record of such an impairment, or. () regarded by the covered entity as having such an impairment. To understand the meaning of the term "disability" it is necessary to understand, as a preliminary matter, what is meant by the terms "physi-or ments! Impairment." "major life schwirj institut, what is meant by the terms pay or mental impositment." "major life activi-and "substantially limits." Each of these terms is discussed below.

Section 1630.21hl Physical or Mental

This term adopts the definition of the term "physical or mental impairment" found in the regulations implementing section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act at 24 CFR part 104. It ens as insertisped (sinam to legisede sanifab physiological disorder or condition, cosmetic disfigurament, or anatomical loss affecting one or more of several body systems, or any mental or psychological disorder. The satisferios of an impairment is to be determined without regard to mitigating

measures such as medicines, or assistive of prosthetic devices. See Sanste Report at 23.



House Labor Report at Et. House Judiciary Report at 25. For example, an individual with epilepsy wealth be considered to have as impairment seen if the symptoms of the disorder were completely controlled by medicine. Similarly, so individual with houring loss would be considered to have an impairment seen if the acceptance were

central loss would be cassistered to have an measurement seen if the constition were created through the use of a hearing sid. It is important to distinguish between multitions that are impelarments and physica synthological, environmental, cultural and commotive uses any commencial, caltural and economic characteristics (hat are not impairments. The definition of the term impairments. The definition of the term impairment. The definition of the term impairment does not include physical characteristics such as eye color. Pair color, inch-handedness, or hoggles, weight or amendation that are writin "mercuel" runge and ere not the reacht of a physiological disorder. The definition, likewise, does not include characteristic predisposition to filmose or disease. Other conditions, such as prognency that are not the result of a physiological disorder are sino not impairmosts. Similarly, and disarder are sino not impairmosts. Similarly, and all mixed positions. that are not the result or a payassequest disorder are also not impatronests. Similarly, the definition does not include common personality traffs such as your judgment or a quick temper where these are not symphose of a mental or psychological disorder. Environmental, cultural, or economic. Partiremental cultural or economic disadvantages such as perenty, lack of aducation or a prison record are not education or a prison moord are not impairments. Advanced aga, in and of itself, is also not en impairment. However, various medical conditions commonly associated with age, such as bearing loss, outcoperusis, or artistitis would constitute impairments within the meaning of lists part. Hee Senate Report at 23–23. House Labor Report at 23–33. House Labor Report at 23–33.

Section 1650.2(i) Major Life Activities

Section ISSULT! Assign the Activities
This term adopts the definition of the form:
"major life activities" found in the regulations
implementing section 500 of the
Rechebilitation Act at 34 CPR part 104. "Major
life activities" are those basic activities that
the average person in the general population
can perform with little or no difficulty. Major
life activities because parts for consent. can perform with hitle or no difficulty. Major life activities include caring for oneself, performing menual insis, walking, seeing, hearing, speaking, breething, learning, and working. This list is not exheustive. For example, other major life activities include, but are not limited in, erting standing, lifting, reaching, See Sensier Report at 22. House Labor Report at 52. House Judiciary Report at

Section 1830.2()) Substantially Limits

Section 1880.2(i) sobstantially Limits
Determining whether a physical or mental
impairment statist is only the first step in
determining whether or not an individual is
disabled Many impairments do not impact
an individual's life to the degree that they
constitute disabling impairments. An
impairment rises to the level of disability if
the impairment substantially limits one unmove of the individual at major life activities
Multiple impairments that combine to
substantially limit one or more of an substantially limit one or more of an individual's major life activities also constitute a disability

constitute a dissoluty

The ADA and this part, like the
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 do not estempt a
"laimdry fust" of impairments that are
"dissibilities." The determination of whether

en individual has a disability is not necessarily based on the name or diagnosis of the impairment the person has, but rather on the effect of that impairment on the life of

Other impairments, however, such as HIV dection, are inherently substantially

Other impactments, however, such as HIV industries, are industries, but industries, or industrie

under which an individual one perform a particular major life activity as compered to the sverage person in the ginareal population's ability to perform that same major life activity. Thus, for exemple, an individual who, because of an impairment, can only walk for very brief periods of time would be substantially limited in the major life activity of walking. An individual who would be substantially limited in the major life activity of walking. An individual who uses artificial legs would libevise be substantially limited in the major life activity of walking because the individual is usuable to walk writhout the sid of prosthetic devices Similarly, a disbetic who without insulin would lepse into a come would be substantially limited because the individual namest perform major life activities without the aid of medication. See Senate Report of 22. House Leber Report of 32. It should be noted that the term "average purson" is not mended to issuly a precise mathematical "a verage."

intended to imply a precise mathematical "average."

Part 1500 notes several factors that abould be considered in making the determination of whether an impairment is substantially limiting. These factors are [1] the nature and severity of the impairment, [2] the duretion or expected direction of the impairment, and [3] the permenent or long term impact, or the expected permanent or long term impact, or the expected permanent or long term impact, or the expected permanent or long term impact, or the length of time an impairment. The term "duretion." as used in this opinion, refers to the length of time an impairment persent, while the term "impact" refers to the residual effects of an impairment Thus, for example, a broken log that takes sight weeks to heal is an impairment of fairly lored duretion. However, if the broken leg heals improperly, the "impact" of the impairment would be the "unpact out that impairment would be the "Impact of that impairment. of that impairment

The determination of whether an individual is substantially limited in a major life activity must be made on a case by cause basis, without eaged to mitigating measures such as medicines, or substitute or prosthetic devices. An individual is not estimated life individual is not estimated life in a major life activity if the devices. An individual is not assumentally lighted in a major life activity if the incitation, when viewed in light of the factors noted above, does not amount to a significant restriction when compared with the abilities restriction when compared was ma-of the average person. For example, as individual who had once been this to walk at an extraordinary spend would not be exhaustably litted in the major life activity of wealing it, as a result of a physical immaisment, he or she were only able to well

of wealthing if, so a result of a physical impairment, he or she were only able to weak at an average speed, or even at moderately below average speed. It is important to remainder that the restriction on the performance of the meter life activity must be the result of a condition that is no impairment. As noted earlier, edvessord ago, physical or pursonality characteristics, and survivousmental, catural, and sconcept diseased conficient and sourcest diseaventages are not and aconomic disadvantages are not impairments. Comequantly, even if such factors substantially litest an individual shifty to perform a major itie activity, this limitation will not constitute a disability. For example, an individual who is smaller to read example, an individual wise is majors to read become be or able was never taught to read would not be an individual with a disability because lack of education is not an impairment. However, as individual who is smalle to read because of dyslexia would be an individual with a disability because dysienie, a tearning disability, is an

impehraeut. If an individual is not substantially limited with respect to any other major life activity, the individual's shallty to perform the major life activity of working should be considered if an individual is substantially limited in any other major life activity, no determination if an assessment of the control of t is substantially funited in working For example, if an individual in billed, i.e., substantially limited in the nucleo life activity of seeing, there is no used to determine whether its individual is also substantially ituated in the unique life activity of serving. The determination of whether an individual is substantially limited in secrying must also

to company the control of the contro

useu as consum use convenience of orderies' the limitation in working is "substantial."

These factors are:

[1] The geographical error to which the individual has reasonable accesse.

[2] The job from which the individual has been disqualified because of an usparment, and the number and types of jobs utilizing similar training, knowledge, skills or abilities, within that is pographical area. from which the individual is also disqualified because of the imperument (class of jobs), and/or [3] The job from which the individual has been disqualified because of an imperiment, and the number and types of other jobs not utilizing similar training, knowledge, skills or abilities, within that geographical area. from which the individual is also disqualified because of the imperature of the individual is also disqualified because of the impairment, though the contract of the individual is also disqualified because of the impairment (broad range of jobs in various classes)



Thus, an individual is suri substantially limited in working just because he or she is another to purhase a particular job for one employer, or because he or she is unable to purhase; or because he or she is unable to purhase a specialized job or perfension requiring astronomically still, provenues at takent. For exemption, an individual with control lies a commencial setting sides because tainst. For exemptis, on individuals who cosmot be a commercial strikes pilot because of a mixture vision ins_extrement, but who can be a commercial existing on-pilot or a pilot for a counter service, would not obtainfully limited in the major life activity of working. Nor would a professional baseball prinches. manus at the memory one entrying of evertainty. New words a professional beneath pitcher who develops a bed althow and one to longer who develops a bed althow and one to longer throw a beneated the contentioned embeatiely limited in the susper life activity of working, in both of these consuptes, the individuals are not substantially limited in the substitute to parties are supported in the memory of the substitute and, with respect to the mejor life activity of working, see only unable to perform either a service, and the substitute of the subst

be considered arbetentially finited in the major life estivety of working. As inclivitual is substantially limited in wenting if the individual is eigenfloately restricted in the sidility to perform a class of jobs or a broad range of jobs in various cleases, when compared with the ability of the average previous with comparable qualifications is perform these asses jobs. For example, as individual with has a back condition that individual with has a back condition the individual with has preferrenting any heavy labor job would be embetentially limited in the major life activity of successor. newly maker job women or emercenticity insided in the major like activity of sworking because the individual's impairment eliminates his or her ability to perfure a class of jobs. This would be no even if the individual were able to perform jobs in mother class. s.g., the class of semi-aktiled another class, a.g., the class of semi-skilled on Skinderly, suppose on individual has althogy to a substance front in most high rise office buildings, but eddom found also where, that makes breathing antermely difficult. Since this individual would be substantially limited in the shiftly to perform the broad range of jobs in various chasees that are conducted in high rise office buildings within the geographical error to which he or she has reasonable access, he or she would be substantially limited in working. The serms "supplies and types of jobs" and

substantially faulted in working. The series "number and types of jobs" and "number and types of other jobs." as used in the factors discussed shove, are not intended to require as suscross evidentially showing Rether, the terms only require the presentation of evidence of general presentation of evidence of general supplying and/or of recognisms occupational electifications that indicate the approximate number of jobs [e.g., "few, "many", "mose"] boss which an individual would be excluded because of an

impairment if an individual has a "mental or physical impairment," that "substantially liasts" has one of the rebility to perform one or more "major life activities, that individual will satisfy the first part of the regulatory definition of "disability" and will be considered an individual with a disability An individual

who estudies this first part of the definition of the term "dissubility" is not required to demonstrate that he are also asticable either of the other parts of the definition. However, if an individual is mable to setting this part of the definition, he or she may be able to estimate one of the other parts of the definition.

Section 1650.6(k) Record of a Substantially Limiting Carellines

Limiting Condition:
The second pair of the definition provides that an individual with a record of an impartment that substantially limits a major life activity is an individual with a final substantially limits a major life activity is an individual with a shouldity. The totant of this provision, in part, to be essuant that people are not discrimination bear discrimination beard against because of a history of dissolidity. For sommy, this provision protects former common patients them the substantiantion head on their prior coedinal history. This provision does unsure that individuals are not discrimination that the second discrimination disposition of discrimination discrimination and the beard of the discrimination on the heads of their evenuous classification. Simple heads of their evenuous classification, Simple are protected from discrimination to the best of that erromeous classification. Senate Report at 23. House Labor Report at 23.—63. House fadiciary Report at 24.

Report at IX: Notice Labor Report at IX-A:
Notice Indicates Report at IX.
This part of the definition to settlelled if a record relied on by an estudoyer indicates that the individuous has or has had a substantially limiting isoparisment. The impostrument indirected in the record must be an impostrument indirected in the record must be an impostrument findirected in the record must be an impostrument findirected in the record of must be interested in the record of the individual's ensein like indirection, including but not likested to deducation, including but not likested to deducation, including but not likested to deducate the individual has a record of being a dissabled veterum, or of dissability retirement, or is cleasified as therebod for other purposes does not guarantee that the

other purposes does not guarantee that the individual will setisfy the definition of individual will sensity the definition of "dissibility" under part 1550. Other statutes, regularities and programs may have a regularities and programs may have a definition of "disability" that is not the same as the definition set forth in the ADA and commond in part 1650. Accordingly, in order for an individual who has been classified in a record as "disabilati" for same other purpose to be considered disabled for purposes of part 1550, the impairment disabilitation in the record must be a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more of the individual sension like the civities. more of the individual's major life activities.

Section 1609.2(1) Regarded as Substantially Lumined in a Major Life Activity

Laminai in a Major Lifts Activity

if an individual cannot natisfy wither the
first part of the definition of "deanbality" or
the assumed "necond of" part of the definition,
he or she may be spike to exitisfy the third part
of the definition. The third part of the
definition provides that ar, individual who is
regarded by an employer or other covered
entity as having an impairment that
substantially limits a major lift activity is an
individual with a disability.

There are three different erays in which an

individual with a disability. There are three different ways to which an individual may satisfy the definition of "boing regarded as bewing a disability".

(1) The individual may have an important which is not substantially limiting but a parceived by the employer or other covered entity as constituting a substantially limiting issues ment.

(II) The individual may have an impairment which is only arbehanticily impring becomes of the attitudes of others toward the est or

(8) The dividual may have no impairit et all but is regarded by the employer or other covered entity as having a substantially limiting impatronat.

institute impartment. Some labor Report at Ex. House Labor Report at Ex. House Labor Report at Ex. An individual setsifies the first part of this deficition of the individual has an impartment that is not substantially limiting, but the occurs antity perceives the impairment as being sebatomistilly limiting. For example, suppose an employee has controlled high blood pressure that is not substantially limiting. If an employer exesting the high blood pressure that is not substantially limiting. If an employer exesting the backvokes to have stressing several houses of manufactures of them that the individual cell.

limiting. If an employer remedyne the individual is less streinious work because of macehetentisted fears that the individual will suffer a heart ettech if he or che continues to perform etrectures work, the employer would be regarding the individual as dissibled. An individual estificies the second part of the "regarding the individual as dissibled has an impairment that is only substantial has an impairment that is only substantial has an impairment that is only substantially limiting beausies of the attitudes of others toward the condition. For example, an individual case here a president facial sear individual case here a president facial sear of differential, or may have a condition that periodically causes an involuntary join of the head but does not limit the individual souper life activities. If an employer that criminates against such as individual because of the negarity reactions of customers, the employer a code be regarding the individual sea disability, fire former Report at 24; House Leber Report at 25; House Leber Report of the "regarded as" definition of "disability" if the imployer or other ouvered south gronesously believes the individual has a substantially limiting impairment that the individual

becaves the stanyanes has a successment, limiting impairment that the individual actually does not have. This utraction could occur, for exemple, if an employer discharged an employee in response to a rumor that the employee is infooted with Human. emparyee is smoothed with Hamen lummanodeficiency Virus (HIV). Even though the runter is totally unfounded and the mainvision has no impairment at all, the individual is considered as individual with a individual is considered as individual with a disability because the suppleyer perceived of this individual as being disabled. Thus, in this example, the employer, by discharging this employee, is discriminating on the basis of disability.

The rationals for the "regarded as" part of the definition of disability was estudiated by the Supresse Court in the context of the Rebabilitation Act of 1973 in School Source of Accessor Courter 4 Action 480113, 873, 150871

Rebabilitation Act of 1973 in School Secret of Aconsor Country v Artime, 680 U.S. 873 [1987] The Court noted it ... "Hough an individual may have an impa now that does not in fact substantially limit v ... por life extrity; the reaction of others may prove just as disability." Sisch an instrument make not reaction of others may prove just as disabling. "Such an impairment might not diminish a person's physical or mental capabilities, but coold nevertheless substantially limit that precools ability resurn as a result of the negative reactions others to the impairment." 480 U.S. at 223. The Court concluded that by including "reparded as" in the Rehabilitation Act's



definition, "Congress acknowledged that society's accumulated mythe and bars about promision. Commissed mythe and have about dissolity and diseases are as bandcapping as are the physical limitations that flow from the commission of the com

disability and diseases are as handcapping as are the physical limitations that flow from actual impercent," 480 U.S. at 1264. An individual rejected from a job booses of the 'mytha. fears and stereotypes' associated with disabilities wanted be covered eacher this part of the definition of disabilities wanted be covered eacher the part of the definition of disability, whether or not the supployer's or other overed entity's pacception were whered by others in the field end whether or not the individual's actual physical or essential condition would be considered a disability under the first or second per of this definition. As the legislative history notes, asciologists have identified occurron artitudinal barriers that frequently result is employees accluding individuals with disabilities. These include convertes regarding productivity, safety, incurrone, Hability, attendance, one of assommandation and soccessfully, workers' compressed to const. and acceptance by corrective and contourns.

somments, we want to consider and contours.

Therefore, if an individual can show that an employer or other covered entity made an employment decision shows of a perception. an employer or other covered entry these as exployment decision hereans of a perception of disability based on "myth, font or stereotype," the individual will setting the "regarded as "part of the definition of disability if the employer consol articulate a non-discrimination; research for the employers as season, on interespond that the employer is exting on the basis of "myth, fear or stereotype" can be drawn.

Section 1698.2(m) Qualified Individual With e Disobility

The AIIA prohibits discrimination on the base of discribity against qualified individuals with discribition. The Design of disambility against qualified insolviduals with disambilities. The determination of whether an individual with a disability is "qualified" should be made in two steps. The first step is to determine if the individual settifies the preveguinities for the position, such as possessing the appropriate educational heckground, employment experience, skills, licenses, etc. For example, the first step in determining whether am acrossinate who is parapiegic to qualified in our time gubble accountant (CPA) position is to examines the individual' a candeminals to determine whether the individual's a cindeminal to an the flobebilition Act analism selected as "Otherwise questified" for the position. See Stender Report et 33. House Labor Report at 44-65, (See § 16313 Not Making Reasonable Accommodation).

Accoustmodation)
The second step is to determine whether or not the individual care performs the meantitual functions of the positions held or destruct, with our without preasonable accoustmodation. The purpose of this accound step is to ensure that andividuals with disabilities with care perform the essential functions of the position held or desired are not densed employment opportunities because they are not able to perform neuronal functions of the position. Hence table to

person marginal numericus of the printing House Laber Report = 18.0. The determination of whether an undividual with a disability is qualified in to be made at the time of the employment decision. This determination should be based on the capabilities of the individual with a disability

at the stone of the employment decision, and should not be haned on specialties that the employee may bequene enable in the future or may cause increased beath manuscrap pressums or workers companied oness.

Section (600.2/n) Blue etia! Patritiani

The determination of which functions are emercial may be critical to the determination of which functions of whether or not the individual with a disability to qualified. The executed functions are those functions that the individual who holds the position must be able to perform manifed or with the assistance of a

holds the position must be able to purform intentied or with the autisticator of a reasonable accommendation.

The tinguisty into whether a particular function to essential britishly focuses on whether the employer actually requires employees in the position to portorn the functions that the employer several requires employees in the position to portorn the function of that the employer actually requires exception. If, in fact, the suppleyer has nower required any employee in that particular position to type, this will be evidence that typing is not actually an essential function of a position. If the individual sehe holds the position is exceptive required to perform the protection, the inquiry will then control erround whether removing the function would handamentally alter that position. This determination of whether or not a particular function is essential will generally include one or move of the following factors listed in part 1900. The first factor is whether the position.

The first factor is whether the position example, an individual may be hived to proofesed decomments. The ability to proofesed the documents would then be an essential function, since this is the only reason the position causts.

The second factors in the "c-"wining whether at

proofesed the documents we used that is an essential function attact the only reason the position exacts.

The second fector in de's c-maining whether a function is essential is the netaber of other employees a walls bir to parform that job function or among whom the performance of the job function can be distributed. This may be a factor either because the total sumber of available employees is low, or because of the Bactusting demands of the business of available employees is low, or because of the Bactusting demands of the business apportion. For example, if an employer has a relatively small summer of available employees for the volume of work to be performed, it may be necessary that each employee perform a multitude of different functions. Therefore, the performance of those functions by each employee because more critical and the options for reorgenizing the work become more institution functions that engits not be essential in these were a larger staff star is amall compared to the volume of work that small compared to the rolsme of work that has to be dose fine Trendwell v. Alexander 707 F.2d 673 [11th Ctr 1983].

A similar situation might occur in a larger work force if the workflow follows a cycle of heavy demand for labor intensive work. heavy demand for labor intensive work followed by low demand periods. This type of models the stage is such a consistent with the period once affected and oright limit the employer's flexibility in enorganizing operating procedures See Deslet v. Teach 600 F. Supp. 1418 (D. Com. 1987)

The third factor is the degree of expertise or skill required to perform the function in certain professions and highly skilled positions the employee is hired for his or her expertise or ability the perform the particular function, in such a situation, the performance of that appointment in ake would be an exsential function.

functions:

Whether a particular function is essential is a factual determination that must be stade on a case by once basis. In determining whether or not a particular function is constitut all relevant evidence should be considered. Part 1630 lists various types of

essential. All relevant evidence should be considered. Part 1530 lists various types of evidence, such se an established job description, their should be considered in determining whether a particular function is essential. Since the list is not exhaustive other relevant evidence may also be prescribed. Creater weight will not be granted to the types of evidence included on the list then to the types of evidence included on the list then to the types of evidence included. Although part 1530 does not require suspicyers to develop or manifely be descriptions, written job descriptions prepared before advertising or interviewing applicants for the job, as well as the suspicyer's judgment set to whelf functions are essential are among the relevant evidence in he considered in determining whether a particular function is essential. The terms of a collective bargaining agreement are also relevant functions to descriptions are invested to the determining whether a particular function is essential. The series of a collective bargaining agreement are also relevant to the determination of whether a particular function is essential. The series relevant to the differentiation of whether a particular function is executifel. The work experience of past employees in the job or of current employees in similar jobs is likewise relevant to the determination of whither a restrains to the constitution of whicher a perforder function is sensitial See N.R. Conf. Rep. No. 101-886, 101st Corps. 24 Sect. 66 (1980) [thressesfer Conference Report 1 House Judiciary Report at 23-46, Sec Jan. Hall v. U.S. Pastol Service 887 F. 2d 1073 (9th. Or 1988)

Or 1889)
The time opent performing the party of information may also be an indicator of whither that function may also be an indicator of whither that function is essential. For example, if an employee spends the vest mejority of his of time words be evidence that operating the cash register has words be evidence that operating the cash register has necessarised function may be consequenced or failing to require the employee to perform the function may be another malicator of whether a perfunds function is employee to expend a first fighter may not regularly have to carry an inconsist, we adult out of a humang building the consequence of failing to require the fursility in the able to perform this function would be serious. would be serious.

It is important to note that the inquiry into essential functions is not intended to second quess an amployer's business in digment with regard to production standards, whether qualitative or quantitative not to require employers to lower such standards (fire \$ 1830.16 Qualification Standards. Tests and Other Selection Criteria) If an employer sortant to note that the inquiry into requires its typists to be able to accurately type 75 words per numite, it will not be called spon to explain why an macurate work upon to explain why an institutive work product, or a typing speed of 8b words per minute, would not be adequate. Similarly, if a hotel requires its envice workers to thoroughly close 18 rooms per day, it will not have to explain why it requires thorough.

- 1

cirenting, or why it chose a 16 room reti data a 18 roam requirement Hawever. I than a 18 roacs requirement However, if an employer does require accurate 78 word par simular typing or the thorus, it cleating of 16 roacs, it will have to show that it actually imposed such requirements on its comployees in facit, and not simply on paper. It should also be noted that if it is alonged that the amployer intensitionally selected the particular level of production to exclude individuals with disabilities, the employer may have to offer a legitiments, nondiscreasing for years for its selection.

Section 1690.2(c) Recovable Account nadatice

As individual is considered a "quelified andividual with a disability" if the individual can perform the essential functions of the position had at a desired with or without reasonable seconomodation. In general, an accommodation is any change in the work environment or in the way things are carticipantly done that enables an individual with a disability to easily equal employment opportunities. There are three categories of reasonable encommodation. Those are [1] accommodations that are required to ensure equal opportunity in the application process; [2] accommodations that the reable the employer's employees with disabilities to perform the employees amployees with disabilities to perform the employees. (3) accolumndations that eviable the comployer's employees with disabilities to perform the essential functions of the position held or desired and (3) accommodations that anable the resulting resulting the strategies of employment as are excluded by employees without disabilities to enter the accommodation as an excluded by employees without disabilities. It should be noted that nothing in this part prohibits employers or other covered entities from providing accommodations beyond those resume to this nart.

provided accommodations reprint tracer required by this part. Part 1800 lists the examples, specified in this i of the ADA, of the most common types of accommodation that an employer or other covered entity may be required to provide. There are any tumber of other specific inere are any uncertor occurs specific accommodations that may be appropriate for particular situations but are not specifically mentioned in this listing. This listing is not mississed to be exhaustive of accommodation possetivities. For example, other accommodation occurs model include perturbing the use of account of account of the control less to the occurs of the control of the control occurs of the occurs occurs on the occurs occurs occurs on the occurs use of accrused page leave or providing additional unpend leave for necessary treatment, making employer provided transportation accessible, and providing reserved parking apnose. Providing personsessates, such as a page tumber for an employer with no hands on a travel attenti employee with no hands or a rayes are pre-to acr as a eighted guide to sears a bland employee on occasional business trips may also be a reaconable a constituent form. Senat Report at 31. House Labor Report at 68. House judiciary Report at 39. It step also be a reasonable.

It may also be a remonable accommodation to permit an individual with accommodation to permit an individual with a disability the opportunity to provide and utilize equipment, aids or services that an employer is not required to provide as a reasonable accommodation for example, it would be a reasonable accommodation for an employer to permit an individual who is blind to use a gaide slog at work as an though the employer would not be required to provide a gaide slog for the simpleyee.

The accommodations included on the list of reasonable accommodations are generally

self explanatory However, there are a few their require further explanation. One of these is the accumendation of saking existing facilities used by amployees readily accessible to, and exactly by, landvistants with disabilities. This accumendation includes both those areas that must be accuseable for the employee to perform executal jobs. the employee to perform essential job functions, as well as non-work areas used by reprincipal, as were as into seria, arrest mont by the employer, of enployees for other purposes. For example, accessible break rooms, lunch rooms, training rooms, restrooms etc., may be required as reasonable accommodations.

Another of the potential accommodations listed is "job restructuring." As employer or

Another of the potential accumulate tions listed is "pid replacefulling." As employer or other covered entity may restrictive a pob by realistanting inconsensative, marginal plot functions. For example, an ampleyer may have two jobs, each of which entiefs the performance of a master of marginal functions. The employer hires a quasified individual with a disability who is able to perform some of the marginal functions of out of the marginal functions of out of the marginal functions of out of the marginal anciences of other job. As an mergical functions of either job. As an accommodation, the employer may accommensus in the employer sawy redistribute the marginal functions so that all of the merginal functions that the qualified individual with a dissability can perform are made a part of the position to be filled by the qualified individual with a disability. The specimes sharrages with a dissensity. The remaining merginal functions that the individual with a disselsity cannot perform would then be transferred to the other prestion. See Senete Report at 31. House Labor Report at 63.

An employer or other covered entity is no resulted to emflore the assential formation.

required to realiscate essential functions: essential functions are by definition those that the individual who holds the job wos that his incrivation who notes has you would have to perform, with or without reasonable accommodation, in order to be con-why, and qualified for the position. For example, suppose a security guard position requires the individual who holds the jub to inspect. identification cards. An employer would not have to provide an individual who is legally blind with an assistant to look at the identification cards for the legally blind identification cards but the legally bilind employee is this situation the assistant would be performing the job for the undividual with a disability rather than seasoting the individual to perform the job See Coleman v. Danden. 886 F. 2d 533 (10th

An employer or other covered entity may Also restrictive a job by silering when and/ or how an essential function is performed. For example, an essential function customerily performed in the early morning frome may be rescheduled until later in the day as a reasonable accommodation to a disability that precludes performance of the function at the sustemary hour Lakewise, as a reasonable accommodation, an employee with a disability that inhibits the ability to write may be permitted to computerize records that were customarily mamiained ។ គេកប**រស់**រ

Ressignment to a vacant position is also listed as a polantial reasonable accommendation in general reassig should be considered only when accommodation within the individual a current position would pose an undue hardship. Resessignment is not available to

applicants. An applicant for a position must be qualified for, and be able to perform the essential functions of the position sought with or without reasonable accounts

dynamics may not be used to limit. negrous to, or otherwise discriminate again amplyance with disabilities by forcing reassignments or understable positions or designated afficms or facilities. Employers aign the individual to an should reasting us invursions or as-equivalents position, in terms of pay, earths etc. If the individual ir qualified, and if the position is venous! within a reasonable amount of time. A "reasonable amount of time" should be determined in high of the time is notice as investigation in again of the totality of the circumstances. As an example, suppose there is no reagniposition available at the time that an individual with aat the issue that an institutional with a disability requests remanginament as a reasonable accommendation. The employer however, knows that an equivatent position for wints the institutional is quelified, will become vacent erest week. Under these circumstances, the entity or should reason the individual to the position when it

the individual to the position when it becomes available. An employer may reassign an individual is a lower graded position if there are no accommodations that would enable the employers to results in the ourrent position and there are no vecent equivalent positions for which the individual equalities positions for which the individual equalities with ar without reassenable occasionedation. An employer, however, is not required to maintain the reassigned individual with a disability at the salesty of the higher graded position if it does got he maintain reassigned employees who are not disabled. It should also be noted that an employer a not required to promote an individual with a and on both that all support is him required to promote an individual with a disability as an accommodation, see Senet Report at 31–32. House Labor Report at 63." The determination of which

The determination of written accommodation is appropriate in a particular accommodation in appropriate in a particular accommodation involves a process is which the employer and employ as identify the precisionistations imposed by the disability and explore portential accommodations that would overcome those limitations. This process is discussed more fully in § 1630 9 Not Making Ressoushie Accommodation

Section 1600.2(p) Under Hardship

An employer or other covered entity is not required to provide an accommodation that required to provide an accommodation that will impose an assiste hardship on the operation of the supplyer's or other covered entity's business. The term "nuclee hardship means significant difficulty or expense in, or resulting from, the provision of the accommodation. The "andste hardship provision stakes mine account the financial neithless of the particular employer or other covered entity. However, the concept of under hardship is not limited to Promicial difficulty. "Under hardship" referre to an eccommodation that would be unded only only accommodation that would be unduly costly extensive, substantial, or disruptive or that e-ould fundamentally slim the nature or operation of the business. See Sensie Report at 35, House Labor Report at 87

For example, suppose so individual with a disabling visual impairment that makes if extremely difficult to see in dim lighting applies for a position as a waiter in a



I

reightchub and requests that the club be brightly lit as a reseconship accommodation. Although the testividasi may be able to perform the job to height lighting, the nightchub will probably be able to demonstrate that this practicular accommodation, though isaxpensive, would impose an undue heritable? If the bright lighting would desirely the ambience of the nightchub end/or make it difficult for the continues heritable, therewer, only means that the singleticul recommodation. He will not create an undue heritable, thosever, only means that the singleting will not required be provide that economicodation. He will not create an endius heritable, the ensployer would be required to provide the strengthy as accommodation.

An employer's cluber that the cost of a particular accommodation will impose an undue heritable, the ensployer would be required to provide the alternative accommodation.

An employer's cluber that the cost of a particular accommodation will impose an undue heritable; the subject of the factors outlined in pert 1800. In part, this ensployer outlined is pert 1800. In part, this ensployer outlined in pert 1800. In part, this is also the continue of the factors outlined in pert 1800. In part, this is also perticular accommodation of whose facething whiches the accommodation is unfully outly. In some cause the financial resources of the employer or other covered switty is the surface, but other covered switty in the surface of an accommodation poses an undue heritable. In other cases, consideratives of the financial resources of the supplement of the financial resources as whether the oast of an accommodation problement of the financial resources as the whole may be inappropriate.

resources of the employer or other coverentity as a whole casy be inappropriate es it may not give an accurate pictus financial resources available to the of the finencial renourous evallable to the particular facility that will actually be required to provide the accommodation. See House, Leber Report at 60-60; House Judiciary Report at 60-67, see also Conference Report at 60-67 if the employer or other covered entity asserts that only the finencial renouroes of the facility where the invitidual will be

the facility where the instruction will be employed should be considered, part 16 yed should be considered, part 1820 es a factual determination of the relationship between the employer or oth powered entity and the facility that will provide the accommodation. As an example suppose that an independently owned fest food franchise that receives no money from the fresschisor refuses to hire an individual with a hearing impersesor because it nearth that it small he an antise hardship to provide an interpreter to enable the individual to participate in usorithly staff meetings. Since the francial relationship between the francial relationship between the francial or an annual franche fee, only the hinancial resources of the franchise would be considered in determining whether or not providing the encourance time to be a simple that the francial resources of the franchise would be an under hardship. See House Labor Report at 60. House ladour Report at 60. the franchisor refuses to hire an todividual

under hardship, the House Labor Report at 60. House judiciary Report at 60. If the employer or other overved entity can show that the cost of the accumendation evoid impose as under herdship, if would still be required to provide the seconsmodition if the funding its available from another source, e.g., a State vocational rehabilitation agency, or if Paderal, firsts or local tax deductions or tax credits are available to offset the cost of the accumendation. If the employer or other covered entity processes, once elimible to covered entity receives, or to eligible to receive, montes from an external source receive, montes from an external source that would pay the entire cost of the

accorremodation. It cremost claim over se an under hardebip. In the absence of such funding, the ndividual with a disability requesting the accommodation should be given the option of providing the accommodation or of paying that portion of the cent which constitutes the endue hardship on the operation of the business. To the extent that such morales pay or would pay for only part of the cost of the accommodation. Only that portion of the cost of the endury part of the cost of the cost only that portion of the cost of the encusmodation that could not be reverent—the fluid not cost to the entity—in any be considered in determining under landship. [See Section 20 Ped Making Research 20 Ped Ped Making Research 20 Ped Ped Making Research 20 Ped Ped Pe eton it cament dates opet es es

Section 1630.3(r) Direct Threat

An employer may require, as a qualification standard, that an individual not pose a direct threat to the health or activy of himself (herself or others. Like any other qualification standard, such a standard sust qualification standard, such a primiture loss exply to all applicants or employees and not just to individuals with disabilities. If, however, as individual powers direct threat as a result of a disability, the couployer must determine whether a reasonable accommodation would either eliminate the risk or reduce it to an acceptable level. If no accommodation exists that would either aliminate or reduce the risk, the employer may refuse to hire an applicant or may discharge an employee who poses a di

An employer, however, is not permitted to seny an employment opportunity to an individual with a disability merely because of a slightly increased risk. The risk can only be considered when it poses a significant risk t.o., high probability, of substantial barm. 1.6. sign processing, on substantian name, a speculative or remote rath is insufficient See Sanata Report at 27: House Report Labor Report at 26-37: House Judiciary Report at 45 Determining whether an individual poses a significant risk of substantial harm to others

significant risk of substantial harm to others must be made on a case by case basis. The amployer should identify the specific risk passed by the individual. For individuals with mental or emotions I dissolution to the employer risast identify the specific behavior on the part of the individuals with physical dissolutions, the cupiloyer sust identify the specific behavior distribution of the specific behavior on the part of the individuals with physical dissolutions, the supplicyer sust identify the aspect of the dissolution was separed of the dissolution that would pose the direct threat. The employer should than consider the four factors latted in part 1830:

art tasks [1] The duration of the risk; [2] The nature and severity of the potential (2) The likelihood that the potential harm

ocur, and

(4) The unminence of the potential harm Such consideration must rely on objective. factual evidence—not on subjective perceptions, irrational fears, parronating percupitions, irrational teers, particulating attitudes, or accreciptes—about the nature or effect of a particular disability, or of disability generally See Senate Report at 27. House Lebin Report at 85–85. House Judiciary Report at 85–88 See also Strittle v. Decontraint of Transporture. Report at 45-46, See and Solutine 2 Department of Transporterion, 716 f. 2d 227 [2d Cir. 1983] Relevant evidence may include input from the individual with a disability.

the experience of the individual with a fleshkity in previous studier positions, and opinious of medical doctors, rehabilitation commeters, or physical therapsis who have experitise in the disability involved and/or direct knowledge of the individual with the disability. disability

As suployer is also permitted to require that an individual not pose a direct threat of harm to his or her own safety ar health. If perferance the particular functions of a job would result in a high probability of substantial harm to the individual, the weeen result in a major processing or substantial harm to the individual, the employer could reject or discharge the individual unless a reseconstable accumumodation that would not cause as suches hardship would not have the harm for example, are employer would not be required to him an individual, disabled by nancolep who required has a supposed to be required to him an individual, disabled by nancolep who required to a suppose the required processes to, a carpentry job the essential facutions of which require the use of power sews and other dangerous equipment, where no accumumodation exist that will reduce or eliminate the risk. The assessment that there exists a high probability of substantial herm to the individual, like the assessment that there exists a high probability of substantial herm to the raists a high probability of substantial herm.

exists a high probability of substantial barm maints a high processity or sensement on a to others, must be strictly based on valid medical societies and/or on other objective evidence. This determination must be based on individualized factual data, using the on individualizers incluse data, using the frecture discussed above, rather than on stereotypic or patrosticing assumptions and must crusking potential resounds accommodations. Convending forms about risks from the employment environment, such as exportation of the disability caused by stress, compute to such was environment to the disability caused by stress, compute to sea environment. as exacerhation of the disability caused by stress, cannot be used by an exployer to disqualify an individual with a disability. For example, a law firm could not reject an applicant with a history of disabiling manial tliness based on a generalized fear that the stress of stying to make partners might trager; a relegae of the individual's mental threes there are executived fears about risks to a respies of the incivitual # (First) 193506. Nor can generalized fear shoot risks to individuals with disabilities in the event of an evacuation or other emergency be used by an employer to disqualify an incivitual with a disability. See Sente Report of \$8. House Labor Report at 73–74. House Judiciary Particle 45. Sea also Manfaciliers v. Solvier. disability. See Senata Report at 98, Frouse Labor Report at 73–74, House Judiciar y Report at 45, See also Mantolete v Bolger. 760 F.2d 1416 (9th Cir. 1985). Bentivegna v U.S. Department of Lubur, 884 F.2d 619 (9th

Section 1830.1 Exceptions to the Definitions of Thisphility' and 'Qualified Individual with a Disability

Section 1830.3 (a) through (c) - Illegal Use of

Part 1830 provides that an individual currently engaging in the illegal use of di a not an individual with a disability for purposes of this part when the employer or other covered estitly acts on the bests of such use lifegal use of drugs refers both to the use of unlawful drugs, such as concurs, and to the unlawful use of prescription drugs. Employers, for example, may discharge or deny employment to persons who tlingally use drugs, on the basis of such use without feat of being held neble for discrimination. The term "currently engaging" is not intended irposes of this part when the employer or



to be limited to the use of drugs on the day of, or within a matter of days or weeks before, the ampleyament action in question. Rather, the prevision is intended to apply to the single use of drugs that has operator excessity amough to indicate that the individual is actively amough to indicate that the individual is actively angued in seath outdoor. See Cassierence Report at 88.

Individuals who are arrouseously perceived as anguaging in the illegal use of drugs, but are not in fact flegality oring drugs are not excluded thou the definition of the terms "desability" and "qualified individual with a disability." individuals who are no longer likegally using drugs and who have either been reliabilished exceedibility or ear in the process of completing a what firmtien progress are, likewise, not excluded from the definitions of these terms. The term "rehebrilisation progress" refers to both indefinitions of those terms. The term "rehebilitation programs" refers to both in-patient and out-patient programs, as well as to appropriate complayee assistance programs, professionally recognized self-help programs, each as hierocitics Anonymous, or other programs that provide professional (not necessarily medical) assistance and counseling fo. individuals who likegolly see drugs. See Conference Report at 04; see also House Labor Report at 77; House Judiciary Report at 64. Report #1 47

Report at 47.

It is avoid be noted that this provisions simply provides that certain individuals are not excluded from the definitions of "deschibity" and "qualified individuals with a deschibity." Consequently, such individuals are ettil required to establish that they satisfy the requirements of those definitions in order to be pretented by the ADA and this part. An individuals excursionally prograded as fleigally using drugs, for example, would have to show that he or she was regarded as a drug addict to order to demonstrate that he or else meets the definition of "disability" as defined in this part.

to order to demonstrate that he or she me the definition of "disability" as defined in this part limplayers are entitled to seek reach assummone that no illegal use of drugs is occurring or has occurred recently smooth ocarring or has occurrent recently emerge hal continuing use is a real and ongoing robtem. The resecueble measurement that implayers may ask applicants or employe provide include evidence that the employeers may salt applicants or employees to provide isochede evidence that the individual is participating in a drug treatment progress and/or evidence, such as drug test more above that the individual is not curvently suggesting in the fillogal use of drugs. An employer, such as a law enfoncement agency, may also be able to improve a qualification standard that excludes individuals with a history of illegal use of drugs if it can show that the standa... is job-related and consistent with business resulted and commission with conscious necessity (See § 1630.10 Qualification Standards, Tosts and Other Selection Criteria) See Con arestoe Report at 64.

Section 1890.4 Discrimination Prohibited

Section 1880.4 Decrimination Prohibitat
This provisis a prohibitat discrimination
against a qualified individual with a
disability in all aspects of the employment
declaration covered by this acadiscrimination
mandate is to be construed in a manner
consistent with the regulations implementing
section 804 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1873.
Part 1630 is not intended to limit the ability
of covered potities to choose and maintain a

of covered equities to choose and maintain a

qualified workfarce. Requispers can continue to use job-related criteria to select qualified employees, and can continue to hire employees who can perform the essential functions of the job.

otion 1690.5 Limiting, Segregating and Closedying

This provision and the several provisions that fullow describe various appeals forms of discrimination that are included within the general prohibition of § 1030-4. Covered antities are prohibited from restricting the employment opportunities of qualified individuals with discribilities on the basis of employment apportunities of qualitied individuals with dissbilities on the busis of staroutypes and myths about the individual's dissbility. Rather, the capabilities of qualified individuals with dissbilities must be shermined on an individualized, mass by case bests. Covered antities are also case beats. Covered estities are also probibited from segregating qualified employees with disabilities into separate work areas or into separate lines of advancement.

Thus, for example, it would be a violati Thus, for example, it would be a violation of this part for an employer to final the disting of an employee with a dissolitity based on a presumption of what is best for an individual with such a dissolitity, or on a presumption about the shiffline of an individual with such a dissolitity, it would be a violation of this a disability. It would be a violation of this part for an employer to adopt a separate treat of lot promotion or progression for employees with disabilities based on a presumption that employees with disabilities are uninterested in, or isosapable of, performing particular robs. Similarly, it would be a violation for an employee to assign or reassign (as a reasonable accommodation) employees with disabilities to one particular office or basiliarly, or to require that employees with disabilities to one particular amployees with disabilities only use particular amployees with disabilities only use particular amployees with disabilities only use perfeciler amployer provided non-work holilities such as aggregated break-rooms, insuch rooms, or iounges, it would nise be a violation of this part to deap employment to an applicant or supplyone with a disability based on generalized fears about the safety of an individual with such a disability of an individual with such a disability of section of the communication of the safety of the sa besed on generalized assumptions about the absenteetsm rate of an undividual with such a

disability.
In addition, it should also be noted that this In addition, it should also be noted that this part is intended to require that simpleyees with disabilities be accorded equal access to whetever health inserance overrage the simpleyer provides to other employees. This part does not, however, effect pre-existing condition clauses included in health condition clauses included in health insurance policies offered by employers. Consequently, employers most content to offer policies that contain to a clauses, even it they adversely affect individuals with the biffing, so long as the clauses are not used as a subterfuge to evade the purposes of the contains.

meed as a subterfuge to evade the purposes of this part.

So, for example, it would be permissible for an employer to offer an insurance policy that limits coverage for certain procedures or treatments to a specified number per year.

Thus, if a health insurance plus provided coverage for five blood transfestons a year to all covered employees, it would not be discriminatory to offer this plus simply because a hemophilian employee may require more than five blood transfusions ameally

However, it wo uid not be pure Fromwer, is weared not on purmissione to the or dany the hemophithic employer coverage for other procedures, such as brest suggery or the setting of a broken leg, even though the plan would not have to provide coverage for the additional blood templostone that may be involved to these procedures. Likewise, limits sony be placed on reimberesquess for certain resolve to these productions. Substrate, many he phaned on retimberrements for certain procedures or as the types of drugs or percedures or exceeding, hinting on the sumber of permitted X-rays or non-coverage of asymmetric than the period of permitted X-rays or non-coverage of institution most be applied equally to inchrickels with and without disabilities. He instituted that the period of the Armon Sumber of poid sick issue days that it will provide to all employees, or reduces thest in will provide to all employees, or reduces thest it will provide to all employees, or reduces the standard to the insufficient insurance overage that it will provide to all employees, or reduces the amount of medical insurance

reduces the amount of medical insurance owerage that it will provide to all emplo-ie not in violation of this part, even if the benefits reduction has an impact an benefits reduction has an impact as employees with theshtities in used of greets sick leave and medical coverage. Benefits reductions adopted for discriminatory researce are to relution of this part. See Alexander v. Choots. 400 U.S. 257 (1988). See Remark Report at 6%. House Labor Report at 127. (See also, the discussion at § 1690.18(f) Health Insurance, Life Insurance, and Other

Section 1680.6 Contractual or Other Атпариней

As employer or other covered satity may not do through a contractual or other relationship what it is prohibited from doing directly. This provision does not affect the determination of whether or not one is a "covered entity" or "employer" as defined 1880.1

This provision only applies to situations where an employer or other covered entity has entered into a contractual relationship that has the effect of discriminating against that has the effect of discriminating against its own employees or applicate with discubilities. Accordingly, it would be a violation for an employer to perticipate in a contractual relationship that results in discrimination against the employer a supplyees with discubilities in lating, training, promotion, or in any other aspect of the employment relationship. This provision applies whether or not the employer or other covered entity latended for the contractual relationship to have the discriminatory effect. Part 1930 notes that this provision applies to parties an either side of the contractual or other relationship. This is intended to highlight that an employer whose employees

highlight that an employer whose emplo provide services to others, like an empl whose employees receive services, must ensure that those employees are not descriminated against on the basis of disadminated against on the bases of disability. For example, a copier company whose service reprasentative is a dwarf could be required to provide a superior as a reasonable accommodation, to enable him to perform the necessary repairs. However, the employer would not be required, as a



structural changes to its contractual insconnible premises.

The suistance of the contractual

The substance of the constructual relationship adds as may obligations under part 1898. The employer, therefore, is not liable through the contraction arrangement for any discrimination by the contractor against the contractors own employees or applicants, although the contractor, as an employee, may be liable for such theurismission.

suppoyer, may be assess to see the discrimination.

An amployer or other covered entity, on the other hand, cannot evade the obligations imposed by this part by engaging in a contractual or other relectionship. For exacuple, an exployer cannot evoid its responsibility to make reasonable economically to make reasonable economicality to make reasonable economicality to make reasonable economicality to make reasonable economicality to make reasonable.

House Labor Report at 80-61; House judiciary Report at 98, House Labor Report at 80-61; House judiciary Report at 80-87.

savangement. See Conference Report at 58: House Labor Rapart at 58-57.

To illestrate, assume that an employer is senking to construct with a company to provide treating for its employees. Any responsibilities of reasonable excommodation applicable to the employer in providing the treining remain with that employee swan if it contracts with another company for this service. Thus, if the training company were pleaning to conduct the training at an inaccessible tor an employee who making it impossible for an employee who sees a wheekchair to attend, the employee would have a duty to make researching seconstructation unless to do so weald impose an under hardship. Under these chrosmostones, appropriate economicolations eligible inclinity [1] having the training company identify accessible training site accessible. [3] directly making the training site accessible. [4] directly making the training company with the means by which to make the site accessible (4) identifying and contracting with another training ompany that uses accessible (4) identifying and contracting with another training ompany that uses accessible (4) identifying and contracting with another finativation, essuine that instead of contracting with a training company. The employer contracts with a hotel company, the employer contracts with a hotel company, the employer contracts with a hotel company.

the restring available to the employee. As sucher filestration, assume that instead of contracting with a training company, the employer contracts with a hotel host a conference for its employees. The employer will have a dirty to ascertain and emasse the ancessability of the host and the numberation facilities. To fallill this obligation the employer sould for enamings, imposed the host filest-band or sake a loost distability group to inspect the hosts! Alternatively, the employer could ensure that the contract with the host specifies it will provide accessable guest resuns for those who need them said that all recents to be used for the conference, including exhibit and emeting rooms, are accessable. If the hotel meet for the conference, including exhibit and emeting rooms, are accessable, if the hotel meet for the conference, including exhibit and emeting rooms, are accessable, if the hotel meet for the conference, the hotel may be liable to the employer, under a non-ALIA breach of combact theory, for the cost of any accommodation smoded to provide scusse to the hotel and conference, and for any other notes accrued by the employer. (In addition, the hotel may also be independently liable under title III of the ALIA). However, this would not relieve the employer of its

y under this part our shield it of discrimination by its own from charges of discrimination by its own employees. See House Labor Report at 42. House judiciary Report at 37.

Section 1630.8 Relationship or Association With an Individual With a Disability

This provision is intended to protect any qualified individual, whether or not that individual has a dissubility, from discrimination because that pursue is known to here an association or relationship with an individual with has a known dissubility. This protection is not limited to those who have a familial relationship with an individual with a dissubility.

femilial relationship with an individual with a disability. To illustrate the scope of this provision, assume that a qualified applicant without a disability applies for a job and discloses to the employer that his or her spouse has a disability. The employer thereupon declines to hire the applicant because the employer believes that the applicant evoud have to mise work or frequently have work early in order to care for the spouse. Such a related thire would be problished by this provision. Similarly, this provision would problet as employer from discharging an employee because the employee does volunteer work with people who have ALDS, and the sumployer four that the exployer may contract the disease.

This provision also applies to other December 1.

employer fears that the employee may contract the disease.

This provision also applies to other benefits and privileges of supplyment. For example, an employer that provides bealth insurance benefits to its employees for provision for the dependents may not reduce the level of those benefits to an employee simply because that employee has a dependent with a disability. This is true were if the provision of such benefits to one employee and the true that it is necessarily because that employee. It is not one when if the provision of such benefits would result in increased health insurance costs for the employee. It should be noted, however, that an employee meed not provide the applicant or employees without a disability with a reasonable accommodation because that duty only applies to qualified applicants or employees with disabilities. Thus, for example, an employee would not be entitled to a modified work and other as on approvement of the employees to

to a monthless worst accomme as ma spousimediation to enable the employee to overe for a spouse with a disability. See Senate Report at St. House Labor Report at 81–62; House judiciary Report at 58–89.

Section 1690.9 Not Making Remonable

The obligation to make reasonable accommendation is a form of non-discretional popular to all employment decisions and to the job application process. This obligation does not extend to the provision of adjustments or modifications their are prisontly for the personal hemself of the individual with a disability. Thus, if an adjustment or modification is pob-related, a suspectionally seasies the individual in performing the duties of a particular job, it will be considered a type of reasonable accommendation. On the other hand, if an adjustment or mod¹⁶ factions sustain the individual throughout mis or her dusty contributes on and off the job, it will be considered a personal item that the complyor considered a personal item that the employer to not required in provide. Accordingly, an employer would generally not be required to

provide an employer with a disability with a practhetic limb, wheelchair, or oyaglasses. Nor would an employer have to provide as encountendation any amenty or conventional that is not job-related, such as a private hot plate, hot pot or mitiganeous that is not provided to employees without disabilities. See Senate Report at 31; House Labor Report at 65.

at Si.
It should be noted, however, that the
provision of such tiams may be required as a
reasonable economication where such items
are specifically designed or required to meet
job-related retirer than personal needs. As iob-related rather than personal needs. An employer, for example, may have to provide an individual with a discribing result impairment with synglesses specifically designed to enable the individual to use the office computer monitors, but that are not otherwise needed by the individual outside of the office.

The terms "monitorated anniholatement" which

the office.

The name "supported employment," which has been applied to a wide variety of programs to assist technicians with severe deschibities in both competitive and non-negative employment, is not synonymous of supported employment, is not synonymous of supported employment include modified training metericis, restructuring essential functions to enable an individual to perform job, or hely an outside professional ("job conds") to earlied to job training. Whether a particular form of assistance would be negative as a reasonable accommodation. particular form of assistance would be required as a reasonable accommodation must be determined on an individualized, once by that essistance is together to as "tention, case på case press authors tellary to say case by case basts without regard to whether that existance is referred to as "supported suplayment." For example, an employer, under ouristo circumstances, may be required to provide modified themising materials or a improvery "job coach" to assist in the training of a questified individual with a dispulsive as a resumentable accommutation. acceptorary "Jou consent" to assist in the training of a qualified individual with a disability as a reasonable accommodation. However, an engaloyer would not be required to restructure the essent if functions of a position to fit the shifls of an individual with a disability who is not otherwise qualified to perform the position, as is done in certain supported emphysment progress. See 24 CFR part 263. It should be noted that it would not be a violation of this part for an employer to provide any of these persons, and distinction or adjustments, or to engage in "apparted anglogeness or extensionation to engage in opported anglogeness. The obligation to make reasonable accommodation applies to all cervices and progresses provided to commention with employment, and to all one-work facilities.

programs provided in connection with employment, and to all non-work familities provided or maintenand by as employer for use by its employees. Accordingly, the obligation to connectionable is applicable to employer symmetries and to employer provided services, and to employer provided services, and to employer provided transportation and the like.

The reasonable secondonation requirement to best understood as a means the substitution of the provided of the control of the control

requirement is best unexpected as a means by which harriers to the equal employment opportunity of an individual with a disability on removed or alteriated. These barriers may, for example, be physical or structural obstacles that inhibit or prevent the access of an individual with a disability to job offer, the little to conference (i.e. they use to rich! at. Or they may be rigid

work schedules that permit no flexibility as to when work is performed or when breaks may be taken, or inflexible job procedures that undaily limit the modes of communication that are used on the job, or the way in which particular teaks are

The term "otherwise qualified" is intended to make clear that the obligation to make reseasable accumumudation is owed only to an individual with a disability who is resociable accumulations is owed only to an individual with a disability who is qualified within the measuring of \$1830.2(m) in that he or the actialize all the skill.

superisace, education and other job-related selection criteria. An individual with a disability is "otherwise qualified for a job, succept that, because of the disability, he or she needs a reasonable accommodation to be able to perform the job's essential functions.

For example, if a less this requires that all incoming lewyers have graduated from an accredited lews school and have passed the her examination, the lew firm mead not provide an encountraled into the are instituted with a visual impairment who has not not these nelection criteria. The incividual is not entitled to a reseascable accommodation is not

entitled to a reasonable accommodate because the individual is not "otherw mendation

to supply the many the position.
On the other hand, if the individual has raduated from an accredited law achool a materials. The individual graduated from an accredited law school and passed the bar semantation, the individual would be "otherwise qualified." The law firm would the "otherwise qualified." The law firm would thus be required to provide a respectable accommodation, such as a machine that magnifies print, to enable the individual to perfers the essential functions of the storage position, schess the snoosanzy accommodation would impose as under hardality as the law firm. Ree Stenset Raport at 33-34; House Labor Raport at 64-65. The reseasable accommodation that is required by this part should provide the qualified individual with a disability with as oqual capitallymment opportunity. Equal

qualified individue) with a disability with an oqual capherymant opportunity. Equal suppleymant opportunity means on sypermanicy, or to employ mean level of performance, or to employment so are available to the everage similarly situated employee without a disability. Thus, for stranges or accommendation made 'conreample, an accommodation made to assist an employee with a deschifty in the performance of his or her job must be adequate to enable the individual to perform adequate to enable the individual to perform the executial functions of the relevant position. The accommodation, however, does not have to be the "best" accommodation possible, no long as it is sufficient to exert the job-related needs of the individual being soo-reases needs at the individual neing accommodesed. Accordingly, an employee disabled by a back impertuent with a state-of-the art mechanical bifting device if it provided the employee with a less expensive or more readily available device that enabled

or more readily available device that enabled the supplyinge to perform the seasants! functions of the job. See Senate Report at 35: Nonzee Labor Report at 55: see also Carter v. Sentence, 30: F. 25 is 10C Ct. 1985]. Employers are obligated to make reasonable accommodathen only in the physical or mental limitations resulting from the disability of a qualified individual with a disability of a qualified individual with a disability that is known to the employer. disability that is known to the employer

Thus, an employer would not be expected to accommode to disabilities of which it is unawars. If an employee with a known disability is having difficulty performing his or her jab, an employer may inquire whether the employers is a need of a reseasonable accommodation, in general, however, it is the responsibility of the individual with a disability to inform the employer that an accommodation is needed. When the need for the accommodation is needed. When the need for the accommodation is needed. an economication is not obvious, an employer, before providing a reasonal accummodation, may require that the individual with a disability provide documentation of the need for

See Benete Report at 34, House Labor Report at 65.

Process of Determining the Appropriate Ressauchte Accommodation

Conce a qualified individual with a dischility has requested provision of a reasonable accommodation, the employer must make a reasonable effort to determine most meter a reasonance extert to determine the appropriate accommodation. The appropriate reasonable accommodation is best determined through a familie, intermotive process the involves both the amployer and the qualified individual with a disability. Although this process is described below in terms of accommodations that disability. Although this process is described below in terms of accommodators that reable the inchricinal with a disability to perform the essential functions of the position anid or destred, it is equally applicable to ecommodations involving the job application process, and to accommodations that enable the individual with a disability to capty equal benefits and privileges of employment. See Semate Report at 34–36: House Labor Report at 38–30.

When a qualified individual with a disability has requested a reasonable

When a qualified individual with a disability has requested a reasonable accommodation to easist in the performance of a job, the employer, using a problem solving approach, should:

[1] Analyse the particular job involved and determine its purpose and essential functions:

[2] Consult with the individual with a disability to securious the reserves.

(2) Consult with the individual with a disability to accertain the precise job-related limitations imposed by the individual; identified instations imposed by the individual; identified disability and how those limitations could be overcome with a reasonable accommodation; [3] in consultations with the individual to be accommodated, identify potential accommodated, identify potential accommodated, identify potential accommodated between an assess the individual to perform the essential functions of the position; and [4] Consider the preference of the individual to be accommodated and select and implement the accommodated and select and implement the accommodated that is

ment the economication that is

and implement the accommodation that is most appropriate for both the employee and the employer. In meany instances, the appropriate reasonable accommodation may be so obvious to either or both the employer and the qualified individual with a disability that the qualified individual with a distability in it may not be necessary to proceed in this step-by-step fishhon. For example, if an employee who uses a wheelcheir requests that his ar har deak be placed on blocks to elevate the deaktop above the arms of the wheelcheir and the employer compliers, at especial and the implayed complaint of appropriate accommodation has been requested, identified, and provided without either the suplayee or employer being aware

of hering engaged in any sort of "meast accumumodation process." However, is some instances neither institutional requesting the accommodation the scoployer can readily identify the appropriate accommodation. For snow intervious requirements are the ecoployer can readily identify the appropriate accommodation. For exemple, the individual needing the accommodation may not know except about the equipment used by the employer or the exact nature of the work site to engines an expropriete accommodation. Likewise, the employer and know enough about the individual's disability or the institutions that disability disability or the limitations that disability would impose on the performance of the job to suggest in appropriate accommendation. Under such circumstances, it may be necessary for the employer to intitate a more defined problem solving process, such as the step-by-step process densified above, as part of its reasonable effort to identify the

of in researchible effort to identify the appropriate researchible communication. This process requires the individual assessment of both the portioniar job at lesses and the specific physical or smooth institutions of the particular individual in most of reasonable secondarioshiton. With regard to assessment of the job, 'individual assessment' means analyzing the actual job duries and determining the true purpose or ob a... of the job, Such as secondaries in a secondarie in accordance which his functions. ne resery to escertain which job functions are the sessatial functions that an

are the essential functions that an accommodation must easible an individual with a disability to perform.

After essessing the relovant job, the employer, no consultation with the individual requesting the accommodation, should make an essessment of the specific limitations imposed by the classifity on the individual's performance of the job's assential functions. or eldinace it examilies to This execution will make it possions to acceptain the precise betrier to the employment opportunity which, in turn, will make it possible to determine the accommodation(s) that could alleviate or

remove that berry

If consultation with the individual in n It consists not with the introduct in recent of the accommodation still does not reveal potential appropriate accommodations, then the supplyer, as part of this process, may find that technical assistance is helpful in find that technical sessions is heapris in determining how to accommodate the particular individual in the specific situation. Such essistance could be acquisit from the Commission, from ster or local rehabilitation agencies, or from disability constituent organizations. It should be noted, however that, as provided in § 1830.02(o) of this par-the failure to obtain or receive technical assistance from the federal agencies that administer the ADA will not excuse the employers from its reasonable accommode obligation. entrations. It should be noted, bowever

obligation. One potential accommodations have in identified, the employer should essess the effectiveness of each potential economodation in easiting the individual resed of the economodation in the performance of the executive functions of the position. If more than one of these position, it more made as messes accommodations will make the individual to perform the essential functions or if the individual would praise to provide his or her own accommodation, the preference of the individual with a disability abould be given



primary consideration. However, the amployer providing the accommodation has the sittests discretion to choose between effective accommodations, and may choose effective accommodations, and may croose the less expensive seconsmodation or the accommodation that is easier for it to provide, it should size be noted that the individual's willingness to provide the or to over accommodation does not relieve the over of the duty to provide the nanodetton should the individual for any accommodation should the individual for an reason be enable or an willing to continue to modation

secondole Accommodation Pro

The following example illustrates the formal resentable accommodation pro of resecutable secondary and requires a Sect Handler position requires buppose a Secti Handler position requires that the comployee picks up fifty pound such and cerry these from the company loading duch to the storage recon, and that a such handler who is disabled by a back impairment requests a resonable successional requests. The ensurable successional requests to resonable successional requests the ensurable reduced the ensurable reduced redu

posed by the individual's specific dissibility to the performance of the job's essential intention of reslocating the section. At this meeting the employer learns that the individual can, in fact, lift the sacks to waist level, but is prevented by his or has dissolving from carrying the sacks from the loading dock to the storage roun. The amployer and the individual agree that any of a number of potential accommodations, each as the provision of a doily, heard track, or cart, could enable the individual to transport the sacks that he or she has lifted.

Upon further consideration, however, it is

enable the individual to transport the sacus that he or she has lifted.

Upon further consideration, however, it is determined that the provision of a cart is not a feasible effective reption. No carts are currently available at the conspany, and those that cas he purchased by the company are the wrong shape to hold usery of the bulky and irregularly shaped secks that must be moved. Both the doily and the hand truck, on the other hand, appear to be effective options. Both are readily available to the company, and alther will smalle the individual to relocate the sacks that he or she has lifted. The sack handler indicates his or her preference for the doily. In consideration of this expressed preference, and because the employer feels that the doily will allow the individual to more more sacks at a time and se he more efficient than would a hand truck the employer sultimately provides the sach handler with a doily in initilizant of the obligation to make reasonable accessmentation.

obligation to make

This provision states that an employer or other covered entity cannot prefer or select a qualified individual without a disability over an equally qualified individual with a disability mersily because the individual with e disability will require a reasonable

accummodation. In other words, as todividual's need for an accommodation centor ester into the supplyer's or other covered entity's decision regarding bring, discharge, promotion, or other similar employment decisions, unless the миритивы песівіона, инівав the accommedation would impose an undue hardship on the supplayer. See Nouse Labor Report at 70.

Section 1630.0(d)

The purpose of this provision is to clerify their an employer or other covered entity in not compet a qualified individual with a disability to accept an accommodation. where that accommodation is settler requested for meeted by the individual. However, if a necessary resemble accommodation is refused, the individual many not be considered qualified. For example, an individual with a visual impairment that restricts his or her field of vision but who is able to read intaided wo not be required to accept a reader as an accommodation. However, if the individual were not able to read unaided and reading were not able to read unaided and reading was an ensential function of the job, the individual would not be qualified for the job if he or she refused a reasonable accommodation that would enable him or her to read. See Senate Report of \$4; House Labor Report at \$6; House Judiciary Report st 71-72.

Section 1690.10 Qualification Standards. Tests, and Other Selection Criteria

The purpose of this provision is to ensure that individuals with disabilities are not excluded from job opportunities unless they are actually unable to do the job. It is to ensure that there is a fit between job criteria and an applicant's (or employee's) actual ability to do the job. Accordingly, to b criteria that even unintentionably acrees out, or said to acreem out, an individual with a disability or a class of individuals with disabilities because of their disability may not be us unless the employer demonstrates that their criteria, as used by the employer, are job-related to the position to which they are being applied and are conststent with business necessity. The concept of "businessenges the same meaning as the concept of "business necessity" and 604 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1972.

Selection criteria that exclude, or tend to exclude, as individual with a disability or a exclude, an individual with a disability or a class of individuals with a disability or a of their disability but do not concern sessonial franction of the job would not be consistent with business necessity. The use of selection criteria that are related to an essential function of the job may be consistent with business necessity However, selection criteria that are related to

may be consistent with beatiness necessity flowerers, selection criteria that are related to a sessential function of the job stay not be used to exclude an individual with a disability if that individual oxide sensity the criteria with the provision of a reasonable accommodation. Experience under a small provision of the regulations implementing section 606 of the Rababilitation Act indicates that challenges to selection criteria are, in fact, most often revolved by reasonable accommodation I is therefore actionated that challenges to selection. reasonable accommodation. It is therefore anticipated that challenges to selection criteria brought under this part will generally be resolved in a like manner.

on is applicable to all types of This provis tion criteria, including safety frements, vision or bearing rewalking requirements, lifting requirements, and employment tests, See Senate Report at 37–39; House Labor Report at 70–72, House Judiciary Report at 42 As previously noted however, it is not the intent of this part to second guess an employer's business judgment with regard to production standards. (See section 1600 2(a) Resential Functions). Consequently, production standards will generally not be subject to a chellenge under this provision.

The Uniform Gusdelines on Employee Selection Procedures (UCSSP) IS CFR part 1607 do not apply to the Rehabilitation Act and are similarly inapplicable to this part second guess an employer's busine

Section 1880.11 Administration of Tests

The intent of this provision is to further sphasize that individuals with disabilities are not to be excluded from jobs that they can actually perform merely because a disability prevents them from taking a test, or negatively influences the results of a test, that is a prerequisite to the job. Read together with the reasonable accommodation requirement of section 1630.9, this provis requirement or section reads, can provision requires the supplyment feets be administered to eligible applicants or employees with disabilities the impair sensory, manual, or speaking skills in formats that do not require the use of the impaired. اللاه

The employer or other covered statity is, generally, only required to provide such resonanted for this knows, prior to the administration of the test, that the individual is disabled and that the disability impairs sensory, manual or speaking skills. Thus, for example, it would be unlawful to administer a written employment lest to an administer a written employment lest to an addividual who has informed the employer, prior to the administration of the test. As the is disabled with dystests and unable to read. in such a case, as a reasonable accommodation and in accordance with this accommodation arm in economic and provision, an elementary or all test should be administered to that individual. By the same tokers, a written test may need to be substituted for an oral best if the applicant taking the test is an individual with a disability that impairs speaking skills or impairs the processing of auditory enformation

information.

Occase onally, on individual with a disability may not realize, prior to the administration of a lest, that he or she will need an accompodation to take that particular test. In such a situation, the individual with a disability, upon becoming aware of the need for an economodation, must so inform the employer or other covers entity. For example, suppose an individual with a disabiling visual impairment does not mousest an accommodation for a written. request an accommodation for a writte request on accommission in the winter as a winter as a state of the contract o unautry simeners and the new in insufficient to distinguish the words of the test because of the animally low color contrast between the perior and the ink the



individual would be entitled, at thei point, to request an accommodation. The employer or other covered entity would, theresposs, here to provide a test with higher contrast, schedule a retest, or provide any other effective accommodation unless to do so

effective economodetion unless to do so would impose as usedue hardehig.

Other alternative or occasable test modes or formats include the ediministration of tests in large print or herific. or vis a reader or sign interpreter. Where it is not possible to test in an alternative format, the employer may be required, so a responsible accurammedation, to evaluate the skill to be tested in another manner (a., through an interpreter or through available that is the insterview or through measure (e.g., through an interview, or through aducation license, or work experience requirements). An amployer may also be required, as a reasonable accommodation, to required, se a reasonsete accommodation, to addition, the addition, the employer's obligation to make reasonable accommodation, to addition, the employer's obligation to make reasonable accommodation extends to ensuring that the test atto is accessible. (See § 1680 B Not Making Reasonable — Accommodation) See Senate Report at 37–38; House Judiciary Report at 28.2 as also State v Present. 886 F 2d 698 [11th Cir 1963]. Crume v. Dole. 617 F hosp. 186 [LD C. 1963].

This provision does not require that an employer provide, upon advance requires that an employer provide, upon advance requires that an employer provide, upon advance request, alternative, accessible tests to individuals with disabilities that insper accessory, marsinal, or speaking skills needed to take the test. w more time to come te the test bo

take the size. This provision does not apply to employment tests that require the see of serrory. Insural, or speciating skills where the tests are intended to measure those skills. Thus, an employer could require that as applicant with dyslesse take a written test for appricant with cysicals take a written test por a particular position if the shifty to result is the skill the test is designed to measure. Similarly, an employer could require that an applicant complete a test within established time frames if speed were one of the skills for which the applicant was being tested. However, the results of such a test could not However, the results of such a test could not be used to exclude an individual with a disability unless the skill was necessary to perform an essential function of the position and no resecusable excommodation was available to enable the individual to perform that function, or the necessary accommodation would impose an undus

Section 1630.13 Prohibited Medical Examinations and Inquires

Section 1630 13(a) Pre-sone Examination or Inquiry

This provision makes clear that an employer cannot impute as to whether as individual has a disability at the pro-offer elage of the selection process. Nor one an employer inquire at the pre-offer stage about an applicant's workers' compensation

assory.

Engloyers may sak questions that relate to the applicant's ability to perform job-related functions. However, these questions should not be phraped in terms of disability. An employer for example, may sak whether the applicant has a driver's itemas. If driving is a behindred by the man of the property of the job function, but may not ask whether the

applicant has a visual disability. Rimployers may set about an applicant's shilly to perform both essential and marginel job hanchons. Employers though may not refuse to hire an applicant with a disability because the applicant's deschility prevents him or her from performing marginel functions. See Sensete Report at 322 House Labor Report at 72-72. House judiciary Report at 42-43

ction 1630.15(b) Examination or Inquiry of Employmen

of Employmes

The purpose of this provision is to prevent
the administration to employees of medical
issis or inquiries that do not serve a
logitimate businesse purpose. For example, if
an employee suddenly starts to use increase
amounts of sich leave or starts to use increase
amounts of sich leave or starts to use increase
amounts of sich leave or starts to use increase
amounts of sich leave or starts to use increase
infaction, or essner sudsesse the employer can
demonstrate that such testing is job-related
and consistent with business increasity See
Senate Report at 39: House Labor Report at
78: House Judiciary Report at 44

Section 1850 M. Medical Experimentary and

Section 1880.14 Medical Examinations and Inquiries Specifically Permitted

Section 1830 (4)a) Pre-employment Inquiry This inquiry must be narrowly tailored. The employer may describe or demonstrate the job function and inquire whether or not the applicant one perform that function with or without reasonable accommodation. For example, an employer may explain that the job requires essembling small parts and sak if the individual will be able to perform that function, with or without reasonable accommodation. See Senate Report at 38; House Labor Report at 73; House Judiciary Report at 43. An employer may also ask an ampliance.

Report at 43. An employer may also ask an applicant to describe or to desconstrate how, with or setthout reasonable accommodation, the applicant will be able to perform job-related functions. Such a nequest may be made of all applicants in the same job category regardless of disability. Such a request may also be made of an applicants whose known disability may interfere with or prevent the performance of a job-related function, whether or not the employer routinely makes such a request of all applicants in the job outegory. For example, an employer may ask whether or not use suproyer training and such a request of all applicants in the job ontegory. For assumple, an employer may ask so individual with one leg who applies for a position as a home weaking machine repairmen to demonstrate or to explain how with or without reasonable accumulation. he would be able to transport himself and his tools down basessent stairs. However, the same sown unsettent stars. However, the employer may not inquire as to the nesture or saverity of the disability. Therefore, for example, the employer cannot ask how the individual lost the lag or whether the loss of the lag is indicative of an underlying

On the other hand, if the known disability o fitwe erafratat ton the transit of an applicant will not interters with or prevent the performance of a job-related function, the suployer may only request a description or demonstration by the applicant if it routiness makes such a request of all applicants in the same job category. So, for example, it would no ot be permitte employer to request that an applicant with one leg demonstrate his shilly to assemble small parts while seased at a table, if the employer dues not routinely request that all applicants provide such a demonstration.

An employer that requires an applicant with a disability to demonstrate how he or she will perform a job-misted function must either provide the reasonable accommodation nodation emer provide me reasonable accommonation the applicant needs to perform the function or permit the applicant to explain how, with the accommodation, he or she will perform the function. If the job-related function is not an essential function, the employer may not exclude the applicant with a disability because of the applicant's inability to perform that function, Rather, the employer must, as a reasonable accommodation, eth provide an accommodation that will enable the individual to perform the function, transfer the function to another poets efer the fu exchange the function for one the applicant is able to perform.

able to perform.

An employer may not use an application from that lists a number of potentially disabiling impairments and sals the application check any of the impairments he or she may have in addition, as noted above, as employer stay not ask how a perticular individual became disabled or the prognos of the irettivens? a disability. The sumicire of the irettivens? a disability. The sumicire individual became disabled or the prognosis of the individual's disability. The supplyers is also prohibited from asking how often the individual will require leave for treatment or use leave as a result of incapacitation because of the disability. However, the

because of the disability. However, the employer may state the attendance requirements of the job and fragular whether the applicant can meet them. An employer is permitted to saik, on a test approximate an experiment or application form, that molecular with disabilities who well require a reasonable accommodation in order to take the test so inform the employer within a reasonable restablished time periad prior to the administration of the test. The employer may also recount that the content to the content to the content to the experiment of the content to the experiment of the content to the conte may also request that documentation of the need for the accommodation accompany th request. Requested accumusodations may include accessible testing sites, modified testing conditions and accessible test formats. (See § 1630.11 Administration of

Physical agility tests are not medical examinations and so may be given at any point in the application or employment process. Such tests must be given to all similarly situated applicants or employ regardless of disability. If such tests so regarders to (machiny). I standards with a disability or a class of individuals with a disabilities, the scalary are would have to demonstrate that the test is piot-related and consistent with business uncaseity and that demonstrate that the test is not-related and consistent with business meananty and the performance cannot be achieved with reasonable accommodation. (See § 1690.9 Not Making Reasonable Accommodation Process of Determining the Appropriate Reasonable Accommodation).

Reasonable Accommodation).

As previously acred, collecting information and inviting individuals to identify themselves as individuals with disabilitie, as required to entirely the affirmative action required to entirely the affirmative action requirements of Section 803 of the Rehabilitation Act is not restricted by this



part. (See § 1630.1 (b) and (c) Applicability and Construction)

ection 1630.14(b) Employment Entrance

An employer is permitted to require po offer medical examinations before the employer actually starts working. The employer uses condition the offer of employer uses conflitted the offer of nemployees to the remainst of the assemination, provided that all entering employees in the same job category are subjected to such are assemination, regard of disability, and that the charitedentiality requirements appelled in this port are This provision recognition that in many industries, such as are transportation or

incustries, even as air iransportation or construction, applicants for certain positions are chosen on the beats of many factors including physical and psychological criteria come of which may be identified as a result of post-offer medical examinations given of post-offier medical examinations given prior to entry on duty. Only those employs who meet the employer's physical and psychological arisaria for the jeb, with or writhout reasonable accommodation, will be

writtness reassumetrie accommodation, will be quantified to receive conditioned offers of amployments and begin working. Medical examinations permitted by this section are not required to be job related and consumer with business inconsisty. However, if an employer withdraws on effect of employment because the medical companyments because the medical continuation reveals that the employee does not estilely certain employment critaria, either the auxiliariament critaria ment not acroen out or tend to acroen out as individuals with a charbility or a class of individuals with a disability or a class of individuals with disabilities, or they meet be help-related. Chambility or a class of incriments wron disabilities, or they must be job-related and consisting with business measurity. As part of the showing that an exclusionary oritoria is job-related and consistent with business necessity, the employer must also demonstrate that there is no reesonable necessary, the employer more assor-demonstrate that there is so researchite economodation that will enable the individual with a disability to perform the reseastled functions of the job. See Conference Report at 50-00; Senate Report at 38 House Labor Report at 73-74; House Judiciary Report at 43. As an exam

As an example, suppose an employer success a conditional offer of employment to a applicant, and it is an essential function of an applicant, and if he as seecimal removes the job that the incumbent be available to work every day for the next three months, employment entrance examination then work every day for the next three menths. An explayment entrance examination then reveals that the applicant has a disability impairment that, according to reasonable medical judgment that relies on the most current medical knowledge, will require streetment that will render the applicant stable to work for a portion of the three menth period. Under these ctrowquiamons, the employment offer without violating this part. The information obtained in the course of a permitted entrance examination or inquiry is to be treated as a confidential medical record and me entry be used in a memore not

to be treated as a confidential medical record and may only be used in a menner not inconsistent with this part. Bate workers' compensation lews are not presupted by the ADA or this pert. These laws require the collection of information from individuals for state administrative purposes that do not confirst with the ADA or this part. Consequently, employers or other covered

entities may submit information to state workers' compensation offices or second injury funds in accordance with state sation laws without

violeting the port.

Consistent with this section and with
§ 1620.18(f) of this pert, information obta in the course of a permitted entrance exemination or inquiry may be used for tosurance purposes described in § 1630.19(f)

Section 1630.14(c) Examination of Επικούννσου

This provision permits employers to make inquiries or require medical examinetions (fitness for daty exams) when there is a need to determine whether as omployers is still able to perform the essential functions of his or tob. The provision permits employers ther covered entities to make inquiries or or eth ther covered entities to make in stre medical examinations reves require medical examinations necessary to the reasonable accommodation process clearibed in this par. This provision 2-so parasits periodic physicals in 2-securities thoses for duty or other medical associating it such physicals or monitoring are required by medical stendards or requirements established by Federal, statu, or local law that are consistent with the ALM and this part (or in the case of a federal standard, with section 504 of the Rehabilitation ACI in that they are lab-related and consistent with with section 304 of the Rehabilitation Act) in that they are job-related and consistent with beginns necessity.

that they are job-related and consistent with beginness necessity. Such standards may include frederel safety regulations that regulate bus and tracts driver qualifications, as well as leave establishing medical requirements for pitots or other air transportation personnel. These standards also include bealth standards promungated pursuant to the Occapetional Safety and Health Act of 1970, the Federal Coul Mitte Health and Safety Act of 1980, or other amilies statutes that require that supplyrose exposed to centrals tructs and hearedness substances be medically munitored at specific intervals. See House Labor Report at 74-73.

The information obtained in the course of such exemination or inquiries is to be treated as a confidential medical record and may only be used in a measurer not in with this part.

Section 1880 14(d) Other Acceptable Examinations and Inquires

Examinations and inquiries

Part 1830 permits voluntary medical
examinations, including voluntary medical
instories, as part of employee health
programs. These programs often include, for
example, medical screening for high blood
pressure, weight control comuseling, and
canner detection. Voluntary activities, such
as blood preserver monitoring and the
ediministering of prescription drugs, such as
inselfin, are also permitted. It should be noted,
however, that the medical remarks developed
in the course of such activities must be
maintained in the confidential manner
required by this part and coust not be used for
say purpose in volution of this part, such as
insiling health insurance eligibility. House
Labor Report at 75; House judiciary Report at
43-44.
Section 1801.15. Defenses

Section 1830.15 Defenses

The section on defenses in part 1630 is not intended to be exhaustive. However, it is

intended to inform employers of some of the potential defences available to a charge of discrimination under the ADA and this part Section 1630-15(a) Disparate Treatment

The "traditional" defense to a charge of disparate treatment under title VII. as expressed in McDouncil Douglas Corp v. Green, 411 U.S. 783 (1973). Treas Department of Community Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 246 (1881). and their property, new be applicable to charges of disparate treatment brought under the ADA. See Previets v. U.S. Antal Service, 600 F.M. 200 (1981). Disparate treatment means, with respect to title 1 of the ADA. that an individual was breated differently on the basis of his or her dispatibility on the basis of his or her The "traditional" defense to a charge of Ally. Inst an inspector we are usually differently so the base of his or her desability. For example, disparate treement has accurate where an employer excludes an amployee with a severe facial disrigurement from staff meetings because the employer. The individual is being treated differently because of the employer a stitude towards his or her perceived disability. Disparate treatment has also occurred where an employer has a policy of sof hirug individuals with Allie negaritiess of the individuals genifications.

The crux of the defense to this type of charge is that the individuals were treated differently not because of his or her deadliferently not because

The crax to use an activate the contract is that the individual was treated differently not because of his or her disability but for a legitimate nondiscriminatory reasons such as non-performence surrelated to the individual's disability. The fact that the individual's disability is not covered by the employer's classification or would counse the employer's insurance paramisms or workers' compensation costs to im-reserve the complex of t workers' compensation costs to increase would not be a legitimate nondescriminatory reason justifying disparate treatment of an individual with a disphility. Sensets Report at 58. House Labor Report at 130 and House indictary Report at 79. The defense of a legitimate neediscriminatory reason is rebutted if the alleged nondiscriminatory reason is shown to be prefextual

Section 1630.15 (b) and (c) Disparate Impact

Disparate inspect means, with respect to title I of the ADA and this part, that uniformly applied criteria here an adverse impact on an individual with a disability or a disproportionality angative impact on a class of individuals with disabilities Section 1800.18(b) circline that an employer may use selection criteria that have such a disparate for that automatic of the disparate of the dispar impact, i.e., that screen out or tend to screen out an individual with a disability or a class of individuals with disabilities only when they are job-related and consistent with 004 000 eity.

basiness necessary.

For example, an employer interviews two candidates for a position; one of whom is blind. Both are equally qualified. The employer decides that white it is not essentiate the job it would be convenient to here are employee who has a driver's homser and so could occasionally be asked to run errends who our The semblover hipse the individual. could occasionally be assent to ran errence by car. The supployer hittes the individual who is sighted because this individual has a driver's license. This is an example of a multivarily applied criterion, having a driver's parmit, that screens out an individual who



≜

disability that makes if impossible to to a driver's permit. The oxiployer won have to show that this criterion is job-al and consistent with business setty. See House Labor Papart at 55. abbeta e deter

ministry, one recipie Labor "impair 44 Di. However, even if the critisies in job-rela and consistent with business monestry, as impleyer could not exclude an individual employer tous nor excess as issurement with a disability if the criterion nosid be are or job performence accompitabled with a resecuable accommodation. For example, resonance accommunication. For champes, suppose an employer requires, as part of the application process, an interview that is jobraleted and consistent with business. related and ossestates with business moments. The employer would not be able to refuse to hire a hearing impaired applicant because he or she could not be interviewed. This is so because as interpreter could be provided as a reasonable excommodation that would allow the individual to be interviewed, and thus antisfy the selection

orderion. With regard to selecty requirements that screen out at tend to across out an individual with a deschifty or a class of individuals with fishebilities, as employer most demonstrate that the requirement, as applied to the individual, settled by fifteet throat" standard in § 1000 X(r) in order to show that the most invent to show that the requirement is job-related and consistent with business reconstity.

Section 1600.18(c) clarifies that there may

heauton isolate); classiment into interest has been been supposed transferries and polecies not relating to selection that may also someon out are braid in accretion out as individual with a disability or a class of individuals with disabilities. Like selection individuals with disabblides. Like selection criteria that have a disparate impact, non-selection criteria having such an impact so also have to be job-releted and constatuss with business recessity, subject to consideration of reasonable accommodate it should be noted, however, that some

It should be noted, however, that some suitorally applied employment policies or practices, such as leave paticies, are not subject to challenge under the adverse impact theory. "No leave" policies (e.g., no leave during the first aix mouths of employment) are likewise not subject to challenge under the adverse impact theory. However, an employer, in spite of the 'no-leave' policy, may, is appropriete drivenstances, have to consider the provision of leave to an employee with a disability as a reasonable accommondation, unless the provision of leave would impose on under hardship, See discussion of \$1500.50 Quelification Standards. Testa, and Other Selection Criteria.

Section 1610 (Md) Defense to Not Making Reasonable Accommodation

An employee or other covered entity alleged to have discriminated became it did not make a reasonable accommodation, as required by this part, may offer as a defense that it would have been an usulus hardship to make the anomanochation.

If should be noted, however, that an excellent

H MUCHING DE DOCKO, DOWWENT, LIGHT AN employer osenot shapply seasor that a needed socomunication will occur it suches hardship, as defined in § 1980.20), and thereupon relieved of the duty to provide accommodation. Rather, an employer will hard to proteent evidence and demonstrate

that the accommendation will in fact, one under hardship. Whether a particular accommodation will impose an under hardship for a particular employer is determined on a case by case some.

Consequently, an accommodation that poses an unchas hardship for one capaloger at a particular time may not pose as unche hardship for another employer, or even for the same employer at amother time. Likewise, an accommodation that poses an under an accommodation that poses an under ed on a onse by can an accommodation that power an under hardship for one employer in a particular job setting, such as a important construction worksite, may not pose an under hardship for emother employer, or arms for the sen-entition and a particular worksite. See

employer at a pursument worksite. See House judiciary Report et 48. The concept of melon hardship that has evolved under Section 504 of the Rehabilitions Act and is embodied in this pert is suffice the "undue hardship" defense essociated with the provision of religious accommodation under title VB of the Civil Behab Act of 504. accommendation under title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1895. To demonstrate under hardship pursuant to the ADA and this part, an employer must show substantially more difficulty or expense than would be needed to actify the "de naminie" title VII standard of ashifty the "de minimis" title VII suspensive or uncles hardstip. For example, to demonstrate that the cost of an accommodation poses an under hardstep, an employer would have to show that the cost is undue as compared to the employer's budget. Semply comparing the cost of the accommodation to the salary of cost of the acocommodation to the salary of the individual with a disability in need of the acocommodation with not suffice. Moreover, even if it is determined that the cost of an acocommodation would sentialy burden as gnisken blova r player, the employer connot avoid makin accommodation if the individual with a simpleyer, me empanyer to the modern that he soccommodation if the individual with a dissability can arrange to cover their portion of the cost that rises to the under hardestep level, or can otherwise a ravage to provide the accommodation. Under each circumstances. the necessary accommodation would no

accommodetion. Under each circumstances, the necessery accommodation wested no longer pose an undue herdstip. See Senate Report at 86. House Labor Report at 80-62: House fundiciary Report at 60-61.

Excessive cost is only use of several possible hoses upon which an assupplyer neight be able to demonstrate undue hardship. Alternatively, for example, an employer could demonstrate that the provistor of a particular accommodation would be unduly disruptive to its other employees or to the functioning of its bestmess. The terms of a collective hungasizing agreement may be relevant to this determination. By way of illustration, an employer could show that the requested accommodation of the speward adjustment of the business' thermostat would result in it hecoming. the special adjustances of the business's thermosets would result in it becoming modely hot for its other employees, or for its petrons or customers. The employee would thus not have to provide this accommodation However, if there were an alternate amodation that would not result in

accommodation that would not result in under her. labor, the employer would have to provide that accommodation. It should be noted, moreover, that the employer would not be able to show under hardship if the disruption to its employees were the result of those employees learn or prejudices inward the individual? eliability and not the result of the provision of the

accumusodation. Nor would the employer be able to demonstrate under bardship by showing that the provision of the accumusodation has a negative impact on the morale of its other employees but not on the ability of these employees to perform their

Section 1680.18(e) Defense-Conflicting Pederal Laws and Regulations

Rederal Laws and Regulations

There are several Pederal laws sud
regulations that address medical standards
and safety requirements. If the alleged
discriminatory action was taken in
compliance with another Pederal law or
regulation, the employer may offer its
obligation to comply with the conflicting
standard as a defense. The employer's
defense of a conflicting Pederal requirement
or regulation may be relatited by a thowing
of pretent, or by showing that the Federal
standard did not require the discriminatory
mounts to comply with the standard that
would not conflict with this part. See Horses
Labor Report at 74 Labor Report at 74

Section 1890.16 Specific Activities

Section 1630,16(a) Religious Entities

Religious argumentations are not ex-rapt from title I of the ADA or this part. A from title I of the ALIA or this part. A religious corporation, association, educational institution, or anciety may give a preference it employment to inclivituals of applicants and employment to inclivituals of applicants and employment conferre to the religious tenets of the organization. However, or religious tenets of the organization. However, or religious organization may not discriminate against an individuals who satisfies the permitty of religious orderels because that individual is of shaded. The religious entity, to other we rule, is required to consider qualified institution is with disabilities who satisfy the cermitty, religious private on an equal basis instriction is with dissolitities with sensity the permitter, religious criterius on an equal basts with qual find instrictionis without dissolities who timi .rly setting the religious criterius fine Sensite Report at 45. House Labor Report at 78–77. House Jadiciary Report at 48.

Section 1690.16(b) Regulation of Alcohol and Drugs

This provision permits employers to establish or comply with nortain standards regulating the use of drugs and atomic in t regularing the test of caruga and arcanosis in worthplace. It also allowed employers to look alcoholice and persons who engage is the fillegal use of drugs to the same performance and conduct standards to which it holds all of its other amployees. Individuals disabled by alcoholism are entitled to the same auconousem are entitled to the same protections socorded other individuals with disabilities under this part. As quant above, individuals currently engaging in the illegal use of drugs are not individuals with disabilities for purposes of part 1830 when the employer acts on the bests of such use

Section 1690.16(c) Drug Testing

This provision reflects title I's neutrality toward testing for the filegal use of drugs. Such drug tests are neither encouraged, surhorized nor prohibited. The results of such drug tests may be used as a basts for disciplinary action. Tests for the illegal use of



98783

drugs are not considered medical examinations for purposes of the part. If the results reveal information about an individual's medical condition beyond whether the individual is currently engaging in the likegal use of drugs, this additional infernation is to be treated as a confidential infernation or order. For example, if a text for the filegal use of drugs reveals the presence of a controlled substantial that has been leaveful prescribed for a particular medical condition. Whis information is to be treated as a confidential medical record. See House Labor Report at 7% House Judiciary Report at 47.

Section 1980.19(a) infectious and Communicable Diseases; Road Handling Jobs

This provision addressing food handling jobs applies the "direct threat" analysis to the particular streation of accommodating individuals with infectious or communicable diseases that are transmitted through the handling of food. The Department of Health and Hannam fleevices is to prepare a list of infectious and ammunicable diseases that are transmitted through the handling of food. If an individual with a diseability has not of the listed diseases and works in or applies for a position in food handling, the employer must determine whether there is a reasonable accommodation that will aliminate the risk of transmitting the diseases through the handling of food. If there is an accommodation that will aliminate the risk of transmitting the diseases through the handling of food, the simployer will prevent the transmission of the disease through the handling of food, the employer sunsel provide the accommodation to the individual. The employer, under these circumstances, would not be primitted to discremination against the individual baccuse of the need to provide the reasonable accommodation and would be required to maintain the individual in the food handling to the secondaries.

If no such reasonsible accommodation is possible, the amployer may refuse to assign, or to continue to assign the isolateful to a position tovolving food handling. The third such an individual is an earn of the food handling position the employer required to hire the individual. However, if the individual is a current employer, the employer would be required to consider the accommodation of reaseignment to a vacant position not involving food handling for which the individual is qualified. Conference Report at 61–63 (See § 1630.2(r) Direct Threat)

Section 1630.18(f) Health Insurance Life Insurance, and Other Renefit Plans

This provision is a 'imited exemption that is only applicable to those who establish, sponsor, observe or educinister benefit plans, each as health and life insurance plans. If does not apply to those who establish, sponsor, observe or administer plans not tryotiving benefits, such as liability maurance.

The purpose of this provision is to permit the development and administration of benefit plans in accordance with accepted principles of risk assessment. This provision is not misinded to disrupt the current regulatory structure for self-insured employers. These employers may ratablish sponsor, observe, or administer the terms of a bone fide basefit plan not subject to state leve that regulate insurance. This provision is also not intended in disrupt the current nature of insupance underwriting, or current insurance industry practices in sales, underwriting, pricing edimensionative and other services, claims and similar insurance related activities based on classification of risks as regulated by the Shaies.

The activities permitted by this provision do not violate part 1820 even if they result in finitetions on indeviduals with disabilities.

The activities permitted by this provision do not violate part 1850 even of they result in limitations on individuals with disabilities, provided that these activities are not used as authorizing to evade the purposes of this part. Whether or not these activities are being used as a subteringe is to be determined without regard to the dark the insurance plan or employee benefit plan was adouted.

However, an employer or other covered entity carnot deny a qualified individual with a disability agent access to insurance or subject a qualified individual with a disability to different terms or conditions of insurance based on disability alone, if the disability does not pose increased risks. Part 1980 requires that decisions not based on risk classification be made in configurity with non-discrimination requirements. See Sensie Report at 48–88, House Lubur Report at 138–138, House judiciary Report at 73–71. See the discussion of § 1630.6 Limiting, Segregating and Classifyring.

[FR Doc. 91-17512 Filed 7-25-91, 8-45 am]

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY COMMISSION

29 CFR Parts 1602 and 1627

Recordinging and Reporting Under Title VH and the ADA

AGENCY: Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC). ACTION: Final rule

membaser. This final rule is based on two separate Notices of Proposed Rulemaking [NPRM] published on February 13, 1989 (54 FR 6551). et March 5, 1991 (56 FR 9185). This final rule amenda 29 CFR part 1802, FEOC's regulations on Recordkeeping and Reporting under title VII of the Cavil Righ's Act of 1964 (title VII), to add recardkeeping requirements under the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA). It increases the records retention reriod required in part 1802 for title VII and the ADA from 6 months to one year The Commission also is adding a new subpart R to part 1802, 29 CFR 1802 56. that will clarify that the Commission has the authority to investigate persons to determine whether they comply with the reporting or recordkeeping requirements of part 1802. In addition, the Commission is making several minor changes to \$ \$ 1002.7 and 1002.10

The Commission also is deleting § 1002.14(b) of its title VII recordke regulations, which provides that the 1 1002 recordisceping requirements do not apply to temporary or ressonal positions. Information regarding such eraployees now must be reported on eptember 30 of Standard Form 100 on S each year, in the same fashion as information resending permanent employees is reported. Similarly, the Commission is deleting \$5 1627 .i(h) and 1627 .4(a)(2) of the Age Discrimination in 1827 48 421 of the Agu Dandanassino at Employment Act recordiscepting regulations, which provide for a 90-day retestion period for temporary positions, and is clarifying the mandstory nature of such recordiceping. The Commission is not issuing a final rule on proposed § 1802.57 at this time.

EFFECTIVE DATE: August 25, 1991

FOR FUNTHER REPORMATION CONTACT: Thomas J. Schlageter, Acting Assistant Legal Counsel, Grace C. Karmiol, General Attorney, or Wendy Adams, General Attorney, at (202) 603—4009 (voice) or (202) 603—4309 (TDD).

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: The Commission received nine comments in esponse to the NPRM published in the March 5, 1991 Federal Register on Recordkeeping and Reporting under title VII and the ADA. The comments responded to the invitation in the amble of the NPRM for comment on whother there should be a reporting requirement under the ADA, how the orted information should be used. and how it should be collected. Four comments recommended that there be a reporting requirement although one of them suggested that it be collected by sampling rather than universal reporting. Five comments opposed any new reporting requirements on the grounds of administrative burden. One of these suggested that no reporting requirement be imposed at this time, but that the need for reporting be reassessed that the resoult of reporting or reasons and at a later date. Another of these argued that if a rept. ting requirement is necessary, it should be accomplished by using the existing EEO-1 rather than a separate report, should be collected by the manufacture of the identification and both employer visual identification and amployee self-identification, and should be used to monitor the impact of the ADA and to document utilization of persons with disabilities, not for affirmative action purposes The Commission is continuing its consideration of possible reporting requirements under the ADA and a confer with the Department of Labor. and any other affected federal agency. to discuss whether a reporting requirement would be appropriate under

159



the ADA. If it concludes that a reporting requirement may be appropriate, it will issue an NPRM.

The Commission received over 20 comments in response to the February 13, 1989 NPRM. While this presmble does not address each individual comment, it addresses the most significant issues reised in the comments. Current § 1602.7 concerns the fling of Standard Form 108, and has been interpreted in conjunction with the instructions accompanying the form in order to clarify which of the esuployers that are subject to title VII must fit the report, the Commission has incorporated acuse of the information that is contained in the instructions into § 1602.7

Current § 1602.14 provides that personnel or employment records made or kept by an employer shall be preserved by the employer for a period of six months from the date of the on six manning from the time of the personnel action involved, whichever is later. This requirement was promulgated before title VII was amended in 1972 to change the time limit for filing a charge from 90 days to 180 days for, in some instances, to 300 days). Requiring an employer or abor organization to maintain records for six months when the charge filing itmit was 90 days ensured that all applicable records were kept. Due to the lengthening of the filing peri however, it no langer is true that employers or labor organizations arily will have retained records until the title VII filing period expires. Under the current regulation, an employer or labor organization may have already lawfully destroyed its employment records before it is notified that a charge has been filed. Moreover, a one year retention period for employers and labor organizations subject to title VII and the ADA will make the records retention period the same as that required by the Commission's regulations under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act. 28 U S.C. 621 et seq. (ADFA). 29 CFR 1627.3(b)[1] and 1627.4(a)[1] This uniform retention period will simplify and clarify recordkeeping for employers who are also subject to the ADEA. in order to promote efficiency and to

in arder to promote efficiency and to eliminate confusion as to recordiseping requirements regarding temporary and seasonal employees, the Commission is deleting \$ 1802.14(b) which provides that the part 1802 recordiseping requirements do not apply to temporary or seasonal positions. Similarly, the Commission is deleting \$\$ 1827.34(b)(3) and 1827.44(32) of the AJEA recordiseping regulations, which

provide for a 90 day records retention period for temporary positions, and is clarifying the mandatory nature of such recordscepting. These changes will require employers to retain records on all camployees, permanent and temporary, for a one year period. They will, however, impose a new recordscepting requirement only on the relatively few employers who are not subject to the recordscepting provisions of the ADEA.

Section 700(c) of title VII, 42 U S.C. 2000e-6(c), provides, inter alia, that any person who fails to maintain information as required by that subsection and by Commission regulations may, upon application of the Commission or the Attorney General in e case kivolving a governa governmental agency or political sulcivision, be ordered to comply by the appropriate United States district con At present, Commission regulations do not explicitly provide that the Commission may conduct an investigation when it has reason to believe an employer or other entity subject to title VII has falled to con with the recordkeeping requireme part 1802, as when, for example, an employer does not provide the required recordingping information to the Commission. The Commission is adding § 1902.56 to give close notice of its authority to enforce section 709(c) of title VII. The addition of this section is consistent with the Commission's authority to issue suitable procedural regulations to carry out the provisions of title VII, 42 U.S.C. 2000e-12(s), and is an appropriate procedural mechanism for investigating apparent violations of those provisions

The revisions to § 1602.7 change the annual Standard Form 100 reporting date from March 31 to September 30. By changing the reporting date the sion also is changing the dates for which the information should be reported, i.e., from the three months preceding March 31, to the three months preceding September 30. Any employer that has received per meston to use a different period for reporting may continue to use that approved period. The Commission has determined that this change will result in a reporting date that is less affected by the variation in seasonal employment, such as employment in the construction industry, than the present date and will provide employment figures which reflect annual average employment more closely than the present date does This change will not affect the date by which employers must report VETS information to the United States

Department of Labor, as the VETS data and the Standard Form 100 data are processed separately. The revisions also change the address for obtaining necessary reporting supplies from "jeffersonville, Indiana" to "the Commission or its delegate."

The revision to § 1802.10 deletes the reference to "section 4(c) of the instructiors" and substitutes "section 5 of the instructions." The reference to the 100 employee jurisdictional test of section 701(b) of title VII is deleted since the number of employees required for an employer to be subject to title VII now is 15 or more. This change in no way affects the present Standard Form 100 reporting requirement of 100 or more employees that is set out in the instructions ecosmpanying the form and now is made explicit in the regulation.

in order to provide a mechanism for those subject to the reporting requirements to seek a change in the reporting date or the date by which data should be reported. The Commission has revised \$\beta\$ field. 10 to permit employers to seek changes in those requirements. The Commission notes that retention of the records for the period of one year will increase only minimally. If at all, the employer's cost of mentioning the records. Employers almedy are required to maintain the records for a period of as months. The cost of restaining the records for an additional six months will be minimal. Moreover, most employers subject to Title VII slas one subject to the ADEA, which presently requires that these records be retained for a period of one year.

The Commission estimates that the changes to §§ 1802.14 and 1602.29(s) increasing the title VII records retention period from six months to one year will result in an increased recordkeeping burden on employers of approximately 8,000 burden hours annually. The Commission estimates that the changes in the title VII and ADEA recordsecure requirements for employers with temporary employees will result in an increased recordkeeping burden of approximately 20,800 burden hours annually. The Commission believes that this increase in burden hours is de finance and that the modifications will not have a significant impact on a substantial number of small employers Further, the Commission believes that the above cited benefits of the modifications, by establishing a uniform period of recordkeeping for full time and part time employees under title VII. ADA and the ADEA, outweigh the minimal increase in recordkeeping burden hours on employers. For the above reasons, the regulatory change



L

will simplify the recordkeeping requirements. The Commission also certifies under 5 U S C 805(b), enacted by the Regulatory Flexibility Act (Pab L No. 98–354), that these modifications will not result in a significant economic impact on a substantial number of small anxiployers and that a regulatory flexibility analysis therefore is not required.

List of Subjects in 29 CFR Parts 1662 and

Equal employment opportunity. Reporting and recordkeeping requirements.

For the Commission
Even J. Kemp, k.,
Chairman

Accordingly, 29 CFR parts 1602 and 1627 are amended as follows.

PART 1602- AMENDED!

 The heading for part 1602 is revised to read as follows:

PART 1882-RECORDKEEPING AND REPORTING REQUIREMENTS UNDER TITLE VII AND THE ADA

- TITLE VII AND THE ADA

 2. The authority dilation for part 1802
- Authority: 42 U.S.C. 2000e-8, 2000e-12, 44 U.S.C. 3801 et seq., 42 U.S.C. 17317
- 3. Section 1602.1 is revised to read as follows:

§ 1862.1 Purpose and ecops

is revised to read as follows:

Section 708 of title VII (42 U.S.C. 2000s) and section 107 of the Americans with Disabilities /act (AI)A) (42 U.S.C. 12117) require the Commission to establish regulations pursuant to which employers, labor organizations. North labor-management committees, and employment agencies subject to those Acts shall make and preserve certain records and shall furnish specified information to aid in the administration and enforcement of the Acts.

4. The heading for Subpart A is revised to read as follows:

Subpart A-General

§ 1602.1 (Assembled)

 Section 1802.1 is moved under subpart A.

65 1522.2-1602.5 [Removed]

6 Sections 1602.2-1802 ft are removed and reserved.

§ 1689.7 (Amended)

7 Section 1602 7 is amended by revising the first and last sentences to read as follows:

§ 1602 7 Requirement for filling of report.

On or before September 30 of each year every employer that is subject to tritle VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1984, as amended, and that has 100 or more employees, shall file with the Commission or its delegate executed copies of Standard Form 100, as revised (otherwise known as "Employer Information Report EEQ-1") in conformity with the directions set forth in the form and accompanying instructions." Appropriate copies of Standard Form 100 in blank will be supplied to every employer known to the Commission to be subject to the reporting requirements, but it is the responsibility of all such employers to obtain necessery supplies of the form from the Commission or its delegate prior to the filing date.

8 Section 1802.10 is ravised to read as follows

§ 1802.10 Employer's exemption from reporting requirements.

If an employer claims that the preparation or filing of the report would create under hardship, the employer may apply to the Commission for an exemption from the requirements set forth in this part, according to instruction 5. If an employer is engaged in activities for which the reporting unit criteria described in section 5 of the instructions are not readily adaptable, special reporting procedures may be required. If an employer seeks to change the date for filing its Standard Form 100 or seeks to change the period for which data are reported an alternative reporting date or period may be primitted. In such instances, the employer should so advise the Commission or its delegate a specific written proposal for an alternative reporting system prior to the date on which the report is due.

§ 1802.11 (Amended)

- 9 Section 1602 11 is amended as follows
- a In the first sentence after purposes of title VII insert for the ADA"
- b in the second settence, after "section 708(c) of title Vil' insert "or section 107 of the ADA"

§ 1802.12 | Amended)

- 10 Section 1602.12 is amended as follows
- a In the first sentence, after "purposes of Title VII" insert "or the ADA"
- b. In the second sentence, after 'section 709(c)' insert "of Title VII. or section 107 of the ADA"

c. By revising the parenthetroal at the end of the section to read as follows (Approved by the Office of Management and Budget under control number 2000–2040)

§ 1602.14 (Amended)

- 11. Section 1807.14(a) is amended as follows:
- a. By removing the words "B months" wherever they appear and replacing them with the words "one year"
- b. In the first sentence, after "not necessarily limited to" insert "requests for reasonable accommodation."
- c. In the third sentence, after "under title VII" insert "or the ADA"
- d. By revising the parenthetical at the and of the section to read as follows

(Approved by the Office of Management and Budget under control number 2040-0040)

§ 1802.14 (Amended)

12. Section 1802-14 is amended by removing paragraph (b), by removing the designation from paragraph (a), and by revising the parenthetical at the end of the section to read as follows:

(Approved by the Office of Management and Budget under control number 2006-2040)

5 1802.19 | Amended |

- 13. Section 1802.19 is amended as follows:
- a. In the first sentence, after "purpose of Title VII" insert "or the ADA".
- b In the second sentence, after "section 708(c) of title VII" insert "or section 107 of the ADA"

§ 1602.21 [Amended]

- 14. Section 1602.21(b) is amended as follows.
- a. in the first sentence, after "not necessarily limited to" insert "requests for reasonable accommodation"
- b In the second sentence, after 'under Title VII' insert 'or the ADA''

§ 1002.26 [Amended]

- 15. Section 1802 28 is amended as follows
- a. In the first sentence, after "purposes of Title VII" insect or the ADA"
- b In t' nd sentence, after "section /we/u" insert "of Title VII or section 107 of the ADA"

§ 1609.28 (Amended)

- 16. Section 1802 28(a) is amended as follows.
- a. By removing the words "6 months' wherever they appear and replacing them with the words "one year."
- b. in the third sentance, after "under title VII" insert "or the ADA"
- c. By revising the parenthetical at the end of the section to read as follows



٠,

(Approved by the Office of Management and Budget under control number 3046-0040)

[bebrench] (L2081)

- 17 Section 1602 31 is amended as follows
- a By removing paragraph (b) and the designation from paragraph (a)
- b in the first seatence, after 'not necessarily limited to' insert 'requests for masonable accommodation."
- c. In the third sentence, after 'under title VII' user! "or the ADA".
- d By revising the parenthetical at the end of the section to read as follows: [Approved by the Office of Management and Budget under control number 2009-2000]

[1602.57 [Amended]

- 16. Section 1802 37 is amended as follows
- a In the first sentence, after 'purposes of title VII' insert 'or the ADA''
- h In the second sentence, after "section 708(cl of title VII" insert "or section 107 of the ADA".

§ 1802.40 | Amended!

- 19. Section 1802 40 is amended as follows:
- a By removing paragraph (b) and the designation from paragraph [a]
- b. In the first sentence, after "not necessarily limited to" insert "requests for reasonable accummodation."
- c. By revising the parenthetical at the end of the section to read as follows. (Approved by the Office of Management and Budget under control number 2008-2000)

§ 1602.45 | Amended]

20. Section 1602 45 is amended as follows

- a. In the first sentence, after "purposes of title VII" insert "or the ADA"
- b. In the second sentence, after "section 70%c) of title VII" insert "or section 107 of the ADA"

1502.49 (Amended)

- 21 Section 1902.49 is amended as follows:
- a By removing paragraph (b) and redesignating paragraph (c) as new paragraph (b).
- b. In the first sontence of paragraph (a), after "not necessarily limited to" insort "requests for reasonable accommodation,".
- c. By revising the parentherical at the end of the section to read as follows: (Approved by the Office of Management and Budget under control number 3866-3860)

§ 1602.54 [Amended]

- 22. Section 1802.54 is amended as follows
- a. In the first sentence, after "purposes of title VII" insert "or the ADA".
- b In the second sentence, after "section 709(c) of title VII" insert "or section 107 of the ADA"
- "section 107 of the ADA"
 section 107 of the ADA"
 23. A new subpart R consisting of
 § 1802,56 is added, to read as follows

Subpart R—investigation of Reporting or Recordiseping Violations

§ 1602.56 Investigation of reporting or recordiscepting violations.

When it has received an allegation, or has reason to believe, that a person has not complied with the reporting or recordiscepting requirements of this Part or of Part 1807 of this chapter, the Commission may conduct an

investigation of the alleged failure to comply

Part 1627--- Amended

- 24. The authority citation for 28 CFR part 1627 continues to read as follows
- Asshority: Sec. 7, 81 Stat. 804, 20 U.S.C. 628, sec. 11, 52 Stat. 1088, 20 U.S.C. 211, sec. 12, 29 U.S.C. 851, Pub. L. No. 89-882, 100 Stat. 300, sec. 2, Reinig Plan No. 1 of 1978, 43 FR. 19807

§ 1627.3 (Amended

- 25 in § 1827 3, puregraph (b)(3) is removed and paragraph (b)(4) is redesignated as new paragraph (b)(3)
- 28. Newly designated § 1627.3(b)(3) is amended by removing the word "may" and replacing it with the word "shall" and by revising the words "paragraph (b) (1), (2), or (3)" to read "paragraph (b) (1) or (2)"

§ 1627 4 [Amended]

- 27 fr. § 1627 4, paragraph (a)(2) is removed and paragraph (a)(3) is redesignated as new paragraph (a)(2).
- 28. Newly designated § 1627 4(a)(2) is amended by removing the word "may" and replacing it with the word "shall" and by revising the words "parsgraph (a)(1) or (2)" to read "parsgraph (a)(1).

5 1627.5 [Amended]

29 Section 1627 5(r) is amended by removing the word "may" and replacing it with the word "shail"

[FR Doc. 91-1"513 Filed 7-25-91 8 45 am]





FACTS ABOUT THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT

Title I of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, which takes effect July 26, 1992, prohibits private employers, state and local governments, employment agencies and labor unions from discriminating against qualified individuals with disabilities in job application procedures, hiring, firing, advancement, compensation, job training, and other terms, conditions and privileges of employment. An individual with a disability is a person who:

 Has a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more major life activities;

Has a record of such an impairment; or

Is regarded as having such an impairment.

A qualified employee or applicant with a disability is an individual who, with or without reasonable accommodation, can perform the essential functions of the job in question. Reasonable accommodation may include, but is not limited to:

 Making existing facilities used by employees readily accessible to and usable by persons with disabilities;

 Job restructuring, modifying work schedules, reassignment to a vacant position;

 Acquiring or modifying equipment or devices, adjusting or modifying examinations, training materials, or policies, and providing qualified readers or interpreters.

An employer is required to make an accommodation to the known disability of a qualified applicant or employee if it would not impose an "undue hardship" on the operation of the employer's business. Undue hardship is defined as an action requiring significant difficulty or expense when considered in light of factors such as an employer's size, financial resources and the nature and structure of its operation.

An employer is not required to lower quality or production standards to make an accommodation, nor is an employer obligated to provide personal use items such as glasses or hearing aids.



PRE-EMPLOYMENT INQUIRIES AND MEDICAL EXAMINATIONS

Employers may not ask job applicants about the existence, nature or severity of a disability. Applicants may be asked about their ability to perform specific job functions. A job offer may be conditioned on the results of a medical examination, but only if the examination is required for all entering employees in similar jobs. Medical examinations of employees must be job related and consistent with the employer's business needs.

DRUG AND ALCOHOL ABUSE

Employees and applicants currently engaging in the illegal use of drugs are not covered by the ADA, when an employer acts on the basis of such use. Tests for illegal drugs are not subject to the ADA's restrictions on medical examinations. Employers may hold illegal drug users and alcoholics to the same performance standards as other employees.

EEOC ENFORCEMENT OF THE ADA

The U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission will issue regulations to enforce the provisions of Title I of the ADA on or before July 26, 1991. The provisions take effect on July 26, 1992, and will cover employers with 25 or more employees. On July 26, 1994, employers with 15 or more employees will be covered.

FILING A CHARGE

Charges of employment discrimination on the basis of disability, based on actions occurring on or after July 26, 1992, may be filed at any field office of the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission. Field offices are located in 50 cities inroughout the United States and are listed in most telephone directories under U.S. Government. Information on all EEOC-enforced laws may be obtained by calling toll free on 800-USA-EEOC. EEOC's toll free TDD number is 800-800-3302. For TDD calls from the Washington, D.C. Metropolitan Area, dial (202) 663-4494.

This fact sheet is available in the following formats: Print, Braille, large print, audiotene and electronic file on computer disk. For further information call the Office of Equal Employment Opportunity on (202) 663-4395 (voice), (202) 663-4399 (TDD) or FTS 989-4395 (voice), 989-4399 (TDD).

December 1990

EEOC-FS/E-5



